
 

 

Please ask for Democratic Services: Telephone 01775 764693  

e-mail: demservices@sholland.gov.uk 

 

AGENDA 
 
 
 

 
 

Committee - POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL 
 
Date & Time - Tuesday, 12 July 2022 at 6.30 pm 
 

Venue - Meeting Room 1, Council Offices, Priory Road, 
Spalding 

 
 

Membership of the Policy Development Panel: 
 
Councillors: J Avery, A C Beal, F Biggadike, H J W Bingham, M D Booth, H Drury, 
R A Gibson, M Hasan, J D McLean, P A Redgate, J L Reynolds, G T D Rudkin, 
G P Scalese (Vice-Chairman), S-A Slade, S C Walsh and A R Woolf (Chairman) 
 
Substitute members on the Policy Development Panel may be appointed only from 
members who are not on the Cabinet.  Substitutions apply for individual meetings. 
 
Quorum: 6 
 

 

 If you would like to attend this meeting as a 
member of the public, please contact 

Democratic Services via email at 
demservices@sholland.gov.uk or via 

telephone on 01775 764693. 

Persons attending the meeting are 
requested to turn mobile telephones to silent 

mode 

 
 
Democratic Services 
Council Offices, Priory Road 
Spalding, Lincs PE11 2XE 
 
Date:   4 July 2022 
 

mailto:demservices@sholland.gov.uk


A G E N D A 
 
1.  Apologies for absence.  

 
 

2.  Minutes -  
To sign as a correct record the minutes of the following meetings: 
 

 

a)   Joint Performance Monitoring Panel and Policy Development 
Panel -  
4 May 2022 (copy enclosed). 
 

(Pages 
5 - 16) 

b)   Policy Development Panel -  
24 May 2022 (copy enclosed). 
 

(Pages 
17 - 24) 

3.  Actions -  
An update on actions which arose at the 24 May 2022 Policy 
Development Panel meeting (enclosed). 
 

(Pages 
25 - 26) 

4.  Declaration of Interests. -  
Where a Councillor has a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest the Councillor 
must declare the interest to the meeting and leave the room without 
participating in any discussion or making a statement on the item, 
except where a councillor is permitted to remain as a result of a grant of 
dispensation. 
 

 

5.  Questions asked under Standing Order 6  
 

 

6.  Tracking of recommendations -  
To consider responses of the Cabinet reports of the Panel.   
 

 

7.  Items referred from the Performance Monitoring Panel  
 

 

8.  Key Decision Plan -  
To note the current Key Decision Plan (copy enclosed).   
 

(Pages 
27 - 34) 

9.  SHDC Policy Register and the S&ELCP Policy Register -  
To note the SHDC Policy Register and the S&ELCP Policy Register 
(enclosed). 
 

(Pages 
35 - 38) 

10.  Review of HR Policies (Batch 2) -  
To seek Policy Development Panel’s views on the proposed HR Policies 
(Batch 2) prior to a report to Council (report of the Assistant Director – 
Corporate enclosed).  
 

(Pages 
39 - 
118) 

11.  Debt Management Policy -  
To consider the Debt Management Policy (report of the Assistant 
Director – Finance enclosed). 
 

(Pages 
119 - 
134) 

12.  Sustainable Products Policy -  
To recommend adoption of the Sustainable Products Policy (report of 
the Climate Change and Environment Officer enclosed). 
 

(Pages 
135 - 
150) 



13.  SHDC Draft Derelict and Untidy Sites Policy -  
To consider the Draft South Holland District Council Derelict and Untidy 
Sites Policy (report of the Assistant Director – Strategic Projects 
enclosed). 
 

(Pages 
151 - 
182) 

14.  Policy Development Panel Work Programme -  
To set out the Work Programme of the Policy Development Panel 
(report of the Interim Assistant Director - Governance enclosed). 
 

(Pages 
183 - 
192) 

15.  Any other items which the Chairman decides are urgent. -  
 
 
NOTE: No other business is permitted unless by reason of special 

circumstances, which shall be specified in the minutes, the 
Chairman is of the opinion that the item(s) should be 
considered as a matter of urgency.   

 

 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



- 23 - 
 

Minutes of a meeting of the JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANEL AND 
POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL held in the Council Chamber, Council Offices, 
Priory Road, Spalding, on Wednesday, 4 May 2022 at 6.30 pm. 
 

PRESENT 

  
B Alcock (Chairman) 

 

 

A C Beal 
F Biggadike 
H J W Bingham 
M D Booth 
C J T H Brewis 
T A Carter 
 

R A Gibson 
M Hasan 
J L King 
J D McLean 
A M Newton 
N H Pepper 
P A Redgate 
 

J L Reynolds 
G T D Rudkin 
G P Scalese 
A C Tennant 
J Tyrrell 
S C Walsh 
A R Woolf 
 

Apologies for absence were received from or on behalf of Councillors J Avery, 
A C Cronin, S-A Slade and D J Wilkinson.  
 
In Attendance:  The Assistant Director – Leisure and Culture, the Head of Delivery, 
the Democratic Services Manager and the Democratic Services Team Leader. 
 
 
 Action By 

13. ELECTION OF CHAIRMAN   

  

 Councillor B Alcock was elected as Chairman for the duration of 
the meeting. 

 

   

14. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE   

  

 The Panel was advised of the following substitution for this 
meeting only: 
 

• Councillor A M Newton was replacing Councillor A C Cronin 

 

   

15. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS   

  

 There were none.  

   

16. SOUTH HOLLAND CENTRE TASK GROUP FINAL REPORT   

  

 Consideration was given to the report of the South Holland Centre 
Task Group, which presented its Final Report to the Joint 
Performance Monitoring Panel and Policy Development Panel for 
consideration.   
  
The Chairman of the Task Group, Councillor B Alcock introduced 
the report – he thanked all members of the Task Group, officers 
that had supported the process and all those individuals who had 

 

Page 5

Agenda Item 2.a)



- 24 - 
 
JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
PANEL AND POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
PANEL - 4 May 2022 

 

 

given evidence. 
 
Members considered the report and the following issues were 
raised: 
 

• It was noted that an external consultant had been appointed to 
oversee the re-opening of the Centre – was the consultant still 
in post? 

o It was confirmed that this had been a temporary 
appointment until a manager was in place.  The 
external consultant was no longer employed as a 
manager was now in place. 

 

• The term ‘caterers’ had been used throughout the report 
however, it was not felt that this was an appropriate term to 
apply to the situation that had been in place until recently.  ‘In-
house’ or ‘on-site restaurant’ should be used instead, to clearly 
reflect the situation as it was. 

 

• Paragraph 6.14 within the report stated ‘The Task Group 
found difficulty in understanding the management structure 
and identifying where the overall responsibility actually 
resided.  As the authority had been trying to minimise the 
financial support, it is surprising that the governance and 
scrutiny arrangements have been felt to be satisfactory for so 
long’ – it was felt that this paragraph summed up much of what 
the current issues were. 

o The Chairman of the Task Group responded that the 
statement within the final report, that operating the 
Centre should be undertaken more akin to running a 
business than operating a service, summed up what 
the Authority needed to consider.  A subtle, rather 
than a dramatic change was required to change the 
emphasis going forward. 

 

• Running the Centre as a business seemed a good idea 
however, it seemed that the direction of travel had been 
established prior to the formation of the Task Group. 

o The Chairman of the Task Group confirmed that this 
was not the Task Group’s recommendation 
currently, as the Authority had already considered 
the future and made radical changes, especially with 
regard to the number of employees at the Centre.  
The decision had been to try and run the venue in a 
similar way as before, but with lower overheads.  If 
Cabinet decided that the alternative option should 
be examined, this would require another piece of 

Page 6



- 25 - 
 
JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
PANEL AND POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
PANEL - 4 May 2022 

 

 

work.  

• Members responded, asking what the timeframe for this would 
be.  Would it be worth including this within the report? 

o The Chairman commented that there were some 
timelines in the report where, for example, the Task 
Group had suggested that, for example, a three-
year business plan be produced within a certain 
period of time.  After this had been produced, there 
would be a monitoring exercise to track how this 
was being followed.  If it was not being followed, this 
could be the point at which reconsideration of the 
way forward could take effect. 

 

• Members commented that the Centre occupied a prominent 
location in the town.  As such, it would be an ideal place for a 
proper information centre. 

o The Task Group Chairman agreed with this 
comment and stated that this had been included 
within the report as an aspect to be developed.  It 
was clarified that this was included at 
recommendation 2d. 

 

• Some members were disappointed by the length of the 
recommendations within the final report – it was felt that many 
of them related to monitoring and that there was a lack of 
more robust recommendations.  For example, in view of the 
task ahead, the report should state that an experienced arts 
centre manager was required. 

o Officers and the Task Group Chairman responded 
that there had been a manager in place for some 
months, who had come to the role highly 
recommended.  The Chairman also stated that the 
Task Group did not underestimate the size of the 
task ahead of the new manager. 

• Members responded that there were certain recommendations 
which could be ‘quick wins’, such as improvement of the social 
media platform. 

o Task Group members agreed that there were a 
large number of recommendations however, there 
was much for the Cabinet to consider and it was 
hoped that the recommendations would be agreed. 

 

• Members thanked the Task Group for producing the report 
within the time that it had.  It was important that there was 
regular monitoring to ensure that the situation improved – the 
Centre could not continue losing money for the Authority. 

 

Page 7



- 26 - 
 
JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
PANEL AND POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
PANEL - 4 May 2022 

 

 

• Members felt that this was an honest report and the following 
points were made - 1) Paragraph 6.3 of the Final Report 
suggested the use of bolder colours and uplifting the front 
elevation of the building – any colour change should not be too 
bold; 2) Paragraph 6.5 of the report stated that virtually all 
those interviewed appeared enthusiastic to see the South 
Holland Centre continue to provide a broad service to the 
community - what did the others think? 3)  Paragraph 6.9 of 
the report stated that the lighting and projection equipment in 
the auditorium could need replacing at some point – what was 
the cost of replacement; 4) One of the areas of concern picked 
up by the report was regarding repairs to the building’s 
basement – it was stated that the two meeting rooms were 
basically out of use and used as stores for outside 
organisations – was a charge being made for this storage 
facility; 5) Were mixed messages being sent out – staffing had 
been substantially reduced however, paragraph 6.26 
suggested that extra staff were required to provide a fuller 
service; and 6) It was agreed that the Authority should not be 
subsidising the Centre as much as it had been, it needed to be 
efficient and marketing had to improve.  However, one of the 
individuals interviewed had stated that money was not the only 
consideration, and this was an important point. 

o The Task Group Chairman responded that the 
Authority had to decide how much public money it 
would be prepared to use in order to continue with 
the provision of the arts.  Currently, the main driver 
had been that the subsidy should be minimised. 

• Members agreed that the Authority needed to make a decision 
on the direction it wished to take. 

 

• Members commented that advertising and marketing, 
particularly on the website, had been identified as an area for 
improvement.  However, although there was still some way to 
go, it was pleasing to see that some areas of concern had 
already been picked up and were improving, even though this 
was not reflected with the report.    

o The Task Group Chairman acknowledged that the 
report reflected a particular moment in time and that 
progress would naturally be made – it was a fair 
point to acknowledge the changes that had already 
been effected to date.   

 

• It was noted that within the Task Group’s Conclusion at 
section 7 of the final report, it was stated that ‘….other delivery 
options could be used; a charitable organisation with trustees 
responsible for delivery, or a commercial organisation’.  Had 

Page 8



- 27 - 
 
JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
PANEL AND POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
PANEL - 4 May 2022 

 

 

the Task Group pursued these options in any detail as part of 
its work? 

o The Task Group Chairman confirmed that these 
options had not been pursued as the Authority’s 
present direction of travel had been established 
before the Task Group had been set up.  If 
alternative vehicles for the running of the Centre 
were to be considered, the Task Group would need 
to undertake additional work in this regard.   

 

• Members commented that the Centre had been built on the 
old foundations of the previous building and as a result, the 
Authority would always need to spend money rectifying any 
issues.  It was also stated that the venue should not be 
operated purely for profit. 

 

• It was stated that the work of the Task Group had started in 
September 2021, just as Covid restrictions began to be lifted.  
The Centre was adjusting to the new staffing structure, and 
elements of some of the suggestions put forward were being 
addressed already.  There were many recommendations, but 
these related more to process and scrutiny and what was 
wanted from the Centre.  It was clear that the Centre was an 
important asset to South Holland and that people needed to 
use it, be entertained there and for there to be a good 
customer experience.  If the Centre was to continue running 
with a reasonable level of subsidy, it was important to ensure 
that residents continued to use the facility. 

 

• Members commented that the Centre was an important 
building in a central location, and it needed to be cost efficient, 
although it was felt that it would not be profitable for some 
time.  The Task Group had identified that the recent changes 
to operations had been too severe, potentially resulting in the 
building not being able to be used properly.  There had been 
complaints that customers could not access the building to 
book events (in person or by telephone), and not all users 
wished to book online.  Opening hours were not clearly 
advertised.  The new Centre Manager was keen to make the 
venue succeed and had already made some positive changes, 
but there was still much to do. It was important to get the 
public back into the building by having shows/screenings that 
the public wanted to see, and also to make it easier to hire the 
facility. 

o Officers advised that there was signage on the door 
of the venue advising of opening hours, and these 
were also on the website. 

Page 9



- 28 - 
 
JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
PANEL AND POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
PANEL - 4 May 2022 

 

 

• The Task Group Chairman responded that the 
recommendations were a set of signposts – they were not 
necessarily specific, but the recommendations and ideas 
should point to a direction of travel for the way forward.  Better 
promotion of larger events, particularly in the Function Hall 
space had to be considered, in addition to future caterers 
considering a more entrepreneurial way of using the space. 

 

• The building was an asset for the community – there would 
always be a necessary level of subsidy but it was important 
that the venue was run in the future in a way that kept this as 
low as possible.  There appeared to have been a lack of 
leadership, governance and monitoring, or how to get the best 
out of the building.   

 

• The staffing changes to the Centre had been made prior to the 
Task Group being set up.  Did the Task Group feel that 
enough drive and enthusiasm had been allowed to make the 
venue successful? 

o The Task Group Chairman commented that the 
Task Group had felt that a sharper focus was 
required. 

 

• Some members did not support the suggested ticket price 
increase (recommendation 1c within the report).  There could 
be other means of ensuring profitability without doing this. 

o The Task Group Chairman responded that there 
was a need to be realistic, in light of the fact that 
external forces such as the increased cost of energy 
could mean that prices may have to rise.  The cost 
of events was competitively priced against similar 
venues.  In addition, with a modest increase in 
attendance, there could be a dramatic effect on the 
bottom line, and promotion and use of social media 
in this regard was important in achieving this. 

 

• It was noted that Colin Ward (Live Promotions) had been 
interviewed by the Task Group – he had many years of 
experience in entertainment. Was there a summary of his 
views, and did he think that the venue could be successful? 

o The Task Group Chairman advised that his 
observations had been woven into the report, that 
he totally supported the venue and that he was 
willing and anxious to ensure that the Centre was 
successful.  His expertise was available if 
requested.  He felt that the Centre could be 
successful, either in its present model, or by way of 

Page 10



- 29 - 
 
JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
PANEL AND POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
PANEL - 4 May 2022 

 

 

another operational model.  
 

• Appendix D to the report listed some indicative South Holland 
Centre performance metrics to be considered by future 
committees.  It was suggested that tracking of mailing lists, 
and how these contributed to performance be included on the 
list. 

o It was agreed that this addition should be taken 
forward. 

 

• The Assistant Director, Leisure and Culture stated that 
following agreement by members of the recommendations 
within the report to Council in July 2021 to reduce staff 
numbers, progress had been made at the Centre.  The Centre 
now operated differently to how it had done previously, the 
public were returning to the venue and progress was being 
made.  Officers had taken away the comments from the Task 
Group report and would report back quarterly on the 
performance of the Centre.  The industry as a whole was 
recovering following the Covid pandemic and it was hoped that 
public confidence would also increase.  It was important to 
review some elements, such as provision of Tourist 
Information, marketing and provision of access.  He hoped 
that now the new manager and team were in place, that 
members would see that the Centre would be undertaking 
more work in the way of promotion.  With regard to financial 
planning, work was being undertaken for the next round of 
Arts Council funding, and in respect of the budget, the outturn 
for the current financial year showed substantial savings.  
Finally, it was reported that the Assets Team were currently 
addressing the situation regarding catering provision. 

 

• The Task Group’s Lead Officer thanked all members of the 
Task Group for their contribution and support to the Group.  

 
AGREED: 
 
1) That, as detailed within the Task Group Final Report, the 

recommendations detailed at (2) below be submitted to 
Cabinet, with the following amendments/additions: 

 

• That in reference to the outgoing caterer, an alternative 
reference (other than caterer) be used; and 

• That an additional performance metric be added to the list 
detailed at Appendix D to the report, to monitor mailing lists 
and how these contributed to performance; 

 

Page 11



- 30 - 
 
JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
PANEL AND POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
PANEL - 4 May 2022 

 

 

2) Recommendations to Cabinet: 
 

Recommendation 1: Improve Commercial Activities and 

Opportunities  

a. Create a fully costed three-year business plan to achieve the 

Council’s objective of progressively reducing the financial 

support. The plan to have been fully scrutinised and in 

operation by 31st October 2022 with follow up scrutiny, initially 

quarterly and subsequently half yearly. 

b. In creating the business plan establish a years’ rolling 

programme for all areas of the centre to support that objective, 

by 31st October 2022 but the sooner the better.   

c. Review ticket prices taking into consideration comparison and 

opinions from internal and external sources by 31st July 2022 

d. Review the other hire costs and establish if there is any room 

for increase, bearing in mind the rise in cost of utilities. Also 

examine whether a better return could be obtained by the 

authority by moving to a percentage return, in some instances, 

instead of purely hiring space. By 31st August 2022. 

e. Substantially increase the added sales in the auditorium. Work 

with the on-site caterers to generate more income. Jointly be 

more aggressive in making available and marketing meals 

before and after performances, benefitting from a percentage 

of the take. Demonstrate achievement by 31st 0ctober 2022. 

f. Within all marketing turn availability of parking into a positive. 

Look to scope a system of refunding of car park charges if 

centre used on the same day for film / live promotion. (By 31st 

July 2022)  

g. Enable better and wider use to be made of the Foyer to 

encourage more use of the building including opening at more 

convenient opening times and more days for the general 

public’s convenience. Display opening times, telephone 

numbers and online options for booking, to be visible outside 

the building. 

h. Broaden the use of building to bring more people into the 

centre (Tourism, District wide functions for example) for the 

benefit of the centre and caterers alike. 

i. Seek to team up with a Wedding Organiser to promote the 

joint venues for ceremony and reception. 

j. Investigate ways to achieve the wider use of the Function 

Room and report by 31st October 2022. 

k. Liaising with local organisations to put on some performances 

that will draw maximum attendance. (For example, events that 

include youngsters where parents and grandparents will be 

keen to attend)    

Page 12



- 31 - 
 
JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
PANEL AND POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
PANEL - 4 May 2022 

 

 

 

Recommendation 2: Improve Marketing / Promotion and 

Programming  

a. Undertake a complete review of all promotion, advertising, 

marketing, management of database and website, for the 

whole facility, together with a program to keep regularly 

refreshed and submit to the appropriate panel or committee by 

31st July. (The website needs to be attractive, easy to use, 

kept up to date with a forward program of films, shows, events 

and facilities available for at least a rolling year. Greater use of 

social media and any other appropriate medium should be 

regularly used. The database should be re-established and 

regularly used to inform. ‘Membership’ should be created 

giving early notification of future activities with incentives to 

encourage early commitment. Films or shows with slow 

bookings to be more aggressively marketed with late offers 

where appropriate.) 

b. In conjunction with (a.) above, create a promotional and 

marketing campaign, for the whole of the facilities available at 

SHC to the public and businesses alike, as soon as possible 

but by 30th September. Raise the whole of the public’s 

perception, image and profile of the Centre. 

c. Enhance the marketing material for the Function Room to 

include images of it in use. 

d. Improve the building’s noticeability within the town centre and 

enhance its presence creating an information and promotional 

centre for the building activities, the town, the parishes and 

district as a whole.  

 

Recommendation 3: Undertake Operational Improvements  

a. Become more effective in obtaining a better deal for films. Get 

films near the release date and make more use of previous 

adult and children’s blockbusters to plug gaps in the program. 

Include consideration for section of the general public with 

higher disposable incomes by ensuring films are shown at 

times convenient to them with possibly different films shown in 

afternoon to those in the evening. 

b. Make use of external expertise, where appropriate, to obtain 

better deals on films and live performances which have 

greater appeal. 

c. In evolving delivery of the cultural and arts program, part of 

which is to comply with Arts Council expectations but unlikely 

to make a surplus, seek to work around high demand times for 

films/shows. To help sustain the program of cultural and arts 

actively seek to establish sponsorship from businesses as well 

Page 13



- 32 - 
 
JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
PANEL AND POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
PANEL - 4 May 2022 

 

 

as individuals. The centre has benefitted from this approach 

before.  

d. Actively create a group of volunteers / supporters who are 

willing to give extra support when needed. However, hirers 

should be required to steward their own activities with any 

additional support chargeable.  

 
Recommendation 4: Establish Improved Governance 

a. Set up robust governance and scrutiny arrangements by 31st 

July 2022 and report to next meeting of the appropriate 

committee. (Appendix D) 

b. Create a much more user friendly and clear to understand 

financial reporting system to assist management day to day 

and have it agreed by 31st August 2022. This information 

needs to be available quickly and a more user-friendly 

management tool. 

c. Use analytical data capacity of the authority to better 

understand the likely return from the various program options 

and be prepared to take a commercial approach in the 

balance of the program.  

d. To give greater clarity review the management structure to 

ensure the necessary skills, particularly financial 

management, are available and the line of responsibility is as 

short as possible by, 31st August 2022. (To assist, include 

consideration of establishing ‘a Board of two councillors and 

one non councillor’) 

 

Recommendation 5: Enhance Building Maintenance and 

Useable Space 

a. Agree a 12-18 month rolling costed maintenance plan to 

ensure the building is brought up to and maintained to a 

higher standard to include dealing with the items highlighted in 

the report. (By 31st July 2022) 

b. Review and rationalise the office space that is essential. 

Improvement in the working environment to be a priority within 

the maintenance plan. Should there be surplus office space 

research how it can be offered to the market or made 

available for other income generating activities.  

c. Bring the basement rooms back into income generating use 

either through public use, office accommodation, storage or a 

more entrepreneurial solution. 

 

Recommendation 6: Action Plan 

Produce an Action Plan within two weeks of the of the report 
being accepted to ensure the recommendations are brought 

Page 14



- 33 - 
 
JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
PANEL AND POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
PANEL - 4 May 2022 

 

 

forward in a timely manner and to ensure there is clarity around 
which service areas are responsible for delivering each 
recommendation. The Action Plan to be submitted to a meeting of 
the Task Group and progress regularly monitored by the task 
group until the first presentation to PMP.    

   

17. ANY OTHER ITEMS WHICH THE CHAIRMAN DECIDES ARE 
 URGENT  

 

  

 There were none.  

   

18. EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 
 

DECISION: 
 
That, under section 100A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972, 
the public be excluded from the meeting for the following item of 
business on the grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of 
exempt information as defined in Paragraph 3 of part 1 of 
Schedule 12A of the Act. 

 

  

  

19. SOUTH HOLLAND CENTRE TASK GROUP FINAL REPORT - 
 APPENDICES B AND C  

 

  

 Members considered the budgetary information detailed within the 
exempt appendices attached to the report, and an explanation on 
local authority accountancy practices and how this impacted on 
the information provided was given. 

 

   

 
(The meeting ended at 7.53 pm) 
 
(End of minutes) 

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



- 1 - 
 

Minutes of a meeting of the POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL held in the Meeting 
Room 1, Council Offices, Priory Road, Spalding, on Tuesday, 24 May 2022 at 6.30 
pm. 
 

PRESENT 

  
A R Woolf (Chairman) 

G P Scalese (Vice-Chairman) 
 

 

J Avery 
A C Beal 
F Biggadike 
H J W Bingham 
 

M D Booth 
M Hasan 
J D McLean 
P A Redgate 
 

J L Reynolds 
S-A Slade 
S C Walsh 
 

In Attendance:  the Assistant Director – Corporate, the Organisational Development 
Service Manager, the Information Governance Officer, the Communities Manager, 
the Democratic Services Team Leader, the Democratic Services Officer and 
Councillor J Tyrrell. 
 
Apologies for absence were received from or on behalf of Councillors R A Gibson and 
G T D Rudkin; and the Senior Change and Performance Business Partner.  
 
 
 Action By 

1. MINUTES   

  

 Consideration was given to the minutes of the Policy 
Development Panel held on 23 March 2022. 
 
In respect of minute 52, ‘SHDC Policy Register and the S&ELC 
Partnership Policy Register’: 

• Clarification was requested regarding the wording of 
‘updating of the register owner where staff had left the 
organisation’. It was agreed that ‘register owner’ should be 
amended to ‘policy owner’. 

 

AGREED: 
 
Subject to the amendment noted above, that the minutes be 
signed as a correct record. 

 

   

a) Actions    

   

 The Chairman introduced the new ‘Actions’ standing item to the 
Panel which gave a formal record of officer responses to actions 
which arose from the previous meeting. 
 
The Democratic Services Officer added that email responses to 
member queries would also continue to be circulated to Panel 
members as soon as possible after the meeting. 

 

Page 17

Agenda Item 2.b)



- 2 - 
 
POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL - 24 May 
2022 

 

 

 
The Actions item was welcomed by the Panel and would come 
forward as a regular item. 
 
AGREED: 
 
That the Actions update be noted. 
 

   

2. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS.   

  

 There were none.  

   

3. QUESTIONS ASKED UNDER STANDING ORDER 6   

  

 There were none.  

   

4. TRACKING OF RECOMMENDATIONS   

  

 There were none.  

   

5. ITEMS REFERRED FROM THE PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
 PANEL  

 

  

 There were none.  

   

6. KEY DECISION PLAN   

  

 Consideration was given to the Key Decision Plan dated 24 May 
2022. 
 
AGREED: 
 
That the Key Decision Plan be noted. 

 

   

7. SHDC POLICY REGISTER AND THE S&ELCP POLICY 
 REGISTER  

 

  

 The Panel gave consideration to the SHDC Policy Register and 
the S&ELCP Policy Register. 
 
The Panel noted that the colour coded headings identifying the 
respective Authorities had been absent from the Partnership 
Register and requested these be reinstated for future iterations. 
 
AGREED: 
 
That the SHDC Policy Register and the S&ELCP Policy Register 

 

Page 18



- 3 - 
 
POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL - 24 May 
2022 

 

 

be noted. 
   

8. REVIEW OF HR POLICIES (BATCH 1)   

  

 The Panel considered the report of the Assistant Director – 
Corporate to seek the Policy Development Panel’s views on the 
proposed HR policies (Batch 1) prior to a report to Council. 
 
The Assistant Director – Corporate and the Organisational 
Development Service Manager were in attendance to present the 
report and answer member questions 
 
The Assistant Director – Corporate introduced the report by 
stating that the review and alignment of HR Policies across the 
three S&ELCP authorities was in progress. Policy consistency 
would assist with the management of the workforce and support 
PSPS in the delivery of services. 
 
The review had included engagement with: 

• Unions, which had been supportive; and 

• Key officers across the partnership (Internal Readers 
Panel) who had received the opportunity to comment on 
the operational practicalities of the policies. 

 
Additional batches of policies would be presented to the Policy 
Development Panel for consideration over the next few meetings. 
The first batch of HR policies, to be considered at the 24 May 
2022 Policy Development Panel meeting, included: 

• the Disciplinary Policy; 

• the Improving Performance at Work Policy; and 

• the Grievance Policy. 
 
Members considered the report and made the following 
comments: 
 

• Members asked if the various appendices which had been 
referred to within the policies could be circulated. 

o The Organisational Development Service Manager 
would circulate the appendices after the meeting. 

  

• Members asked whether guidance from the Local 
Government Association (LGA) had been sought / was 
available. 

o The Organisational Development Service Manager 
responded that the HR (PSPS) review had 
consulted a wide variety of sources, including:  

▪ the LGA;  
▪ other local authorities in the area; and  

 

Page 19



- 4 - 
 
POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL - 24 May 
2022 

 

 

▪ best practice from the Advisory, Conciliation 
and Arbitration Service (ACAS).  

 

• Members referred to page 12 of the Disciplinary Policy and 
noted that section 8.3 had been excluded. A further 
reference had not been included. 

o The Organisational Development Service Manager 
would review the document to ensure all references 
were included.  

 

• Members referred to the penultimate paragraph on page 4 
of the Disciplinary Policy and asked whether Trade Union 
representatives were treated differently to other members 
of staff. 

o The Organisational Development Service Manager 
confirmed that the process was the same except for 
the additional step of informing the regional Trade 
Union representative prior to action being brought 
against a local Trade Union representative. 

 
AGREED: 
 
That the comments and feedback of the Panel be noted.  

   

9. RECORDS MANAGEMENT POLICY   

  

 The Panel considered the report of the Assistant Director – 
Governance to note minor amendments to the Records 
Management Policy. 
 
The Information Governance Officer introduced the report which 
included minor updates to legislation and department/team 
names.  
 
The Information Governance Officer stated that the Senior 
Information Risk Owner (SIRO) for the partnership and the Boston 
Data Protection Officer had agreed that alignment would be 
considered at the next date of review. 
 

• Members considered the report and noted that the location of 
the Document Control Sheet referenced Breckland Council’s 
files. 

o The Information Governance Officer confirmed that she 
was a Breckland Council employee and her role had 
remained shared across Breckland Council and South 
Holland District Council. It was confirmed that South 
Holland District Council records were held securely 
within the Breckland Council folder.  

 

Page 20



- 5 - 
 
POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL - 24 May 
2022 

 

 

 
AGREED: 
 
That the Records Management Policy with minor amendments 
outlined within the report be noted by the Panel. 

   

10. SAFEGUARDING POLICY AND PROCEDURES   

  

 The Panel considered the report of the Assistant Director – 
Wellbeing and Community Leadership, to consider the updated 
Safeguarding Policy and Procedures. 
 
Following a review of the Safeguarding Policy, the Communities 
Manager provided the Panel with an overview of the policy 
framework for the Council to fulfil its safeguarding statutory 
responsibilities and to demonstrate competence and compliance. 
An outline of the changes was given, which related to: 

• roles, responsibilities and reporting arrangements; 

• guidance on domestic abuse to reflect the 
implementation of the Domestic Abuse Act 2021; 

• multi-agency working practices; 

• internal reporting and monitoring processes; 

• refreshed and updated web links; and 

• policy layout changes for ease of navigation. 
 
The Communities Manager highlighted that: 

• the policy framework was aligned with other district 
councils in Lincolnshire to agreed county multi-agency 
policy and practices.  

• the framework had interdependencies with other Council 
policies including complaints, recruitment and selection, 
and whistleblowing.   

• Safeguarding compliance was audited both internally and 
externally. 

 
Members considered the report and made the following 
comments: 
 

• Members noted point 5.6 of the report and queried whether 
any financial implications existed relating to training or 
potential liabilities. 

o The Communities Manager confirmed that a 
contribution was made to Safeguarding Boards 
which allowed employees to access the Lincolnshire 
training for free. This point would be updated within 
the report. 

 

 

Page 21



- 6 - 
 
POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL - 24 May 
2022 

 

 

• Members questioned whether the Council could prevent 
domestic abuse. 

o The Communities Manager stated that everyone 
had the responsibility to act. Whilst the council could 
not always stop incidents, it had the mechanism to 
speak to individuals to offer support and guidance, 
and ultimately escalation to those authorities which 
could take enforcement action.  District Councils 
were involved in the prevention of escalation and 
levels of risk were assessed in order to apply the 
most appropriate course of action. 

 

• Members asked if the policy was county-wide. 
o The Communities Manager confirmed that whilst the 

policy had related to South Holland, it linked to 
consistent county-wide, multiagency protocols. 

 

• Members asked if safeguarding information was shared 
with other professional bodies; and whether access to/ 
sharing of systems would be in place.  

o The Communities Manager stated that the different 
elements of the policy had distinct information 
sharing arrangements, for example, in relation to 
Domestic Abuse, meetings were held with other 
agencies twice per week, and separate information 
agreements were in place with the Vulnerable 
Adults Panel. Whilst information sharing with 
professional bodies occurred, this was limited to 
relevant personnel and required the highest level of 
care. Consent also needed to be considered.  

 

• Members stated that the policy was a good piece of work 
and understandably extensive but suggested that a precis 
be produced for ease of reference. 

o The Communities Manager confirmed that the 
following actions were planned upon formal 
adoption of the policy update: 

▪ briefing sessions for staff and members, 
including within induction training for 
new/returning elected members; 

▪ crib sheets would be made available; and 
▪ the Safeguarding area of the intranet would 

be refreshed. 
 

• Members stated that wellbeing was difficult to quantify and 
that recent events had placed extreme financial pressure 
on individuals. It was the responsibility of the Government 
of the day to assist.   

Page 22



- 7 - 
 
POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL - 24 May 
2022 

 

 

o The Communities Manager acknowledged that a 
close relationship existed between Safeguarding, 
Health and Wellbeing and Community Safety. 
Financial inclusion had an impact on the wellbeing 
of individuals. From a safeguarding perspective, the 
council’s prevention measures were aimed at 
protecting those individuals who were identified as 
at risk from self-harming, personal neglect or 
suicide. A piece of work to support the health and 
wellbeing of vulnerable residents, including the 
financially vulnerable, would identify such risks. 
Advice and assistance were available to individuals 
through the Citizens Advice Bureau and the 
Wellbeing Service. 

 

• Members asked when the SHDC Safeguarding Policy 
would be aligned with the partnership.  

o The Communities Manager anticipated that 
alignment would occur later in the year. All seven 
Lincolnshire districts were in the process of 
reviewing their Safeguarding policies and they 
would be sharing /collaborating on updates in the 
summer. It was envisaged that alignment of the 
Safeguarding Policy across the partnership would 
occur when this process was complete. Whilst the 
policy had a three-year review cycle, the 
Communities Manager would bring annual updates 
to the Panel. 

 
  AGREED: 
 
That the comments of the Policy Development Panel regarding 
the Safeguarding Policy be noted prior to going forward to 
Cabinet for approval.  

   

11. POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL WORK PROGRAMME   

  

 The Panel considered a report by the Assistant Director 
Governance (Monitoring Officer) which set out the Work 
Programme of the Panel. The Work Programme consisted of two 
sections, the first setting out dates of future Panel meetings along 
with proposed items for consideration, and the second setting out 
Task Groups that had been identified by the Panel. 
 
Regarding Appendix A: 

• The schedule of meetings for the following year had been 
finalised and items programmed where this was known. 
 

 

Page 23



- 8 - 
 
POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL - 24 May 
2022 

 

 

o Members expressed disappointment that the Untidy 
Sites Policy Handbook had not come forward to the 
24 May 2022 meeting. The Panel stated that the 
policy must come forward to the 13 July 2022 
meeting. 

 
 
Regarding Appendix B: 

• the Street Art Wall Task Group had completed its work and 
the final report was presented to the Panel on 23 March 
2022; approved at Cabinet on 26 April 2022; and noted at 
Full Council on 11 May 2022. The policy would be 
reviewed after the 6-month testing phase; 

• the South Holland Centre Task Group Final Report was 
presented to a meeting of the Joint Performance 
Monitoring Panel and Policy Development Panel on 4 May 
2022 and would be considered by the Cabinet on 7 June 
2022; 

• regarding the Planning Design Task Group, Design 
Guidelines were being prepared by officers to supplement 
the Local Plan and members would be updated in due 
course;  

• potential progression of the Devolution Task Group could 
be discussed at the July meeting; and 

• it was noted that the membership of Task Groups could be 
refreshed prior to commencement. 
 

AGREED: 
 

That the Policy Development Work Programme be noted. 
 

   

12. ANY OTHER ITEMS WHICH THE CHAIRMAN DECIDES ARE 
 URGENT.  

 

  

 There were none.  

   

 
 
 
(The meeting ended at 7.13 pm) 
 
(End of minutes) 
 
 
 

Page 24



 

 ACTIONS  

 = completed, * = in hand, x = outstanding    1 
 

  ACTIONS FROM THE SHDC POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
PANEL MEETING HELD ON 24 MAY 2022 

 

Minute 
number 

   

7. 
22/23 

 SHDC POLICY REGISTER AND THE S&ELCP POLICY REGISTER  

✓  The Panel noted that the colour coded headings identifying the 
respective Authorities had been absent from the Partnership 
Register and requested these be reinstated for future iterations. 
UPDATE:  Headings will be included for future iterations. 

COREY GOOCH 

    

8.  
22/23 

 REVIEW OF HR POLICIES (BATCH 1)  

✓ 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
✓ 
 

(a) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
(b) 

Members asked if the various appendices which had been referred 
to within the policies could be circulated. 
MINUTED MEETING RESPONSE: The Organisational Development 
Service Manager would circulate the appendices after the meeting. 
UPDATE: This information was circulated to Panel members on 23 
June 2022. 

 
 
Members referred to page 12 of the Disciplinary Policy and noted 
that section 8.3 had been excluded. A further reference had not 
been included 
MINUTED MEETING RESPONSE: The Organisational Development 
Service Manager would review the document to ensure all 
references were included.  
UPDATE: This has now been completed, and was reviewed by HR 
on 22 June 2022. 

JAMES GILBERT / 
RACHEL ROBINSON 

    

10. 
22/23 

 SAFEGUARDING POLICY AND PROCEDURES  

Page 25

Agenda Item 3.



 

 ACTIONS  

 = completed, * = in hand, x = outstanding    2 
 

✓ 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
* 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
✓ 

(a) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
(b) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
(c) 

 Members noted point 5.6 of the report and queried whether any 
financial implications existed relating to training or potential 
liabilities. 
MINUTED MEETING RESPONSE: The Communities Manager 
confirmed that a contribution was made to Safeguarding Boards 
which allowed employees to access the Lincolnshire training for 
free. This point would be updated within the report. 
UPDATE: The 7 June 2022 Cabinet report was updated with the 
following 
5.6.1 No direct implications from this report.  There is a 

financial contribution for staff time, contribution to 
partnerships and training in order to comply with the 
policy. 

  
  
 Members suggested that a precis of the Safeguarding Policy be 

produced for ease of reference. 
MINUTED MEETING RESPONSE: The Communities Manager 
confirmed that the following actions were planned upon formal 
adoption of the policy update: briefing sessions for staff and 
members, including within induction training for new/returning 
elected members; crib sheets would be made available; and the 
Safeguarding area of the intranet would be refreshed. 
UPDATE: Ongoing - work is in progress regarding setting up 
briefing sessions for members and officers. Democratic Services 
included Safeguarding topic on the planned induction training list 
for elected members in 2023. The appropriate officer will provide 
the training. 
 

  
 Upon adoption, annual updates to be brought to the Panel. 

UPDATE: to be added to the Policy Development Work 
Programme upon adoption for one year hence. 

  

EMILY  HOLMES 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
EMILY  HOLMES 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
EMILY HOLMES / 
DEMOCRATIC 
SERVICES  

    

11. 
22/23 

 POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL WORK PROGRAMME  

 
✓ 

 Members expressed disappointment that the Untidy Sites Policy 
Handbook had not come forward to the 24 May 2022 meeting. 
MINUTED MEETING RESPONSE: The Panel stated that the policy 
must come forward to the 13 July 2022 meeting. 
UPDATE: item noted on the Policy Development Panel Work 
Programme for 13 July 2022 and officers advised. 

 

RICHARD HODGSON/ 
DEMOCRATIC 
SERVICES 

    

 

Page 26



 
1 

 

 

    

KEY DECISION PLAN 
 

Issued – 4 July 2022 

  

 

Representations in respect of all the matters shown should be sent in writing, at least one week before the date or period the decision 
is likely to be made, to:  

 Democratic Services, Council Offices, Priory Road, Spalding, Lincolnshire, PE11 2XE 
Telephone: 01775 764451 Email: demservices@sholland.gov.uk 

 

The Key Decision Plan shows all Key decisions that the Council is likely to make over the next twelve months 
 
The Key Decision Plan is updated on a rolling basis and shows the decisions that will be considered and the date when the decision is 
expected to be made. In accordance with the Council’s Constitution the DECISIONS detailed within this document, unless otherwise 
stated, come into force and may then be implemented on the expiry of a 5 working day call-in period  from the date of publication of 
any decision.   
 
Key decisions are: “A decision which, in relation to an executive function, has a significant effect on communities in two or more 
Wards of the Council and / or is likely to result in the Authority incurring expenditure, generating income or making savings in any 
single financial year above the threshold of £75,000 in respect of revenue expenditure and £180,000 in respect of capital expenditure.” 
 
Significant decisions are: 1. A decision made in connection with setting the Council Tax; 2. A decision to approve any matter relating 
to a Policy or Strategic Plan; 3. Any non-Executive decision which significantly affects the community in two or more wards or electoral 
divisions. Some of the decisions will be recommendations to full Council, particularly if they impact on the Budget and the Policy 
Framework (comprising of statutory plans and strategies) 
 

P
age 27

A
genda Item

 8.

mailto:demservices@sholland.gov.uk


PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER / 
SUBJECT 

PURPOSE OF 
DECISION 

CONSULTEES AND 
METHOD OF 

CONSULTATION 

SUPPORTING 
DOCUMENTS 

LIKELY DATE OF 
DECISION AND WHO 

WILL MAKE DECISION 

OFFICER 
CONTACT 

INFORMATION 

 
2 

 

Portfolio Holder 
for Assets & 
Planning 
(Councillor 
Rodney 
Grocock) 
 
 
Acquisition of 18 
rented S106 
affordable homes 
in Holbeach, 
from a developer 
 

SHDC will purchase 18 
completed affordable 
homes on a site in 
Holbeach 
 

Ward members informed 
 

Report and any 
relevant 
appendices 

Portfolio Holder for Assets 
& Planning, or Leader, or 
Cabinet on 19 Jul 2022. 
 
Before 31 Jul 2022 

Caroline Hannon, 
Head of Delivery 
Caroline.Hannon
@sholland.gov.u
k  

Portfolio Holder 
for 
Environmental 
Services 
(Councillor 
Roger Gambba-
Jones) 
 
 
Procurement of 
Fuel Supplier 
 

To provide details of the 
preferred supplier for the 
fuel required for South 
Holland District Council 
fleet vehicles 
 

Portfolio Holder 
 
 
 

Report and any 
relevant 
appendices 

Portfolio Holder for 
Environmental Services, or 
Leader 
 
Before 31 Aug 2022 

Charlotte Paine, 
Head of 
Environmental 
and Operational 
Services 
cpaine@sholland
.gov.uk  

P
age 28

mailto:Caroline.Hannon@sholland.gov.uk
mailto:Caroline.Hannon@sholland.gov.uk
mailto:Caroline.Hannon@sholland.gov.uk
mailto:cpaine@sholland.gov.uk
mailto:cpaine@sholland.gov.uk


PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER / 
SUBJECT 

PURPOSE OF 
DECISION 

CONSULTEES AND 
METHOD OF 

CONSULTATION 

SUPPORTING 
DOCUMENTS 

LIKELY DATE OF 
DECISION AND WHO 

WILL MAKE DECISION 

OFFICER 
CONTACT 

INFORMATION 

 
3 

 

Portfolio Holder 
for Public 
Protection 
(Councillor 
Anthony Casson) 
 
 
Environmental 
Crime 
Enforcement 
 

To consider future 
options for the delivery 
of environmental crime 
enforcement 
 

Deputy leaders, Informal 
Cabinet, Cabinet and Full 
Council, staff 
 
 

Report and any 
relevant 
appendices 

Cabinet 19 Jul 2022, or 
Leader.  
 
South Holland District 
Council 27 Jul 2022 

Donna Hall, 
Head of Public 
Protection 
Donna.Hall@sho
lland.gov.uk  

Portfolio Holder 
for Assets & 
Planning 
(Councillor 
Rodney 
Grocock) 
 
 
Purchase of 
affordable homes 
in Holbeach 
 

SHDC to purchase 
affordable homes in 
Holbeach either for the 
HRA or South Holland 
Homes. 
 

Ward members 
 
Inform Ward members 
 

Report and any 
relevant 
appendices 

Cabinet 19 Jul 2022, or 
Leader.  
 
South Holland District 
Council 27 Jul 2022 

Caroline Hannon, 
Head of Delivery 
Caroline.Hannon
@sholland.gov.u
k  

P
age 29

mailto:Donna.Hall@sholland.gov.uk
mailto:Donna.Hall@sholland.gov.uk
mailto:Caroline.Hannon@sholland.gov.uk
mailto:Caroline.Hannon@sholland.gov.uk
mailto:Caroline.Hannon@sholland.gov.uk


PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER / 
SUBJECT 

PURPOSE OF 
DECISION 

CONSULTEES AND 
METHOD OF 

CONSULTATION 

SUPPORTING 
DOCUMENTS 

LIKELY DATE OF 
DECISION AND WHO 

WILL MAKE DECISION 

OFFICER 
CONTACT 

INFORMATION 

 
4 

 

Leader (The Lord 
Porter of 
Spalding CBE) 
 
 
Tree Strategy 
 

Adoption of a Tree 
Strategy for the South 
and East Lincolnshire 
Councils Partnership 
setting out the ambition 
and high level 
commitments of the 
three Councils. 
 

Portfolio Holder 
 
 
 

Report and any 
relevant 
appendices 

Cabinet 19 Jul 2022, or 
Leader 

Sarah Baker, 
Climate Change 
and Environment 
Manager, 
Sarah.Baker@e-
lindsey.gov.uk  

Portfolio Holder 
for Assets & 
Planning 
(Councillor 
Rodney 
Grocock), 
Portfolio Holder 
for Finance, 
Commercialisatio
n & Partnerships 
(Councillor Peter 
Ephraim 
Coupland) 
 
 
Changing Places 
Toilets - Addition 
to Capital 
Programme 
 

To increase the Capital 
Programme to build 
three new changing 
places toilets which will 
be part-funded from a 
government grant of 
£150,000. These are 
enhanced and/or stand-
alone disabled facilities. 
 

Portfolio Holder 
 

Report and any 
relevant 
appendices 

Cabinet 19 Jul 2022, or 
Leader 

Adrian Sibley, 
Deputy Chief 
Executive – 
Programme 
Delivery, 
Adrian.Sibley@e
-lindsey.gov.uk  

P
age 30

mailto:Sarah.Baker@e-lindsey.gov.uk
mailto:Sarah.Baker@e-lindsey.gov.uk
mailto:Adrian.Sibley@e-lindsey.gov.uk
mailto:Adrian.Sibley@e-lindsey.gov.uk


PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER / 
SUBJECT 

PURPOSE OF 
DECISION 

CONSULTEES AND 
METHOD OF 

CONSULTATION 

SUPPORTING 
DOCUMENTS 

LIKELY DATE OF 
DECISION AND WHO 

WILL MAKE DECISION 

OFFICER 
CONTACT 

INFORMATION 

 
5 

 

Portfolio Holder 
for Communities 
& Facilities 
(Councillor Gary 
John Taylor) 
 
 
S&ELCP Crowd 
Funding Scheme 
 

To seek approval to set 
up a S&ELCP Crowd 
Funding Scheme, 
maximising funds raised 
for community based 
initiatives 
 

Portfolio Holder 
 

Report and any 
relevant 
appendices 

Cabinet 13 Sep 2022, or 
Leader 

Nichola 
Holderness, 
Empowering 
Healthy 
Communities 
Programme 
Coordinator, 
Nichola.Holderne
ss@boston.gov.u
k  

Portfolio Holder 
for Assets & 
Planning 
(Councillor 
Rodney 
Grocock) 
 
 
Acquisition of 
seven S106 
affordable homes 
in Holbeach 
 

The purchase of seven, 
S106 affordable homes 
in Holbeach, from a 
developer. 
 

Ward members have been 
informed. 
 

Report and any 
relevant 
appendices 

Portfolio Holder for Assets 
& Planning, or Leader 
 
Before 31 Jul 2022 

Caroline Hannon, 
Head of Delivery 
Caroline.Hannon
@sholland.gov.u
k  

P
age 31

mailto:Nichola.Holderness@boston.gov.uk
mailto:Nichola.Holderness@boston.gov.uk
mailto:Nichola.Holderness@boston.gov.uk
mailto:Caroline.Hannon@sholland.gov.uk
mailto:Caroline.Hannon@sholland.gov.uk
mailto:Caroline.Hannon@sholland.gov.uk


PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER / 
SUBJECT 

PURPOSE OF 
DECISION 

CONSULTEES AND 
METHOD OF 

CONSULTATION 

SUPPORTING 
DOCUMENTS 

LIKELY DATE OF 
DECISION AND WHO 

WILL MAKE DECISION 

OFFICER 
CONTACT 

INFORMATION 

 
6 

 

Portfolio Holder 
for 
Environmental 
Services 
(Councillor 
Roger Gambba-
Jones) 
 
 
Environmental 
Services Delivery 
 

To provide an update on 
the Environmental 
Services delivery and 
future options 

 

PFH, SLT, Informal 
Cabinet will be consulted 
prior to Council 

 
PFH, SLT, Informal 
Cabinet will be consulted 
prior to Council 

 

Report and any 
relevant 
appendices 

Cabinet 13 Sep 2022, or 
Leader 
 
South Holland District 
Council 28 Sep 2022 

Charlotte Paine, 
Head of 
Environmental 
and Operational 
Services 
cpaine@sholland
.gov.uk  

Portfolio Holder 
for HRA & 
Private Sector 
Housing 
(Councillor 
Christine J 
Lawton) 
 
 
Sheltered 
Housing Digital 
Alarm Upgrade 
 

Upgrading of the 
sheltered housing hard 
wired pull cord system 
from an analogue to a 
digital system. 
 

Tenants; Portfolio Holder 
and informal all member 
briefing 
 
Formal and informal 
 

Report and any 
relevant 
appendices 

Assistant Director – 
Housing, or any other 
officer with delegation 
 
Before 30 Sep 2022 

Jason King, 
Assistant 
Director - 
Housing 
JasonKing@sholl
and.gov.uk  

 
 
 

*Cabinet Membership 

P
age 32

mailto:cpaine@sholland.gov.uk
mailto:cpaine@sholland.gov.uk
mailto:JasonKing@sholland.gov.uk
mailto:JasonKing@sholland.gov.uk


PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER / 
SUBJECT 

PURPOSE OF 
DECISION 

CONSULTEES AND 
METHOD OF 

CONSULTATION 

SUPPORTING 
DOCUMENTS 

LIKELY DATE OF 
DECISION AND WHO 

WILL MAKE DECISION 

OFFICER 
CONTACT 

INFORMATION 

 
7 

 

The Lord Porter of Spalding CBE (Leader) 
Councillor C N Worth (Deputy Leader of the Council) 
Councillor P E Coupland (Deputy Leader of the Cabinet) 
Councillor J Astill (Portfolio Holder 
Councillor A Casson (Portfolio Holder) 
Councillor R Gambba-Jones (Portfolio Holder) 
Councillor R Grocock (Portfolio Holder) 
Councillor C J Lawton (Portfolio Holder) 
Councillor E Sneath (Portfolio Holder) 
Councillor G J Taylor (Portfolio Holder) 

 
 

 
If you have any comments or queries regarding any of the entries in the Key Decision Plan please contact: 

 
Democratic Services, Council Offices, Priory Road, Spalding, Lincolnshire, PE11 2XE 

Telephone: 01775 764451 Email: demservices@sholland.gov.uk 
 

P
age 33

mailto:demservices@sholland.gov.uk


T
his page is intentionally left blank



Council Partnership Policy Theme Policy Title Policy Type

Can Policy be 
influenced 

(flexible 
scope)

Approved Date
Policy Review 

Cycle 
Policy Review 

Date
Policy Status Latest Update Policy Owner Final Approval Panel

SHDC Yes Assets Asset Management Policy Constitutional Yes 18-Jun-14 5 years 18-Jun-19 Due for review

A new Strategic Asset Management Plan is set to be developed across all partner 
Councils with a view to adoption by South Holland and our two partner Councils in Q3 

of 2022/23.  The Plan will seek to set out a ‘strategic framework’ for asset 
management for the partnership and will then focus on the key issues and priorities 
for the three sovereign councils; those priorities will be politically shaped and will fed 
into budget processes to ensure that assets are managed, acquired and disposed of 
in the right way and at the right time to create maximum value to our residents and 

to each Council.

Richard Hodgson/Andy 
Fisher

SHDC Yes Debt Corporate Debt Policy - Accounting Services Non Statutory Yes 25-Jul-17 3 years 25-Jul-21 In review Will be brought to July PDP
Samantha 

Knowles/Sharon 
Hammond

TBC

SHDC Yes HR HR Policy Handbook Non Statutory Yes 18-Jan-21 3 years 18-Jan-22 In review Will be brought to July PDP James Gilbert

SHDC Yes ASB Anti-Social Behaviour Policy Statutory Yes 01-May-19 3 years 01-Nov-22 Due for review
The countywide ASB Strategy is being reviewed in light of the Safer Lincolnshire 

Partnership refresh and needs assessment and is currently scheduled to be reviewed 
by November 2022

Dee Bedford

SHDC No Licensing Taxi Licensing Policy Non Statutory Yes 01-Jun-19 3 years 01-Jun-22 Due for review

Consultation on the Taxi Licensing Policy has been delayed as we have become aware 
in the last couple of months that new legislation is being brought in. The new rules 

will have a significant impact on taxi licensing and need to be worked into the 
updated policy.

Taxis and Private Hire Vehicles (Disabled Persons) Act 2022 
Taxis and PHVs (Safeguarding and Road Safety) Act 2022 (and accompanying 

statutory guidance)
Licensing Committee is meeting on 29th June and will be briefed on this. Chair and 

Portfolio holder are aware of the delays. It is anticipated that the updated draft policy 
will be taken to the following Licensing Committee in November for approval to go 

out to consultation. 

Donna Hall

SHDC Yes Industrial Units Industrial Units Letting Policy Non Statutory No 27-Oct-20 1 Year 01-Sep-22 Due for review

Policy owner provided a verbal update to PDP in November together with an update 
on numbers of units now let on terms consistent with the updated policy and the 

timetable for finalising the outstanding unit leases. The policy has only been in force 
for 14 months and renewals of leases have been managed sensitively given the 

potential impact on businesses as a result of the Covid pandemic.

Andy Fisher

SHDC Yes Communities Graffiti and Street Art Management Policy Non Statutory Yes 3 Years 01-Sep-22 In review Phil Perry

SHDC Enforcement
 SHDC Mobile Homes and Caravan Site 

Licensing and Fee Policy
Statutory Yes 3 Years 01-Sep-22 Jason King

SHDC Licensing Sexual Establishments Policy Statement Non Statutory Yes 06-Sep-17 5 years 06-Sep-22 Approved Donna Hall

SHDC Yes FOI Freedom of Information Policy Statutory No 26-Jun-18 3 years 01-Nov-22 Due for review

 
These are policies which (together with the Data Protection Policy) we have identified 
as being suitable for alignment across the Partnership. Work has yet to commence on 

this. As such responsible officer has agreed with PDP to withdraw these from PDP’s 
work programme for the moment and bring them at a later point when they have 

been looked at from a Partnership perspective.

John Medler

SHDC Yes Complaints
Unreasonable Behaviour and vexatious 

requests
Non Statutory Yes 21-Nov-17 3 years 01-Nov-22 In Review

Will be reviewed within the wider strategic partnership and will be brought forward 
to the next PDP

John Medler

SHDC Museum AHM Collections Development Policy Non Statutory No 01-Nov-20 2 years 01-Nov-22 Approved Julia Knight

SHDC Museum AHM Collections Care and Conservation Policy Non Statutory No 01-Nov-20 2 years 01-Nov-22 Approved Julia Knight

SHDC Yes Environmental Climate Change Strategy Non-Statutory Yes 14-Dec-21 1 Year 14-Dec-22 Approved Sarah Baker Cabinet
SHDC Housing Strategy Housing Tenancy Management Policy Statutory Yes 15-Dec-20 2 Year 15-Dec-22 Approved Vikki Cherry

SHDC No Housing Strategy Strategic Tenancy Policy Statutory Yes 01-Feb-19 3 years 01-Feb-23 Approved

This policy was taken to PDP previously and updated to reflect the fact that SHDC 
offers introductory to secure tenancies. This should also cover non-secure tenancies. 

As such the policy owner believes the policy exists to allow the council to grant the 
appropriate tenure types.

There have been no changes to the tenancies we offer. Therefore It is suggested we 
re-date the review date to reflect this

Jason King

SHDC No Corporate Strategy Corporate Plan Constitutional Yes 08-Mar-19 1 year 01-Mar-23 Approved
This is a 4 year corporate plan, historically yearly reviews have taken place, but this is 

not required.
James Gilbert

SHDC No Finance Capital Strategy Constitutional Yes 03-Mar-22 1 year 03-Mar-23 Approved
Approved by full council in March 2022 (Annual review as part of budget setting 

Process)
Samantha Knowles Full Council

SHDC Policy Register

P
age 35

A
genda Item

 9.



SHDC Finance Fees and Charges Policy Constitutional Yes 03-Mar-22 1 year 03-Mar-23 Approved
Approved by full council in March 2022 (Annual review as part of budget setting 

Process)
Samantha Knowles Full Council

SHDC  Finance  Medium Term Financial Strategy  Constitutional  No 03-Mar-22  1 year 03-Mar-23  Approved 
 Approved by full council in March 2022 (Annual review as part of budget setting 

Process) 
 Samantha Knowles  Full Council 

SHDC Finance
Treasury Management Strategy (Includes 

Statement and Clauses)
Constitutional No 03-Mar-22 1 year 03-Mar-23 Approved

Approved by full council in March 2022 (Annual review as part of budget setting 
Process)

Samantha Knowles Full Council

SHDC Finance Minimum Revenue Provision Policy Statement Constitutional No 03-Mar-22 1 year 03-Mar-23 Approved
Approved by full council in March 2022 (Annual review as part of budget setting 

Process)
Samantha Knowles Full Council

SHDC Housing Strategy Housing Allocations and Letting Policy Statutory Yes 27-Apr-21 1 years 27-Apr-23 Due for review
Policy has only recently been implemented, Policy owner has advised that it would 

make sense for PDP members to receive an update on how the policy has performed 
in its first year once it has time to embed.

Jason king Cabinet

SHDC Yes Corporate Strategy Equality and Diversity Statutory No 4 Years 01-Jun-23 Approved John Medler

SHDC Yes H&S Health & Safety Policy Statutory No 15-Dec-20 3 years 15-Dec-23 Approved
This has been agreed by PSPS to be a 3 yearly policy review cycle in line with other 

organisations.
Nick Kendrick

SHDC Fraud Counter Fraud and Corruption Policy Non Statutory Yes 11-Mar-21 3 years 01-Mar-24 Approved Faye Haywood Governance and Audit

SHDC Yes Whistleblowing
Whistleblowing Policy - Confidential Reporting 

Code
Statutory Yes 11-Mar-21 3 years 01-Mar-24 Approved Faye Haywood Governance and Audit

SHDC Housing Strategy Empty Homes Strategy Statutory Yes 27-Oct-20 1 year 01-Mar-24 Approved Jason King Cabinet

SHDC Housing Strategy Housing Assistance Policy Statutory Yes 27-Oct-20 1 year 01-Mar-24 Approved Jason King Cabinet

SHDC Yes ICT ICT Employee & Member Access Policy Non-statutory Yes 26-Apr-22 2 years 26-Apr-24 Approved Jackie Wright (PSPS) Cabinet

SHDC Yes ICT ICT Removable Media Non-statutory Yes 26-Apr-22 2 years 26-Apr-24 Approved Jackie Wright (PSPS) Cabinet
SHDC Yes ICT ICT Remote Working Policy Non-statutory Yes 26-Apr-22 2 years 26-Apr-24 Approved Jackie Wright (PSPS) Cabinet
SHDC Yes ICT ICT Third Party Supplier Access Policy Non-statutory Yes 26-Apr-22 2 years 26-Apr-24 Approved Jackie Wright (PSPS) Cabinet

SHDC Yes ICT
ICT Systems Acquisition Development and 

Deployment Policy
Non-statutory Yes 26-Apr-22 2 years 26-Apr-24 Approved Jackie Wright (PSPS) Cabinet

SHDC Yes Enforcement Corporate Enforcement Policy Non Statutory Yes 14-Dec-21 3 years 29-May-24 Approved Donna Hall
SHDC Yes DP Data Protection Policy Statutory No 10-Dec-21 3 years 29-May-24 Approved Kirsty Porter
SHDC Street naming Street Naming and Numbering Policy Statutory Yes 01-Nov-21 3 years 01-Nov-24 Approved Clinton Bell

SHDC No Licensing Gambling Policy - Statement of Principles Constitutional Yes 14-Dec-21 3 years 28-Nov-24 Approved Donna Hall

SHDC Yes Safeguarding Safeguarding Policy Statutory No 24-May-22 3 years 24-May-25 Approved Will be brought to May PDP Emily Holmes

SHDC Yes Information Management Records Management Policy Non Statutory Yes 24-May-22 3 years 24-May-25 Approved Will be brought to May PDP Kirsty Porter

SHDC No Licensing Statement of Licensing Policy Constitutional Yes 07-Jan-21 5 years 07-Jan-26 Approved
The statement of licensing policy has been revised and republished. Not due now 

until Jan 2026
Donna Hall

SHDC Yes Workforce Development Workforce Development Strategy Non-statutory Yes TBC TBC TBC In Review Rachel Robinson

P
age 36



Policy is overdue for review
Policy is due for review within 
next 6 months

BBC ELDC SHDC BBC ELDC SHDC Notes
Policy is not due for review for 
over 6 months

Asset Management Policy A Fisher Feb-21 Jan-16 Jun-14 Feb-26 Jan-26 Jun-19 Yes

Corporate Debt Policy - 
Accounting Services

S Knowles - - Jul-17 - - Jul-21 Yes

Anti-Social Behaviour Policy E Spicer May-19 May-19 May-19 May-22 May-22 May-22 Yes

Taxi Licensing Policy C Allen - Apr-21 Jun-19 - - Nov-22
Sexual Establishments 
Policy Statement

C Allen Nov-11 Apr-19 Sep-17 - Apr-25 Sep-22

Industrial Units Letting 
Policy

A Fisher - - Oct-20 - - Oct-22

Freedom of Information 
Policy

J Medler - Jun-19 Jun-18 - - Nov-22 Yes

Unreasonable Behaviour 
and vexatious requests

J Medler Sep-17 - Nov-17 Nov-22 - Nov-22 Yes

AHM Collections Care and 
Conservation Policy

P Perry Oct-19 - Nov-20 Oct-24 - Nov-22

Housing Tenancy 
Management Policy

E Spicer - - Dec-20 - - Dec-22

Constitution J Medler May-19 Jul-21 Jan-18 Jan-23 Jan-23 Jan-23 Yes

Strategic Tenancy Policy E Spicer Jan-13 Jan-13 Feb-19 - - Feb-23

Fees and Charges Policy S Knowles Mar-22 Mar-22 Mar-22 Mar-23 Mar-23 Mar-23

Minimum Revenue 
Provision Policy Statement

S Knowles Mar-22 Mar-22 Mar-22 Mar-23 Mar-23 Mar-23

Housing Allocations Policy E Spicer May-21 Jun-21 Apr-21 May-23 Jun-23 Apr-23

Equality and Diversity J Medler - - Jun-23

Health & Safety Policy C Allen Sep-21 - Dec-20 Sep-24 - Dec-23
HR Policy Handbook PSPS HR Jan-22 Jan-22 Jan-22 Jan-24 Jan-24 Jan-24 Yes

Information / Records 
Management Policy

J Medler May-17 - Jan-22 - - Jan-24 Yes

Whistleblowing Policy PSPS HR Nov-17 Jan-16 Mar-21 Mar-24 Mar-24 Mar-24 Yes
Counter Fraud and 
Corruption Policy

S Knowles May-18 - Mar-21 May-23 - Mar-24

Empty Homes Strategy E Spicer - Jan-14 Oct-20 - - Mar-24
Housing Assistance / 
Homelessness Strategy

E Spicer Oct-19 Jan-17 Oct-20 Mar-24 Mar-24 Mar-24

KEY

Policy name Lead
Will this policy 
be aligned

Policy Last Approved Next Policy Review

P
age 37



Local Plan M Gildersleeves Mar-19 Jul-18 Mar-19 Mar-24 Jul-31 Mar-24
ICT Employee & Member 

Access Policy
J Wright Apr-22 Apr-24 Apr-24 Apr-24

ICT Removable Media J Wright Apr-22 May-24 May-24 Apr-24

ICT Remote Working Policy J Wright Apr-22 Jun-24 Jun-24 Apr-24

ICT Third Party Supplier 
Access Policy

J Wright Apr-22 Jul-24 Jul-24 Apr-24

ICT Systems Acquisition 
Development and 
Deployment Policy

J Wright Apr-22 Aug-24 Aug-24 Apr-24

Data Protection Policy J Medler May-18 Jul-19 Dec-21 May-24 May-24 May-24 Yes

Corporate Enforcement 
Policy

M Gildersleeves Jan-15 Feb-14 Dec-21 - - May-24

Workforce Development 
Strategy

R Robinson Nov-20 Nov-20 Jun-22 May-24 May-24 May-24 Yes

Gambling Policy - 
Statement of Principles

C Allen Nov-18 Oct-21 Dec-21 Nov-24 Nov-24 Nov-24

Street Naming and 
Numbering Policy

A Fisher - - Nov-21 - - Nov-24

Safeguarding Policy E Holmes Mar-21 Mar-21 May-22 Mar-23 Mar-23 May-25 Yes
Statement of Licensing 
Policy

C Allen Nov-20 Sep-20 Jan-21 Nov-25 Sep-25 Jan-26

Social media acceptable use 
policy

J Gilbert Oct-21 Sep-21 - Oct-23 Sep-23 - Yes

Customer feedback policy J Medler Sep-17 Apr-14 - Mar-23 Mar-23 - Yes

Waste Enforcement Policy C Allen Jan-21 - - - - -

RIPA C Allen Sep-21 Sep-21 - Sep-24 Sep-24 -
CCTV policy E Spicer Dec-20 - - - - -
Equality Objectives & Equal 
Ops Policy

E Spicer Sep-17 - - - - -

Private Sector Housing 
Policy

E Spicer Jun-18 - - - - -

P
age 38



 

REPORT TO: Policy Development Panel 

DATE: 12 July 2022 

SUBJECT: 

PURPOSE:  

Review of HR Policies (Batch 2) 

To seek Policy Development Panel’s views on the proposed HR 

Policies (Batch 2) prior to a report to Council. 

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: Councillor Jim Astill, Portfolio Holder – Corporate and 

Communications 

REPORT OF: 

REPORT AUTHOR: 

James Gilbert, Assistant Director - Corporate 

James Gilbert, Assistant Director - Corporate 

WARD(S) AFFECTED: N/a 

EXEMPT No 

 

SUMMARY 

HR policies require regular review to ensure they are within the legal framework and reflect best 

practice. 

This report brings forward the second batch of HR policies for review.  The Policies have been 

developed by Public Sector Partnership Services, as the Councils’ HR providers; with input from 

a Readers’ Panel consisting of Officers and trade unions. The Readers’ Panel have confirmed 

that operationally the policies are practical to implement.  In addition, the policies have the 

support of trade unions. 

The Business Case for the South & East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership identifies the 

opportunity to align policy in several areas of the Councils and adopting the policies as set out 

will create that alignment. 

The policies will require approval at Council post Policy Development Panel. 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

• That the Panel considers the Policies and provides feedback and comments. 

 

 

 Page 39

Agenda Item 10.



REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 

• HR policies need to be regularly updated to ensure they reflect best practice and are 

within the legal framework.  This review has provided the opportunity to seek 

consistency in HR policy across the Partnership.   This recommendation ensures the 

Panel has the opportunity to input into the final policy set prior to consideration by 

Council. 

 

OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

• None.   

 

1. BACKGROUND 

 

1.1.  SHDC’s HR Policies are due for refresh. 
 

1.2. When the South & East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership formed it identified an 
opportunity to align several areas of Policy across the Partnership.  An early opportunity 
has been identified to align HR Policy at each of the three Partnership Councils as reviews 
are due at each Council. 
 

1.3. It is important HR Policies are regularly reviewed to ensure they remain appropriate, 
reflect legislation and best practice and enable the Head of Paid Service to effectively 
manage the workforce. 
 

2. REPORT 
 
2.1. At present, each Council within the Partnership has slight variations in its HR policies.   

 
2.2. Having a single set of shared HR policies for each Council will ensure consistency in the way 

the Partnership’s workforces are managed.  Given many services across the Councils are 
already working together this is becoming increasingly important.  There is also the benefit 
to Public Sector Partnership Services of a single HR Policy set for each of the three Councils 
as it means rather than HR Advisors administering three different policy sets, they only 
need to administer one. 
 

2.3. This report brings forward the second batch of policies for review.  Due to the quantity of 
policies for review, PSPS are reviewing the policies in batches with them coming forward at 
regular intervals, which means Policy Development Panel will receive further policies 
during the coming year for review. 
 

2.4. The policies – as presented in the appendices – have been reviewed by an internal 
Readers’ Panel of Officers (from across the Partnership); trade unions and Leadership 
Team.  The policies have their support. 
 

 

 Page 40



2.5. The policies appended to this report are: 

 

Appendix Policy 
Name 

Matter Current Policy  New 

APPENDIX 
A 

Managing 
Sickness 
Absence  

IVF States number of days for 
IVF treatment  

Covered in Time Off Policy 

Triggers 14 continuous days in a 12 
month period 

Short terms: three occasions of 
sickness absence within a rolling 12-
month period or seven calendar days 
within a rolling 12-month period or 
eight consecutive days (which includes 
non-working days and weekends).  

Long Terms: a period of long-term 
sickness absence that has lasted or is 
expected to last, four weeks or more. 

(Policy Page:10. Point 13) 

Return to 
Work / 
Absence 
Review 
Meetings 

 More detail included about 
conducting the return to work and 
absence review meetings 
 
(Policy Page:9-11. Point 12&14) 

APPENDIX 
B 

Code of 
Conduct 

Drugs & 
Alcohol 

Limited details about 
support 

More detail included around support 
under the drug and alcohol section 
(Policy Page:9-10. Point 3) 

CCTV Doesn’t include a section 
on CCTV 

Includes section on CCTV in Council 
Workplaces and properties. 
(Policy Page:11. Point 7) 

Council Tax Mentions no employee 
should owe money i.e 
Council Tax arrears and 
states this will lead to 
disciplinary if the dept is 
subject to Court. 

Not included. Best practice suggests 
any recourse would be between the 
Council and the resident and not 
through the employment relationship. 

Gifts Mentions gifts over £25 More generic statements now and no 
mention of value as this would 
frequently require reviewing in line 
with inflation.  
(Policy Page: 17. Point 18) 

Equal 
Opportunities 

No Equal Ops section Section included 
(Policy Page: 19. Point 21) 

Planning 
Applications 

Not Included Section Included 
(Policy Page: 22-23. Point 32) 

Smoking No ‘smoking at work’ 
section 

Section Included 
(Policy Page: 25. Point 40) 

APPENDIX 
C 

Probation Reviews 3 & 6 months 2, 4 & 6 months.  CIPD guidance states 
‘regular performance reviews will 
keep new recruits on a steady path to 
progression and enable you to identify 
areas for improvement and any 
additional training needs. 
(Policy Page: 6. Point 3) 

Notice Employee under 
probation – required to 

Statutory minimum notice is one 
week.  Policy states to refer to Page 41



give 1 months’ notice to 
terminate employment 

contract of employment. T&Cs Review 
to resolve. 
(Policy Page: 9. Point 9.7) 

APPENDIX 
D 

Flexible 
Working 

Eligibility 26 week qualifying period Propose discretionary Day 1 
(Policy Page: 3. Scope) 

 

EXPECTED BENEFITS TO THE PARTNERSHIP 

Consistency in HR Policy across the Partnership will provide the benefit of a single approach to 
workforce management; as well as supporting PSPS in the delivery of the HR service.  The former is 
particularly important as more teams from the three Councils start to work more closely together.  
 
IMPLICATIONS 
 
SOUTH AND EAST LINCOLNSHIRE COUNCIL’S PARTNERSHIP 

As identified in ‘Expected benefits to the Partnership’. 

CORPORATE PRIORITIES 

N/a 

STAFFING 

The Policies will have a direct impact on the management of the workforce. The Policies developed 

are in line with HR legislation and best practice and are designed to support positive workforce 

management. 

CONSTITUTIONAL AND LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

Staffing matters are a non-executive function and are therefore a Council decision. 

DATA PROTECTION 

There are no direct data protection implications arising from the content of the report, but data 

relating to staff is protected under data protection laws. The Council has suitable technical and 

organisational measures in place to protect such data 

FINANCIAL 

None 
 
RISK MANAGEMENT 

None 

STAKEHOLDER / CONSULTATION / TIMESCALES 

Consultation has taken place with the Readers’ Panel; Leadership Team and trade unions. All have 

supported the policies as appended to this report. 

REPUTATION 

The Council recognises the importance of supporting its workforce and managing the workforce in 

a positive way.  The policies aim to achieve that, thereby enhancing the reputation of the Council 

as an employer. 

CONTRACTS Page 42



None 

CRIME AND DISORDER 

None 

EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY/ HUMAN RIGHTS/ SAFEGUARDING 

The policies comply with all associated legislation and have an Equality Impact Assessment.  

HEALTH AND WELL BEING 

The policies aim to support a happy and healthy workforce. 

CLIMATE CHANGE AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 

None 

ACRONYMS 

PSPS – Public Sector Partnership Services 

APPENDICES 

Appendices are listed below and attached to the back of the report: - 

APPENDIX A Managing Sickness Absence  

APPENDIX B Code of Conduct 

APPENDIX C Probation 

APPENDIX D Flexible Working 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

Background papers used in the production of this report are listed below: - 

Document title Where the document can be viewed 

N/a  

 

CHRONOLOGICAL HISTORY OF THIS REPORT 

Name of body Date 

N/a  

 

REPORT APPROVAL  

Report author: James Gilbert, Assistant Director - Corporate 

Signed off by: James Gilbert, Assistant Director - Corporate 

Approved for 

publication: 

Councillor Jim Astill, Portfolio Holder – Corporate and Communications 

Page 43



 

Page 44



1 | P a g e          M a n a g i n g  S i c k  A b s e n c e  P o l i c y  
J a n u a r y  2 0 2 2   

V e r s i o n  1  
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Managing Sick 

Absence Policy 

and Procedure 

The Council sees health and wellbeing as an important aspect of the successful delivery of our services and 

seeks to promote and support healthy living through internal health improvement initiatives, occupational 

health advice, and by working with the individual employee as a collaborative process to identify and meet 

their physical and mental well-being needs at work. 

This policy advises the Council’s People Managers and employees on the appropriate procedure for the 

management of absence from work due to ill health and refers to both short term and long-term absences.   

The Council ensures this is a fair, equitable and transparent policy, with the needs of employees at heart.  This 

policy is fully compliant with equality and diversity, making sure care and consideration is given to the needs of 

our employees, whilst balancing these with the needs of the Council’s business. 

 

Policy  
 

Managing Sick Absence Policy and Procedure  

Policy Author HR Team - PSPS Limited 

Policy Issue date  January 2022 

Policy Review date  January 2024, or earlier if required due to one of the 
specific reasons as set out in the HR Policy Governance 
Framework 

Policy Consultation  Trade Unions recognised by the Council 
Council Employees’ Reader Panel 

Policy Sign-off Check with James Gilbert – Assistant Director Corporate  
who will sign off policy in each client Council of the SELCP  

 

 

 

Policy  
 

Managing Sick Absence Policy and Procedure  

Policy Author HR Team - PSPS Limited 

Policy Issue date  January 2022 

Policy Review date  January 2024, or earlier if required due to one 
of the specific reasons as set out in the HR 
Policy Governance Framework 

Policy Consultation  Trade Unions recognised by the Council 
Council Employees’ Reader Panel 

Council from SELCP Logo here 

Page 45



2 | P a g e          M a n a g i n g  S i c k  A b s e n c e  P o l i c y  
J a n u a r y  2 0 2 2   

V e r s i o n  1  
 

Managing Sick Absence Policy and Procedure  
 

Introduction  
 
The ill-health of an employee, whether mental, physical or both, resulting in absence from work, not only has a 
significant impact on the person who is unwell, but also has a major impact on the operating capability of the 
Council.  It is envisaged that the Council’s Managing Sickness Absence policy and procedure will assist employees 
to achieve their full potential in the workplace and contribute to the achievement of the Council’s strategic 
objectives for the communities that are served. 
 
The Council wishes to create and support a healthy and efficient working environment, not only through its 
obligations to comply with employment legislation, but also through a caring and rehabilitative approach 
towards sickness absence management.  
 
People Managers in the Council have a critical role in the effective management of sickness absence and its 
impact upon work performance and service levels. It is important that all People Managers, supported by the 
Council and the HR team at PSPS, are enabled to acquire the skills and training needed to conduct relevant 
absence management processes in a competent and caring manner.  
 
The Council is committed to providing an approach to managing Sickness Absence that ensures no employee is 
treated less favourably due to a protected characteristic as defined under the Equality Act (2010). Where a 
sickness absence is caused by an underlying medical condition that is defined as a disability under the terms of 
the Equality Act (2010), the Council will formally consider all possible reasonable adjustments.  
 

Aim  
This policy aims to promote a positive, proactive, and supportive approach to the management of sickness 
absence within the Council, and to encourage and assist employees to maintain good records of attendance. 

 

Scope  
The Policy applies to all employees of the Council who are absent from work through ill health including those 
employed on fixed-term contracts, following the successful completion of the probationary period, whether 
the type of sickness absence is short-term or long-term.  It does not apply to agency workers, self-employed 
contractors, or consultants.  

To ensure disabled and pregnant employees are supported appropriately under the Managing Sickness  
Absence policy: disability and pregnancy-related absences will be recorded separately and not used to   
contribute to the Sickness Absence Triggers as set out in this policy. 
 
Absence during a probation period will be dealt with under the Council’s probation policy and therefore falls 

outside the scope of this policy. The policy does not cover Maternity Leave; Paternity Leave; Adoption Leave; 

Shared Parental Leave; Time off Work; Annual Leave.   Policies regarding these types of absence from work can 

be found in the Corporate Directory on First4HR and advice on this policy and the policies above are available 

from the HR team at PSPS.  

Page 46



3 | P a g e          M a n a g i n g  S i c k  A b s e n c e  P o l i c y  
J a n u a r y  2 0 2 2   

V e r s i o n  1  
 

Managing Sick Absence Policy and Procedure  

Contents 
1. Guiding Principles............................................................................................................................................ 5 

2. Responsibilities under this Policy – The Council ............................................................................................. 5 

3. Responsibilities under this Policy – Employees .............................................................................................. 5 

4. Responsibilities under this Policy – People Managers .................................................................................... 6 

5. Responsibilities under this Policy – PSPS Human Resources Team. ............................................................... 7 

6. Responsibilities under this Policy – Occupational Health ............................................................................... 7 

7  Interaction with other Council policies ........................................................................................................... 8 

8.  Medical Appointments .................................................................................................................................... 8 

Operations and Recovery Periods ....................................................................................................................... 8 

IVF Treatment ..................................................................................................................................................... 8 

Gender reassignment .......................................................................................................................................... 8 

9.  The Council’s Sick Pay Scheme ........................................................................................................................ 8 

10. Statement of Fitness for Work – known as the “Fit note” ................................................................................ 8 

11. Sickness Absence and Annual Leave ................................................................................................................. 9 

12. Return to Work Meetings ................................................................................................................................. 9 

13. Sickness Absence Reporting and Sickness Absence Triggers .......................................................................... 10 

Short-term and Long-term Sick Absence Triggers. ............................................................................................... 10 

Managers’ Discretion on Trigger Points ............................................................................................................ 10 

14. Stage 1 - Managing Short Term Absence ........................................................................................................ 11 

Invite to Stage 1 – Formal Short Term Sickness Absence Meeting ................................................................... 11 

Conducting the Stage 1 – Formal Sickness Absence Review Meeting .............................................................. 11 

Outcome of the Stage 1 – Formal Short Term Sickness Absence Meeting ....................................................... 12 

15.  Stage 2 – Managing Short Term Absence ...................................................................................................... 12 

Invite to Stage 2 – Formal Short Term Sickness Absence Meeting ................................................................... 12 

Conducting the Stage 2 – Formal Short Term Sickness Absence Meeting ....................................................... 13 

Outcome of the Stage 2 – Formal Short Term Sickness Absence Meeting ....................................................... 13 

16. Stage 3 – Managing Short Term Absence ....................................................................................................... 14 

Invite to Stage 3 – Formal Short Term Sickness Absence Meeting ................................................................... 14 

Conducting the Stage 3 – Formal Short Term Sickness Absence Meeting ....................................................... 14 

Outcome of the Stage 3 – Formal Short Term Sickness Absence Meeting ....................................................... 14 

17. Stage 1 – Managing Long Term Absence ........................................................................................................ 14 

Invite to Stage 1 – Formal Long Term Sickness Absence Meeting .................................................................... 15 

Conducting the Stage 1 – Formal Long Term Sickness Absence Meeting ........................................................ 15 

Outcome of the Stage 1 – Formal Long Term Sickness Absence Meeting ........................................................ 15 

Page 47



4 | P a g e          M a n a g i n g  S i c k  A b s e n c e  P o l i c y  
J a n u a r y  2 0 2 2   

V e r s i o n  1  
 

18. Stage 2 – Managing Long Term Absence ........................................................................................................ 17 

Invite to a Stage 2 – Formal Long Term Sickness Absence Meeting ................................................................. 17 

Conducting a Stage 2 – Formal Long Term Sickness Absence Meeting ............................................................ 17 

Outcome of the Stage 2 – Formal Long Term Sickness Absence Meeting ........................................................ 17 

19. Stage 3 – Managing Long Term Absence ........................................................................................................ 18 

Invite to a Stage 3 – Formal Long Term Sickness Absence Meeting ................................................................. 18 

Conducting the Stage 3 – Formal Long Term Sickness Absence Meeting ........................................................ 18 

Outcome of the Stage 3 – Formal Long Term Sickness Absence Meeting ........................................................ 18 

20.  Occupational Health ....................................................................................................................................... 18 

21. Appeal Procedure ............................................................................................................................................ 19 

The Appeal Hearing ........................................................................................................................................... 20 

Following the Appeal Hearing ........................................................................................................................... 20 

 

 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 48



5 | P a g e          M a n a g i n g  S i c k  A b s e n c e  P o l i c y  
J a n u a r y  2 0 2 2   

V e r s i o n  1  
 

1. Guiding Principles.  

The following principles govern the Council’s Managing Sickness Absence policy and procedure which are: 

• fairness - actions should be reasonable, necessary, known and understood. Employees involved are entitled 
to be heard with courtesy and respect.  

• confidentiality - information relating to sickness absence should not be divulged to a third party not 
involved in the process  

• equality - the Council will not discriminate unfairly or illegally, directly, or indirectly 

2. Responsibilities under this Policy – The Council   

2.1 The Council’s duty of care to all employees will be at the centre of this policy and will treat employees 
who are absent due to a medical condition, sympathetically and supportively. 

2.2 The recording and monitoring procedures used in the management of sickness absence will be applied in 
a fair and consistent manner. 

2.3 The Council will continue its commitment to creating and maintaining a positive and healthy workplace 
environment  

2.4 The Council will continue to develop further the extensive portfolio of proactive support service provisions 
available to its employees which currently include: 

o Access to a free confidential 24/7 Employee Assistance Programme (EAP) that provides a range of advice 
and support services to employees including counselling; 

o Qualified Occupational Health professional provision; 

o Ongoing programme of employee initiatives to support employees of the Council’s Health and Wellbeing, 
both physical and mental. 

3. Responsibilities under this Policy – Employees   

3.1 All employees of the Council should make sure that they are aware of the absence notification procedures 
and comply with them in a timely manner. 

3.2 The Council expects the employee to notify their People Manager at least one hour before their normal 
start time personally by telephone on the first day of absence, to discuss how long they are likely to be 
absent from work.   

3.3 The employee should keep in daily contact with their People Manager during their first week of absence.   

3.4 Regular contact should continue as per an agreed communication plan for any absence beyond this period 
of absence due to ill-health. 

3.5 If it is not reasonably practicable for the employee to make personal contact with their People Manager for 
example if the employee has been admitted to hospital, then an employee’s family member or close friend 
should contact their manager for them on the first day of absence by the quickest means possible. 

3.6 In cases where the absence is longer than expected then the employee should contact their People Manager 
by telephone on a regular basis explaining the reason for absence, how long it is likely to last, and when 
they plan to come back to work. This will help the People Manager plan the operational needs of the 
business. The frequency and time of contact should be mutually agreed upon. 

Page 49



6 | P a g e          M a n a g i n g  S i c k  A b s e n c e  P o l i c y  
J a n u a r y  2 0 2 2   

V e r s i o n  1  
 

3.7 During any period of sickness absence, employees should make every effort to focus on getting better and 
speed up their recovery. 

3.8 Employees are required to submit a Statement of Fitness for Work (‘Fit Note’) issued by a GP or other 
medical professional to their People Manager for any absence that lasts more than seven calendar days, 
which includes non-working days and weekends. 

3.9 The Council recognises its obligations under the Equality Act (2010) for those employees with either a 
disability or an underlying health condition that would constitute a disability under the Equality Act (2010) 
and those in relation to pregnancy.   

3.10 Absences arising from these protected characteristics will be recorded separately from general sickness 
absences and will not count towards the Sickness Absence Triggers within this Policy.  

3.11 Where an employee is absent from work because of an accident in the workplace, the employee will be 
paid (inclusive of statutory benefits) in line with their contractual entitlement.  

3.12 Where an employee experiences prolonged, persistent short-term absence through illness or injury, and 
where medical evidence shows that the employee is unable to fulfil their duties within a reasonable time 
or on a consistent basis, it may be necessary for the Council to consider termination of employment. In 
such cases, there will be a clear process as set out in the short-term absence section of the policy and will 
be managed sympathetically and supportively. 

3.13 Employees are responsible for their general health and are expected to take steps to minimise 
unnecessary absence from work due to ill health and should avoid prolonging or aggravating an episode 
by either remaining at work or returning too soon.     

3.14 If an employee is struggling to undertake duties due to a illness, then they should speak to their People 
Manager to arrange a referral to Occupational Health. 

4. Responsibilities under this Policy – People Managers  

4.1 People Managers are responsible for fairly and consistently applying the Managing Sickness Absence Policy 
and its procedure. 

4.2 All People Managers have a responsibility to manage an employee who is absent from work due to sickness 
proactively and sensitively.  

4.3 In applying the Managing Sickness Absence policy and procedure, decisions about an employee who is 
absent from work due to ill health may only be made by Managers based on information obtained through 
meetings with the employee, absence data, and advice from the PSPS HR team and Occupational Health 
advisors.  

4.4 People Managers are required to ensure that all sickness absence is recorded accurately on First4HR from 
the first day of absence. 

4.5 People Managers are required to conduct a return-to-work interview upon an employee’s return to work 
after every period of sickness absence. A record of the meeting should be made by the People Manager on 
First4HR. 

4.6 People Managers have responsibility for undertaking appropriate training to allow them to deal with 
managing Sickness Absence and return to work issues effectively and consistently. 

4.7 People Managers have a responsibility to maintain regular dialogue with an employee who is absent 
whether it is a long-term absence or a series of short-term absences. Dialogue with the employee may 
include such issues as the management of workload, the need to refrain from activities likely to exacerbate 
or prolong recovery, for example, carrying out business on behalf of the Council whilst on sick leave or 
checking work emails. 

Page 50



7 | P a g e          M a n a g i n g  S i c k  A b s e n c e  P o l i c y  
J a n u a r y  2 0 2 2   

V e r s i o n  1  
 

4.8 In cases where there is a particular concern about the nature of the employee’s sickness absence, or if it is 
an illness of a complex nature or involves a protected characteristic under the Equality Act (2010), People 
Managers should seek advice from the PSPS HR team. 

4.9 People Managers are required, as far as possible, to manage the consequences of an employee’s sickness 
absence to minimise the effects on performance, service levels and the workload of colleagues whilst the 
employee is absent from work. 

4.10 People Managers are responsible for the initial investigation of cases where it is felt that abuse of the 
Council’s sick pay arrangements may have taken place and, in consultation with Human Resources, initiating 
the appropriate procedures to deal with the abuse.  

5. Responsibilities under this Policy – PSPS Human Resources Team. 

5.1 The PSPS HR Team is responsible for providing advice, guidance and support to People Managers and 
employees on the application of this ‘Managing Sickness Absence’ policy. 

5.2 The PSPS HR Team is responsible for monitoring and reviewing the effectiveness of the Managing Sickness 
Absence policy and procedure. 

5.3  The PSPS HR Team is responsible for providing training in the management responsibilities required under 
this policy. 

5.4 The PSPS HR Team is responsible for the provision of reports on absence information and other associated 
people management information to the Council on a monthly basis. 

5.5 The PSPS HR Team advises employees and Managers on ill-health retirement or termination on the grounds 
of ill health where appropriate.  

5.6 The PSPS HR Team act as a liaison between the Council and occupational health provider. 

6. Responsibilities under this Policy – Occupational Health  

6.1  The role of the external Occupational Health Advisory service is to provide professional occupational health 
information and advice, in support of the effective management of sickness absence to the Council’s People 
Managers and the HR team at PSPS, as follows:  

• advising whether there is a medical condition affecting attendance or work performance  

• advising on the potential impact of such a medical condition and on the employee’s ability to perform their 
duties  

• where appropriate, and with the consent of the employee, liaising with the GP/Clinician responsible for the 
medical care of the employee (under the Access to Medical Records Act 1988, the Council’s employee has 
the right to obtain access to the GP/Clinician's report before it is forwarded to Occupational Health)  

• advising on a likely date for return to work  

• what temporary or permanent adjustments to the job would enable the employee to function safely and 
effectively despite the health condition  

• suggesting types of suitable alternative work if an employee will be unable to return to their own job  

• providing advice on an appropriate process for a successful rehabilitation back to work after a long-term 
absence from work 

• advising whether work has had an adverse effect on the health of employees and how this can be prevented 
from happening in the future  

Page 51



8 | P a g e          M a n a g i n g  S i c k  A b s e n c e  P o l i c y  
J a n u a r y  2 0 2 2   

V e r s i o n  1  
 

7  Interaction with other Council policies 

7.1  The arrangements set out in this policy and procedure relate to managing sickness absence affecting the 
ability of an employee of the Council to carry out their contractual duties and should be distinguished 
from any unauthorised absence from work, which is an issue of potential misconduct and may fall within 
the scope of the Council’s Disciplinary policy and procedure.  Advice and guidance on such a situation are 
available from the HR Team at PSPS. 

8.  Medical Appointments   

8.1  Wherever possible, employees should make medical/dental appointments outside of their normal 
working hours. However, where this is not practical, appointments must be made to cause minimal 
disruption to the working day, i.e., lunchtime, early, late 

8.2  Hospital/Consultant/Specialist Clinic appointments are considered authorised absence and time off will be 
paid; Team Leaders will use their discretion to how much time is allowed and if unsure, seek advice from 
an HR Business Partner (HRBP).   Employees should provide their Team Leader with proof of their 
appointment when requesting time off to attend appointments.  

Operations and Recovery Periods 

8.3  Operations are considered as authorised time off and will be paid.  Managers/Team Leaders should 
provide the necessary support to the employee during this period of absence and agree on an appropriate 
means/delegated person of contact.  The manager/Team Leader should work collaboratively with HR, 
Occupational Health, and the employee’s specialist to ensure a safe and appropriate return to work. 

IVF Treatment 

8.4  Time off to undertake IVF treatment is considered authorised absence and time off will be paid; Team 
Leaders will use their discretion to how much time is allowed and if unsure, seek advice from an HR.  If 
employees are undertaking IVF treatment, they should provide their People Manager with proof of the 
appointment for treatment.  If an employee is unwell and not able to work as a result of the IVF treatment 
it should be recorded as sickness absence 

Gender reassignment 

8.5  Time off for these purposes will be treated no less favourably than time off for illness or other medical 
appointments.   

9.  The Council’s Sick Pay Scheme  

9.1  Please see the Council’s sick pay entitlement as set out in the attached summary in Appendix One of this 
policy. 

10. Statement of Fitness for Work – known as the “Fit note” 

10.1 A ‘Fit Note’ describes the medical reason for an employee’s absence and whether the doctor thinks an 
employee is ‘not fit for work’ or ‘may be fit for work’ if the employer takes into account some 
recommendations for temporary adjustments at work, for example:  

Page 52



9 | P a g e          M a n a g i n g  S i c k  A b s e n c e  P o l i c y  
J a n u a r y  2 0 2 2   

V e r s i o n  1  
 

o a phased return to work: 

o altered hours; 

o amended duties; 

o workplace adaptations. 

10.2 This allows maximum flexibility to discuss possible changes to help support a return to work.  

10.3 Where it is not possible for the Council to implement the recommendations from the ‘Fit Note’, then this 
document should be treated as if the ‘Fit Note’ advised that the employee is ‘not fit for work’ and they 
should remain absent. 

11. Sickness Absence and Annual Leave 

11.1 If an employee is sick whilst on ‘Annual Leave’ then the ‘Annual Leave’ can be ‘retaken’ at a later date on 
the condition that medical evidence is provided to PSPS.  

11.2 This will include medical evidence, e.g., medical certificate details of treatment and, if relevant, a copy of 
any insurance policy claim.  

11.3 To be able to ‘reclassify leave’ the employee must be able to show that they would not have been fit for 
work had they not been on Annual Leave. Wherever reasonable and practicable the Council still requires 
its notification procedures to be followed. 

11.4 In circumstances where an employee is sick before starting Annual Leave, and they wish to use the 
entitlement at another time, then they should inform their People Manager at the earliest opportunity.  

11.5 The request to cancel a period of booked Annual Leave must be supported by a Medical Certificate. The 
People Manager should discuss the request and inform the employee accordingly seeking advice from the 
HR Team at PSPS where appropriate. 

11.6 Where an employee has been on long term sickness absence and has been unable to use their Annual 
Leave entitlement by the end of the Annual Leave year, the employee may wish to carry over leave not 
taken due to the sickness absence.  

11.7 The employee should discuss this with their People Manager on an individual basis. It is the People 
Manager’s responsibility to ensure that the opportunity to take accrued but untaken Annual Leave is 
provided.   

11.8 Upon termination of employment with the Council, it is expected that any outstanding annual leave 
entitlement will be paid as a part of the termination/end of the contract.   

12. Return to Work Meetings 

12.1 Return to work meetings must be conducted by People Managers following every period of sickness 
absence. 

 
12.2 The immediate People Manager should arrange a meeting with the employee on their first day back, or as 

soon as possible afterwards.  
 

Page 53



10 | P a g e          M a n a g i n g  S i c k  A b s e n c e  P o l i c y  
J a n u a r y  2 0 2 2   

V e r s i o n  1  
 

12.3 If an employee feels that they are unable to discuss the reasons for their absence with their People 
Manager, then they should contact the PSPS HR Team via HR@pspsl.co.uk   

12.4 The purpose of the return-to-work meeting is: 

o To give the People Manager the opportunity to check that the employee is fit to return to work; 
o To allow the People Manager to fully understand the reason for the employee’s absence;  
o To allow the employee to voice any concerns they may have, and to identify any domestic, welfare or 

work-related concerns that may affect their return to work; 
o To allow the People Manager to raise awareness about the available services and support provision 

available to employees, e.g. Employee Assistance Programme (EAP) and Occupational Health;  
o Where appropriate to discuss the need for a referral to Occupational Health;  
o To discuss where appropriate an agreed return to work programme, including phasing, where deemed 

necessary; 
o To allow the People Manager to update the employee on events that may have occurred during their 

absence; 
o To ensure that the employee is aware of the ‘Managing Sickness Absence’ Policy; 
o To inform the employee of the number of absences recorded and about the ‘Sickness Absence Triggers’ 
o To notify the employee of how their absence will be managed and about the ‘Managing Sickness Absence 

Policy.  
o A record of the return-to-work meeting will be made by the People Manager on the return-to-work pro-

forma which is available in the employee’s absence management record on First4HR. 

13. Sickness Absence Reporting  

Short-term and Long-term Sick Absence Trigger Points. 

13.1  People Managers will manage sickness absence where sickness levels reach the following Sickness Absence 
Triggers for short-term and long-term sickness absences.  

Short Term Sickness Absence Triggers are:   

• three occasions of sickness absence within a rolling 12-month period.  

• seven calendar days within a rolling 12-month period. 

• eight consecutive days (which includes non-working days and weekends).  

Long Term Sickness Absence Trigger is a period of long-term sickness absence that has lasted or is expected to 
last, four weeks or more. 

13.2 Where an employee attends work and subsequently is unable to continue to work due to sickness then this 
will be logged on First4HR in accordance with the following : 

13.3 Where an employee attends work for a period of less than 3 hours and is unable to continue due to sickness, 
then the time taken will be logged as 1 day of sickness absence 

13.4 Where an employee attends work for a period of 3 hours or more and is unable to continue due to sickness, 
then the time taken will be logged as ½ a day of sickness absence. 

Managers’ Discretion on Trigger Points  

13.5 When reviewing absences against the trigger points it may be necessary in exceptional circumstances for 
managers to use their discretion on what the trigger points are.  This particularly applies when an 

Page 54

mailto:HR@pspsl.co.uk


11 | P a g e          M a n a g i n g  S i c k  A b s e n c e  P o l i c y  
J a n u a r y  2 0 2 2   

V e r s i o n  1  
 

employee has an underlying medical condition that is covered under the Equality Act 2010 and advice is 
usually obtained from OH.   

 
13.6 If management wish to apply discretion to change an employee’s trigger point, then this should only be 

applied in exceptional circumstances.  Following advice from HR, the manager must be able to justify, 
discuss, and record the reasons for this decision. 

 
13.7 Any extensions to the trigger points as a reasonable adjustment resulting from OH advice should be 

regularly reviewed by the People Manager with advice from the PSPS HR Team .   

14. Stage 1 - Managing Short Term Absence  

Invite to Stage 1 – Formal Short Term Sickness Absence Meeting 

14.1 Where an employee’s absence through sickness becomes a cause for concern i.e., absence levels have 
met the short term ‘Sickness Absence Trigger’ of three occasions of sickness absence within a 12-month 
rolling period; seven calendar days of absence within a rolling 12-month period, or eight consecutive days 
(which includes non-working days and weekends) then the People Manager should invite the employee to 
a Stage 1 – Formal Short Term Sickness Absence Meeting. 

 
14.2 Where a ‘Stage 1 – Formal Short Term Sickness Absence Meeting’ is to be held, the People Manager will 

notify the employee in writing of the details of the Stage 1 – Formal Short Term Sickness Absence 
Meeting; normally giving 5 working days’ notice and setting out the reason for the meeting. 

 
14.3 Employees have the right to be accompanied by a Trade Union official or a workplace colleague of their 

choice and will be advised of their right to do so. 
 
14.4 If required, a note-taker and member of the PSPS HR team will attend the Stage 1 – Formal Short Term 

Sickness Absence Meeting and will record in writing the main points of the meeting; including details of 
remedial or supportive measures to be taken by the People Manager and the employee. 

Conducting the Stage 1 – Formal Sickness Absence Review Meeting 

14.5 At the meeting the People Manager will sympathetically discuss with the employee the reasons for their 
absence and advise them that their level of attendance is a cause for concern. The People Manager will 
review with the employee previous absences where they have contributed to meeting the Sickness Absence 
Trigger.  

14.6 The People Manager should also discuss any issues that might be affecting the employee’s attendance e.g., 
personal, family, or work-related issues, being sensitive to only encouraging the employee to disclose what 
is suitable. 

14.7 During the Stage 1 – Formal Short Term Sickness Absence Meeting it may be appropriate to discuss with 
the employee referring them to an Occupational Health Advisor. 

14.8 Where the employee’s pattern of absence is such that a Formal Review Period is required then the People 
Manager should discuss this with the employee. 

14.9 A Formal Notification of concern about the level of absence from work due to sickness may be issued where 
the People Manager sets out a ‘Formal Review Period’ and should notify the employee of the date of the 
Stage 2 – Formal Short Term Sickness Absence Meeting.  

Page 55



12 | P a g e          M a n a g i n g  S i c k  A b s e n c e  P o l i c y  
J a n u a r y  2 0 2 2   

V e r s i o n  1  
 

14.10 During the meeting the employee should be reminded that any failure to improve attendance at work 
could lead to further notifications of concern about the unsustainable level of absence from work due to ill 
health and may ultimately lead to dismissal from employment with the Council. 

Outcome of the Stage 1 – Formal Short Term Sickness Absence Meeting 

14.11 There are three potential outcomes following this stage of the procedure. They are:  

• No Further Action 

• A Formal Review Period  

• Formal Notification of Concern About the Level of Absence from Work 

14.12 The People Manager should confirm the outcome of the ‘Stage 1 – Formal Short Term Sickness Absence 
Meeting’ in writing, to the employee within 5 working days of the meeting. 

14.13 Where the People Manager is satisfied with the sickness absence record and the reason for absence 
then the employee should be notified that the matter will not progress to Stage 2.   

14.14 Where a formal notification of concern about the level of absence from work due to sickness is issued 
and a Formal Review Period has been agreed, then the letter from the People Manager to the employee 
should include details of any further support, actions required with an agreed action plan, the length of the 
monitoring period and how progress will be monitored during the review period,  along with any reasonable 
adjustments that are to be made and any further assistance that is available to assist the employee to 
improve the attendance level at work to meet expectations of their contractual obligations to the Council.  

14.15 The employee should be notified in writing of the date of the ‘Stage 2 – Formal Short Term Sickness 
Absence Meeting’. 

14.16 If a Formal Notification of concern about the level of absence from work due to sickness is issued, an 
Appeal against this outcome must be submitted in writing to the Head of HR and Organisational 
Development at PSPS via the HR Portal, within 10 working days from the receipt of the outcome letter.   

15.  Stage 2 – Managing Short Term Absence 

Invite to Stage 2 – Formal Short Term Sickness Absence Meeting 

15.1 The ‘Stage 2 – Formal Short Term Sickness Absence Meeting’ should be scheduled to be held at the end of 
the review period which was set out at the ‘Stage 1 – Formal Short Term Sickness Absence Meeting’. 

15.2 Where a ‘Stage 2 – Formal Short Term Sickness Absence Meeting’ is to be held, the People Manager will 
notify the employee in writing of the details of the ‘Stage 2 – Formal Short Term Sickness Absence Meeting’; 
normally giving 5 working days’ notice and set out the reason for the meeting. 

15.3 At the meeting the employee is permitted to be accompanied by a Trade Union official or a workplace 
colleague of their choice and will be advised of their right to do so. 

15.4 A note-taker and a member of the PSPS HR Team will attend the Stage 2 – Formal Short Term Sickness 
Absence Meeting and will record in writing the main points of the meeting, including details of remedial or 
supportive measures to be taken by the People Manager and employee, where appropriate. 

Page 56



13 | P a g e          M a n a g i n g  S i c k  A b s e n c e  P o l i c y  
J a n u a r y  2 0 2 2   

V e r s i o n  1  
 

Conducting the Stage 2 – Formal Short Term Sickness Absence Meeting 

15.5 At the meeting the People Manager will discuss the employee’s level of absence during the ‘Formal Review 
Period’. 

15.6 Where the employee’s attendance at work has improved then the People Manager will discuss the 
importance of the employee maintaining an acceptable level of attendance in the workplace. 

15.7 The People Manager should discuss with the employee that should their sickness absence levels meet the 
short term ‘Sickness Absence Trigger’ of 3 occasions of sickness absence within any 12-month rolling period 
or 7 calendar days which include non-working days within a rolling 12-month period in the future then the 
People Manager may invite the employee to a further ‘Stage 2 – Formal Short Term Sickness Absence 
Meeting’.  

15.8 Where following the Formal Review Period, an employee is unable to demonstrate a clear and sustained 
improvement in their attendance, then the People Manager should discuss with the employee the reasons 
for their absence and advise them that their level of attendance is a continued cause for concern.  

15.9 In cases where the employee’s attendance has not improved to the required standard during the ‘Formal 
Review Period’ then the employee should be reminded that any failure to improve attendance at work 
could lead to further warnings or ultimately dismissal. 

15.10 Second formal notification of concern about the level of absence from work due to sickness may be 
issued where the employee’s attendance has not improved to the expected level. The People Manager 
should set out a further ‘Formal Review Period’ and notify the employee of the date of the ‘Stage 3 – Formal 
Short Term Sickness Absence Meeting’ 

Outcome of the Stage 2 – Formal Short Term Sickness Absence Meeting 

15.11 There are three potential outcomes following this stage of the procedure. They are:  

• No Further Action; 

• A Formal Review Period is set; 

• A Formal Notification of Concern About the Level of Absence from Work is issued. 

15.12 The People Manager should confirm the outcome of the ‘Stage 2 – Formal Short Term Sickness Absence 
Meeting’ in writing, to the employee; within 5 days of the meeting. 

15.13 Where the People Manager is satisfied that the level of sickness absence has improved and has 
sustained an acceptable level of attendance at work within the ‘Formal Review Period’ then the employee 
should be notified by the People Manager in writing that the matter will not progress to Stage 3.   

15.14 Where a Second Formal notification of concern about the level of absence from work due to sickness is 
issued by the People Manager and a further ‘Formal Review Period’ agreed, then the letter should be sent 
to the employee by the People Manager which will include details of any improvements required, an action 
plan, the monitoring period and how progress will be monitored. Any reasonable adjustments that are to 
be made and any available support. 

15.15 The employee should be notified by the People Manager in writing of the date of the ‘Stage 3 – Formal 
Short Term Sickness Absence Meeting’. 

15.16 If a Second Formal notification of concern about the level of absence from work due to sickness is issued 
by the People Manager, an appeal against this outcome may be submitted in writing to the Head of HR and 

Page 57



14 | P a g e          M a n a g i n g  S i c k  A b s e n c e  P o l i c y  
J a n u a r y  2 0 2 2   

V e r s i o n  1  
 

Organisational Development at PSPS via the HR@pspsl.co.uk , within 10 working days from the receipt of 
the outcome letter.   

16. Stage 3 – Managing Short Term Absence 

Invite to Stage 3 – Formal Short Term Sickness Absence Meeting 

16.1 The ‘Stage 3 – Formal Short Term Sickness Absence Meeting’ should be scheduled to be held at the end of 
the review period which was set out at the Stage 2 – Formal Short Term Sickness Absence Meeting. 

16.2 Where a ‘Stage 3 – Formal Short Term Sickness Absence Meeting’ is to be held, the People Manager will 
notify the employee in writing of the details of the ‘Stage 3 – Formal Short Term Sickness Absence Meeting’; 
normally giving 5 working days’ notice and set out the reason for the meeting. 

16.3 At the meeting the employee is permitted to be accompanied by a Trade Union official or a workplace 
colleague of their choice and will be advised of their right to do so. 

16.4 A note-taker and a member of the PSPS HR Team will attend the ‘Stage 3 – Formal Short Term Sickness 
Absence Meeting’ and will record in writing the main points of the meeting. 

Conducting the Stage 3 – Formal Short Term Sickness Absence Meeting 

16.5 At the meeting the People Manager will discuss the employee’s level of absence during the ‘Formal Review 
Period’. 

16.6 Where the employee’s attendance at work has improved then the People Manager will discuss the 
importance of the employee maintaining an acceptable level of attendance in the workplace. 

16.7 The People Manager should discuss with the employee that should their sickness absence levels meet the 
short term ‘Sickness Absence Trigger’ of 3 occasions of sickness absence within any 12-month rolling period 
or 7 calendar days which include non-working days and weekends within a rolling 12-month period in the 
future then the People Manager may invite the employee to a further ‘Stage 3 – Formal Short Term Sickness 
Absence Meeting’.  

16.8 If following the review period an employee is unable to demonstrate a clear and sustained improvement in 
their attendance, then the People Manager should discuss with the employee the issues that have already 
been raised and that their level of absenteeism is no longer sustainable. 

16.9 Where a ‘Second Written Warning’ has already been issued and no further improvements have been made 
then it is likely that this will lead to dismissal. 

Outcome of the Stage 3 – Formal Short Term Sickness Absence Meeting 

16.10 The People Manager should confirm the outcome of the ‘Stage 3 – Formal Short Term Sickness Absence 
Meeting’ in writing, to the employee; within 5 days of the meeting. 

16.11 If the outcome is a Dismissal, an appeal against the outcome must be submitted in writing to the Head 
of HR and Organisational Development, within 10 working days from the receipt of the outcome letter.   

17. Stage 1 – Managing Long Term Absence 

17.1  A single period of sickness absence that lasts more than four weeks is normally considered to be a period 
of long-term sickness absence. 

Page 58

mailto:HR@pspsl.co.uk


15 | P a g e          M a n a g i n g  S i c k  A b s e n c e  P o l i c y  
J a n u a r y  2 0 2 2   

V e r s i o n  1  
 

17.2 It is the People Manager’s responsibility to maintain regular contact with an employee throughout the 
entire period of absence, to understand the nature and progress of the absence, and to provide the 
appropriate support, information, and advice where necessary.   

17.3 During periods of long-term absence, employees should, if appropriate, be kept informed of any key issues 
or developments within their service area 

17.4 If the employee is absent for several periods of long-term absence (whether for the same reason or not) 
consideration needs to be given to the services’s ability to sustain the level of non-attendance.  

Invite to Stage 1 – Formal Long Term Sickness Absence Meeting 

17.5 If an employee has been absent from work for 4 weeks and it is clear that the employee is unlikely to return 
to work within a reasonable period of time, then the People Manager should invite the employee to a ‘Stage 
1 – Formal Long Term Sickness Absence Meeting’ to discuss the nature of their absence.  

17.6 At the ‘Stage 1 – Formal Long Term Sickness Absence Meetings’ the employee is permitted to be 
accompanied by a Trade Union official or a workplace colleague of their choice and will be advised of their 
right to do so. 

Conducting the Stage 1 – Formal Long Term Sickness Absence Meeting 

17.7 During the ‘Stage 1 – Formal Long Term Sickness Absence Meeting’ it may be appropriate to discuss with 
the employee referring them to Occupational Health. 

17.8 The focus of the ‘Stage 1 – Formal Long Term Sickness Absence Meeting’ should be on the wellbeing of the 
employee and should be conducted in a sensitive, sympathetic, and supportive way. 

17.9 Depending on the nature of the illness it may be appropriate to visit the employee at a mutually convenient 
meeting place. 

17.10 Where the employee is likely to return to the same job in the near future then the People Manager 
should discuss with the employee whether they will require any particular support or reasonable short-
term adjustments to assist in their return. 

Reasonable adjustments may include: 

o phased return to work;  

o the use of ergonomic equipment;  

o a change in working hours or the pattern of work  

17.11 If the prognosis of the employee returning to work is uncertain and it is not possible to take a firm 
decision on the future position, it may be necessary to continue to monitor the absence and review the 
situation on a regular basis by inviting the employee to ‘Stage 2 – Formal Long Term Sickness Absence 
Meetings’ 

Outcome of the Stage 1 – Formal Long Term Sickness Absence Meeting 

17.12 Following the ‘Stage 1 – Formal Long Term Sickness Absence Meeting’ the People Manager should write 
to the employee within 5 working days confirming what was discussed and what measures will be put in 
place to enable the employee to return to work.  

Page 59



16 | P a g e          M a n a g i n g  S i c k  A b s e n c e  P o l i c y  
J a n u a r y  2 0 2 2   

V e r s i o n  1  
 

17.13 Where the employee is unable to return to work the letter should set out the review period and date of 
the ‘Stage 2 – Formal Long Term Sickness Absence Meeting’ 

  

Page 60



17 | P a g e          M a n a g i n g  S i c k  A b s e n c e  P o l i c y  
J a n u a r y  2 0 2 2   

V e r s i o n  1  
 

18. Stage 2 – Managing Long Term Absence 

Invite to a Stage 2 – Formal Long Term Sickness Absence Meeting 

18.1 Where following the ‘Stage 1 – Formal Long Term Sickness Absence Meeting’ the employee is unable to 
return to work then the People Manager should invite the employee to regular ‘Stage 2 – Formal Long Term 
Sickness Absence Meetings’ usually every 4-6 weeks. 

18.2 At the ‘Stage 2 – Formal Long Term Sickness Absence Meetings’ the employee is permitted to be 
accompanied by a Trade Union official or a workplace colleague of their choice and will be advised of their 
right to do so. 

18.3 Up to date medical advice should be sorted from the employee and/or Occupational Health where 
appropriate. 

18.4 In these circumstances it continues to be the responsibility of the People Manager to maintain regular 
contact with the employee.  

Conducting a Stage 2 – Formal Long Term Sickness Absence Meeting 

18.5 The focus of the ‘Stage 2 – Formal Long Term Sickness Absence Meetings’ is on the wellbeing of the 
employee and should be conducted in a sensitive, sympathetic and supportive way. 

18.6 Depending on the nature of the illness it may be appropriate to visit the employee at a mutually convenient 
meeting place. 

18.7 Where the employee is likely to return to the same job in the near future then the People Manager should 
discuss with the employee whether they will require any particular support or reasonable short-term 
adjustments to assist in their return. 

Reasonable adjustments may include: 

o phased return to work;  

o the use of ergonomic equipment;  

o a change in working hours or the pattern of work  

18.8 If the prognosis of the employee returning to work is still uncertain and it is not possible to take a firm 
decision on the future position, it may be necessary to continue to monitor the absence and review the 
situation on a regular basis by inviting the employee to further ‘Stage 2 – Formal Long Term Sickness 
Absence Meetings’ 

Outcome of the Stage 2 – Formal Long Term Sickness Absence Meeting 

18.9 Following each ‘Stage 2 – Formal Long Term Sickness Absence Meetings’ the People Manager should write 
to the employee confirming what was discussed and what measures will be put in place to enable the 
employee to return to work. 

Page 61



18 | P a g e          M a n a g i n g  S i c k  A b s e n c e  P o l i c y  
J a n u a r y  2 0 2 2   

V e r s i o n  1  
 

19. Stage 3 – Managing Long Term Absence 

19.1 Where the employee’s absence lasts 6 months or more and the prognosis is still unclear, appropriate 
timescales should be considered by the People Manager and a member of the HR Team to bring matters to 
a resolution.  

Invite to a Stage 3 – Formal Long Term Sickness Absence Meeting 

19.2 The People Manager should invite the employee to a formal hearing known as the ‘Stage 3 – Formal Long 
Term Sickness Absence Meeting’. The employee will be given 10 working days’ notice and the invite will set 
out the reason for the meeting. 

19.3 At the ‘Stage 3 – Formal Long Term Sickness Absence Meetings’ the employee is permitted to be 
accompanied by a Trade Union official or a workplace colleague of their choice and will be advised of their 
right to do so. 

19.4 A note-taker and a member of the PSPS HR Team will attend the ‘Stage 3 – Formal Long Term Sickness 
Absence Meetings’ and will record in writing the main points of the meeting. 

Conducting the Stage 3 – Formal Long Term Sickness Absence Meeting 

19.5 During the ‘Stage 3 – Formal Long Term Sickness Absence Meetings’ the People Manager should discuss the 
employees continued absence and the prospect of returning to work in the near future. The People 
Manager should also consider any reasonable adjustment or redeployment opportunities that may be 
available.  

19.6 If following the ‘Stage 3 – Formal Long Term Sickness Absence Meetings’ the prognosis is still unclear, and 
the employee is not fit to carry out their role in the foreseeable future e.g., 3-6 months, it will be necessary 
to discuss this with the employee. 

19.7 It may be appropriate to discuss the possibility of redeployment into a suitable alternative role, and, where 
necessary and appropriate, advice should be sought from Occupational Health.  

19.8 Where such action is necessary, it will be conducted supportively, sympathetically and with full information 
and advice to help the employee to make an effective transition. 

19.9 If there are no suitable opportunities for redeployment, or redeployment is unsuccessful, subject to 
consultation, it may be necessary for the People Manager and a member of the HR Team to consider ill-
health retirement or termination of employment on the grounds of medical incapability. 

Outcome of the Stage 3 – Formal Long Term Sickness Absence Meeting 

19.10 Following the ‘Stage 3 – Formal Long Term Sickness Absence Meeting’ the People Manager should write 
to the employee confirming the outcome. 

19.11  If the outcome is the Dismissal, an appeal against the decision must be submitted in writing to the Head 
of HR and Organisational Development at PSPS within 10 working days from the date of the outcome letter.  

20.  Occupational Health  

20.1 If it is considered appropriate to refer an employee to Occupational Health, then the People Manager should 
make this referral through the HR & Payroll Services portal. 

Page 62



19 | P a g e          M a n a g i n g  S i c k  A b s e n c e  P o l i c y  
J a n u a r y  2 0 2 2   

V e r s i o n  1  
 

20.2  Upon receipt of the Occupational Health report, the People Manager should invite the employee to an 
‘Occupational Health Review Meeting’.  

20.3 Where an Occupational Health referral has been made as part of a formal stage of Managing Sickness 
Absence then the ‘Occupational Health Review Meeting’ should be conducted as part of the ‘Formal 
Absence Review Meeting’. 

20.4 During the ‘Occupational Health Absence Review Meeting’ the People Manager should review the current 
level of absence and discuss the Occupational Health report with the employee in order to seek their views.  

20.5 Where the employee is likely to return to the same job in the near future then the People Manager should 
discuss with the employee whether they will require any particular support or reasonable short-term 
adjustments to assist in their return.  Reasonable adjustments may include: 

o Phased return to work;  

o the use of ergonomic equipment;  

o a change in working hours or the pattern of work. 

21. Appeal Procedure 

21.1 An employee has the right to appeal against the outcome following each stage of the formal short-term 
and formal long term sick absence meetings. 
 

21.2 An appeal can be submitted using the Appeal Form which is available on the HR & Payroll Services Portal 
via HR@pspsl.co.uk 

21.3 The Appeal Form should be submitted to the Head of HR and OD, PSPS HR Team within 10 working days 
from receipt of the decision letter confirming the outcome. 

21.4 The appeal Hearing will normally be carried out as soon as practicable after receipt of the Appeal. 
21.5 An appeal against the outcome will be heard by an Appeal Panel that has not previously been involved in 

the matter, comprising: 

o usually, a more senior manager who will act as the Chair and decision-maker about the grounds of the 
Appeal. 

o a representative from HR to provide advice and guidance to the Chair  

21.6 The Appeal Panel will consider the findings and outcome from the formal stage Absence Meeting. 

21.7 The purpose of the Appeal is not to reinvestigate the case but to establish the grounds for appeal: 

o the original decision was reached in a procedurally correct way 

o the action taken was reasonable  

o ensure consideration of any new relevant evidence or mitigating circumstances that may not have been 
previously disclosed.  

21.8 The Chair of the Appeal Panel will write to the employee notifying them of the time date of the Appeal. 

21.9 The Chair of the Appeal Panel will send, without undue delay, copies of any written submissions and 
documentary evidence. 

Page 63

mailto:HR@pspsl.co.uk


20 | P a g e          M a n a g i n g  S i c k  A b s e n c e  P o l i c y  
J a n u a r y  2 0 2 2   

V e r s i o n  1  
 

The Appeal Hearing 

21.9 The purpose of the Appeal Hearing is for the Appeal Panel to listen to the employee’s concerns and 
determine whether the outcome of the Absence Meeting was procedurally correct and to decide whether 
the outcome of the Absence Meeting was appropriate to the facts of the case.  

21.10 The Appeal Hearing should proceed in a formal, polite, and respectful manner.  

21.11 The employee will have the right to be accompanied by a workplace colleague or Trade Union 
Representative.  

21.12 The members of the Appeal Panel may put questions to the employee.  

21.13 The employee should present their final submission to the Appeal Panel.  

21.14 The Appeal Panel will consider its decision in private.  

21.15 The Chair will notify the outcome to the employee on behalf of the Panel, as soon as possible after the 
Appeal 

Following the Appeal Hearing  

21.16 Notification of the outcome of the Appeal Hearing will be sent to the employee’s home address, the 
employee’s work email if available and personal email, after provision of written consent from the 
employee.  

21.17 The decision of the Appeal Panel will also be conveyed to the employee’s People Manager. 

21.18 Where an appeal against an outcome is successful and the decision is not to terminate the employment, 
then reference to the action concerned will be removed from the employee's file and the employee will be 
notified accordingly in writing by the Chair of the Appeal Panel.  

21.19 Where an appeal against an outcome is not successful, there will be no change in the level of action 
previously decided at the conclusion of the formal stage Absence Meeting and the formal Absence 
Management procedure will continue.  

21.20 The employee who appealed will be notified as soon as possible in writing by the Chair of the Appeal Panel 
following the Appeal Hearing. 

 

  

Page 64



21 | P a g e          M a n a g i n g  S i c k  A b s e n c e  P o l i c y  
J a n u a r y  2 0 2 2   

V e r s i o n  1  
 

Appendix 1 :  

South Holland District Council’s (SHDC) Occupational Sick Pay Scheme  
 
Sick Pay Entitlements 

Continuous Service Sick Pay Entitlement 

During 1st year of service One month full pay and, after completing four months service, two months 
half pay 

During 2nd year of service Two months full pay and two months half pay 

During 3rd year of service Four months full pay and four months half pay 

During 4th year of service Five months full pay and five months half pay 

During 5th year of service Five months full pay and five months half pay 

During the 6th year of service, or more Six months full pay and six months half pay 
 

 

Page 65



This page is intentionally left blank



1 | P a g e   N A M E  O F  S &  E L C P  C O U N C I L   
C o d e  o f  C o n d u c t  

M a r c h  2 0 2 2  
  V e r s i o n  1  

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Council has confidence in the motivation, competence, and sense of responsibility of 

our employees. Employees are expected to provide the highest possible standard of service 

to the public, and, where it is part of their duties, to provide appropriate advice to 

colleagues and Members with impartiality. 

All employees must bring our values to life through their behaviours, ensuring that they 

carry out our daily activities in compliance with the Code of Conduct. Colleagues, Elected 

Members, and the Public are to be treated with dignity and respect at all times. 

All employees have an annual appraisal during which objectives are set, performance and 

the respect of the Code of Conduct are assessed and development opportunities, 

facilitated by appropriate training, are discussed. 

The Council pays particular attention to employees’ working conditions, especially the 

respect for individuals, the absence of discrimination, freedom of association, as well as the 

protection of our health and safety. No form of harassment is tolerated. 

The Council selects employees solely on the basis of merit and the specific capabilities of 

individual applicants. 

The Council develops our employees’ professional skills and careers without any 

discrimination, whether based on origin, gender, age, disability, sexual orientation, gender 

identity or affiliation with a political, religious, union organisation or minority group. 

Employees are expected, without fear of recrimination, to draw the attention of an 

appropriate Officer to any deficiency in service, suspected breach of the Code or Council 

procedures. 

  

Code of Conduct 

for Council 

Employees 

Council from S&ELCP 

Logo here 

Page 67



2 | P a g e   N A M E  O F  S &  E L C P  C O U N C I L   
C o d e  o f  C o n d u c t  

M a r c h  2 0 2 2  
  V e r s i o n  1  

 

CONTENTS  
Code of Conduct for Employees of the Council ................................................................. 4 

Introduction ......................................................................................................................4 

Principles of Conduct ........................................................................................................4 

Scope of the Code .............................................................................................................5 

Aim of the Code ................................................................................................................6 

Roles and Responsibilities -  Employees ............................................................................6 

Roles and Responsibilities - Managers and Senior Leadership .........................................7 

Code of Conduct for Employees of the Council ................................................................. 8 

1. Breach of the Code of Conduct .................................................................................. 8 

2. Appointments and other Employment Decisions ....................................................... 8 

3. Alcohol and Drugs ..................................................................................................... 9 

4 Anti-Corruption and Anti-Fraud .............................................................................. 10 

5. Bullying and Harassment at Work ........................................................................... 10 

6. Canvassing for an appointment ............................................................................... 11 

7. Close Circuit TV (CCTV)  in Council’s workplaces and properties ............................... 11 

8. Compliance with Council Policies and Procedures ................................................... 11 

9. Conduct at Work ..................................................................................................... 12 

Employees, Managers and Senior Leadership ................................................................. 12 

Employees .......................................................................................................................12 

Managers and Senior Leadership ...................................................................................13 

10. Conduct outside of Work ........................................................................................ 13 

11. Confidentiality ........................................................................................................ 13 

12. Conflict of Interests ................................................................................................ 14 

13. Contracts ................................................................................................................ 14 

14. Criminal Charges and Convictions ........................................................................... 15 

15. Repayment of Training fees. .................................................................................... 15 

16. Declaration of Financial and other interests ............................................................ 16 

17.  Financial Incentives, Gifts and Hospitality ............................................................... 16 

18.  Gifts ....................................................................................................................... 17 

19.  Hospitality .............................................................................................................. 18 

20.  Dress Code ............................................................................................................. 18 

21. Equal Opportunities, Diversity, and Inclusion .......................................................... 19 

22. Intellectual Property, Inventions and Patents ........................................................... 19 

23.  Management of Information - Information Disclosure ............................................. 20 

Page 68



3 | P a g e   N A M E  O F  S &  E L C P  C O U N C I L   
C o d e  o f  C o n d u c t  

M a r c h  2 0 2 2  
  V e r s i o n  1  

 

24.  Management of Information - Information Security ................................................ 20 

25.  Making a Purchase .................................................................................................. 20 

26. Making Information Public ...................................................................................... 20 

27.  Media ..................................................................................................................... 21 

28. Official Conduct at External Events .......................................................................... 21 

29.  Other Employment and Out of Work Activities ........................................................ 21 

30. Personal Standards of Conduct ............................................................................... 22 

31.  Personal Interests ................................................................................................... 22 

32.  Planning Applications ............................................................................................. 22 

33.  Politically Restricted Posts ...................................................................................... 23 

34.  Political Neutrality .................................................................................................. 23 

35.  Preferential Treatment ........................................................................................... 24 

36. Public Concern and Whistle Blowing ....................................................................... 24 

37. Relationships at  Work ............................................................................................ 24 

38.  Safeguarding .......................................................................................................... 24 

39.  Security .................................................................................................................. 25 

40.  Smoking at Work .................................................................................................... 25 

41.  Social Media and Online Activity ............................................................................. 25 

42.  Sponsorship of Community or Individual Activities .................................................. 26 

43.  Tenders .................................................................................................................. 26 

44.  Use of Council Property and Resources ................................................................... 26 

45.  Use of Mobile Phones ............................................................................................. 27 

46. Use of Computer Equipment ................................................................................... 27 

47.   Whistleblowing....................................................................................................... 28 

Please refer to section 38 of the Code. .......................................................................... 28 

48.  Working with Elected Members .............................................................................. 28 

49.  Working with Members of the Public ...................................................................... 28 

 

 
 

 

Page 69



4 | P a g e   N A M E  O F  S &  E L C P  C O U N C I L   
C o d e  o f  C o n d u c t  

M a r c h  2 0 2 2  
  V e r s i o n  1  

 

 

Code of Conduct for Employees of the Council  
 

Introduction 
 

INSERT NAME OF THE S & ELCP COUNCIL is accountable to the public served by each 

employee of the Council.   

Employees of the Council are responsible for maintaining our customers’ confidence and 

trust, through delivering high quality Council services at all times.  The public are entitled to 

the highest standards of conduct from all employees working for the Council.   

The Code of Conduct (the Code) explains the Council’s commitments and expectations in 

relation to our customers, to each other and everyone who works on our behalf. 

Every employee has an obligation to avoid conflicts between private interests and the 

employee’s duty to the Council, particularly where this could adversely affect the Council’s 

interests or in any way weaken public confidence in the conduct of the Council business. 

The Code has been designed to provide employees with clear information and specific 

guidance, which will ensure that the expected standards of conduct by Council employees 

are consistent and transparent. 

The Council’s performance and levels of service to the people served by the Council, are 

based on the values that guide all our activities.  

The Code describes how the Council’s employees put the values of the Council into practice 

every day.  

Principles of Conduct  
The basic principle of the Code is set out in Part 2 paragraph 2, Key National Provisions of 

the National Joint Council for Local Government Services, National Agreement on Pay and 

Conditions of Service (the National Agreement).  Similar provisions are incorporated in the 

National Conditions of Service of Chief Executive and Chief Officers 

This Code builds on, and is in keeping with, the seven principles of public life articulated by 

the Nolan Committee on Standards in Public Life (October 1994) 

➢ Public Duty - uphold the law and to act on all occasions in accordance with the public 

trust placed in them and act in the interests of the community as a whole.  

➢ Selflessness - act in the public interest at all times and take decisions based solely in 

terms of the public interest. They should not do so in order to gain financial or other 

material benefits for themselves, their families, or their friends. 

 ➢ Integrity - not place themselves under any financial or other obligation to outside 

individuals or organisations that might influence them in the performance of their official 

duties.  

Page 70



5 | P a g e   N A M E  O F  S &  E L C P  C O U N C I L   
C o d e  o f  C o n d u c t  

M a r c h  2 0 2 2  
  V e r s i o n  1  

 

➢ Objectivity - in carrying out public business, including making public appointments, 

awarding contracts, or recommending individuals for rewards and benefits, holders of 

public office should make choices on merit.  

➢ Accountability - are accountable for their decisions and actions to the public and 

must submit themselves to whatever scrutiny is appropriate to their office.  

➢ Openness - be as open as possible about all the decisions and actions they take. They 

should give reasons for their decisions and restrict information only when the wider public 

interest clearly demands it.  

➢ Honesty - act honestly. Have a duty to declare any private interests relating to their 

public duties and to take steps to resolve any conflicts arising in a way that protects the 

public interest.  

➢ Leadership - promote and support these principles by leadership and example in 

order to establish and maintain the trust and confidence of the public, to ensure the 

integrity of their council in conducting business.  

➢ Equality - promote equality of opportunity and not discriminate against any person by 

treating people with respect regardless of race, age, religion, gender, sexual orientation, 

disability, political opinion, marital status and whether or not a person has dependants.  

➢ Promoting Good Relations - act in a way that is conducive to promoting good 

relations by providing a positive example for the wider community to follow and that seeks 

to promote a culture of respect, equality and embrace diversity in all its forms 

 

Scope of the Code  
 

The Code of Conduct applies to all employees of the Council and supplements the terms 

and conditions of employment of each employee.   

The Code does not apply to Elected Members, who have their own Code of Conduct set out 

in the Council’s constitution.   

The protocol on Member/Officer Relations is also set out in the Constitution of the Council.  

Employees are required to familiarise themselves with the Code and also the additional 

documents, policies, and procedures, including all the Council’s HR policies, that should be 

read in conjunction with the Code.  These policies are available to employees on the 

Corporate Directory on First4HR or from your people manager/supervisor. 

The Code is applicable whether or not the work is undertaken at the employee’s normal 

place of work, which includes attending external training and work-related functions that 

take place outside of normal working hours.  

Suppliers, contractors, and external partners of the Council are expected to apply 

standards of performance that are equivalent to Council’s Code. 

Page 71



6 | P a g e   N A M E  O F  S &  E L C P  C O U N C I L   
C o d e  o f  C o n d u c t  

M a r c h  2 0 2 2  
  V e r s i o n  1  

 

Any breach of the Code may be treated as a disciplinary matter including gross misconduct 
which could lead to disciplinary action including dismissal where appropriate.  

Whilst the Code is comprehensive, it does not address every possible circumstance and, 
simply because a particular action may not be addressed within the Code, this does not 
condone that unacceptable action of a Council employee by omission.   

Any such alleged breach of the Code by an employee, which is not overtly included in this 
Code, may be treated as a disciplinary matter, up to and including allegations of gross 
misconduct , which could lead to formal disciplinary action,  including summary dismissal, 
where appropriate.  

 

Aim of the Code 
 

The Council requires all employees to adhere to a particular standard of behaviour and as 

such, this Code of Conduct defines these expectations.   

The Code is designed to provide employees with information and guidance, which will 

ensure that our standards are beyond question.  It aims to assist employees to perform 

their duties to the best of their abilities, at all times.  

This Code cannot cover every possibility and therefore employees are encouraged to seek 

further guidance from their immediate people manager or from the HR Team Public Sector 

Partnership Services Ltd (PSPS) , if there is any doubt about the standards of behaviour 

expected of the employee by this Code. 

Roles and Responsibilities -  Employees 
 

Employees and managers need to exercise good sense and judgement in deciding whether 

specific situations fall within the Code or not. For employees a key guideline is when in 

doubt as to whether the code applies, ask your manager. 

It is the responsibility of each employee to read, and sign this Code of Conduct to state 

they understand and will work in accordance with the Code to: 

• maintain conduct of the highest standard such that public confidence in their 

integrity and the Council’s integrity is sustained; 

• be fair and honest in all activities at work; 

• incorporate and promote equality and diversity in the work of the Council; 

• treat all customers, clients, associated persons and colleagues with courtesy, 

dignity, and respect; 

• ask for clarification on any aspects of the Code when there is uncertainty. 

The Council places trust and confidence in its employees to adhere to their contract of 

employment, undertake their role to the standards required of them and operate in 

compliance with agreed Council policies and procedures.   

Employees of the Council must always comply with the requirements of the law.  

Page 72



7 | P a g e   N A M E  O F  S &  E L C P  C O U N C I L   
C o d e  o f  C o n d u c t  

M a r c h  2 0 2 2  
  V e r s i o n  1  

 

Trust and confidence between the Council and the employee can be broken if an 

employee: 

o is not truthful or honest in their dealings with the Council, our customers, or their 

colleagues and supervisors/Service Manager; 

o is not truthful or honest in their activities outside of the Council which may have an 

impact on the capabilities to do their job, including failure to inform the Council of 

any criminal charges or convictions; 

o purposefully withholds information during the recruitment and selection process in 

order to obtain employment; 

o seeks to deceive the Council by withholding information, providing false 

information, falsifying/damaging/altering records and/or documentation; 

o misrepresents the Council in their dealings with others both internally and 

externally (i.e., providing a statement to the media); 

o fails to respect and adhere to Council policies and procedures; 

o breaches their contract of employment and the terms associated with it; 

o brings, or risk bringing, the Council’s name into disrepute; 

o commits any act of misconduct whether at work or outside of work. 

 

Roles and Responsibilities - Managers and Senior Leadership  
In addition to the above, Managers and Senior Leadership of the Council will : 

• role model the required standards of behaviour; 

• reinforce the required standards of behaviour through appropriate communications 

with their teams; 

• explain the provisions of the Code to promote understanding; 

• coach, support and provide feedback to employees on their performance in relation 

to the required standards of conduct; 

• take appropriate action at the earliest opportunity to deal with non-compliance 

with the standards of the Code. 

 

  

Page 73



8 | P a g e   N A M E  O F  S &  E L C P  C O U N C I L   
C o d e  o f  C o n d u c t  

M a r c h  2 0 2 2  
  V e r s i o n  1  

 

Code of Conduct for Employees of the Council  
 

1. Breach of the Code of Conduct 
 

1.1 All employees are responsible for ensuring that the Code of Conduct is followed at 

all times.  

 

1.2 A breach of the Code may lead to disciplinary action.  Please refer to the Council’s 

agreed Disciplinary Policy for further information. 

 

1.3 The Council understand that an employee may need advice from their people 

manager or HR at PSPS via HR@pspsl.co.uk in order to ensure compliance with the 

Code. 

 

1.4 Employees are encouraged to speak to their people manager if they have concerns 

about anything they observe at work, which may be a potential breach of this Code. 

 

1.5 If an employee is suspected of being in breach of this Code they will be formally 

investigated in line with the Council’s Disciplinary procedure, available on the 

Corporate Directory on First4HR.   

 

1.6 The employee will be advised of the alleged breach and will be informed of the 

procedure for investigating this potential breach.   

 

1.7 At the conclusion of the investigation, the employee will be advised in writing of the 

outcome and whether a disciplinary hearing will be convened because there is a 

disciplinary case for the employee to answer in regard to a breach or breaches of 

the Code.   

 

1.8 In the exceptional circumstance where an employee does not feel comfortable 

raising a concern to their manager or the HR team at PSPS via HR@pspsl.co.uk , the 

Council has a Whistle Blowing Policy, which is available on the Corporate Directory 

on First4HR. 

 

2. Appointments and other Employment Decisions 
 

2.1 Employees involved in the appointment of Council employees must follow the 

Council’s recruitment and selection procedures at all times.  

 

2.2 Employees who are involved in recruitment campaigns should ensure that any 

appointments are made purely on merit. 

 

Page 74

mailto:HR@pspsl.co.uk
mailto:HR@pspsl.co.uk


9 | P a g e   N A M E  O F  S &  E L C P  C O U N C I L   
C o d e  o f  C o n d u c t  

M a r c h  2 0 2 2  
  V e r s i o n  1  

 

2.3 Employees should not be involved in an appointment if they are related to an 

applicant or have a personal relationship outside of work.  Only with Assistant 

Director & Head of HR (PSPS) authorisation can this be permitted. 

 

2.4 Employees should not be involved in decisions about discipline, promotion or pay 

adjustments where the employee is a relative or in a close personal relationship 

with the employee who is the subject of such a decision. 

 

3. Alcohol and Drugs 
 

3.1 It is important that employees are fit for work and remain so in order to perform 

their duties.   

 

3.2 Alcohol consumption is not permitted on Council premises and the Council prohibits 

the use, possession, distribution, or sale of drugs in the workplace or when on 

Council business.  

 

3.3 Employees must not: 

 

• be under the influence of illegal drugs when reporting for work, including 

home working arrangements; 

• be under the influence of alcohol when reporting for work including home 

working arrangements; 

• be in the possession of, distribute, or consume illegal or controlled drugs 

(other than appropriately prescribed medication to be consumed by 

themselves only) in the workplace, in a Council vehicle, or whilst on duty; 

• drink alcohol or be under the influence of alcohol or illegal drugs whilst in 

the workplace or in a Council vehicle, regardless of whether on duty at the 

time; 

• drink alcohol or be under the influence of alcohol or illegal drugs whilst on 

call; 

• present an unsatisfactory and unprofessional image whilst at work due to 

the consumption of alcohol or influence of drugs during breaks or 

immediately before work. 

 

3.4 The Council’s policy for Health and Safety and the procedure for Safe Driving at 

Work should be read in conjunction with this Code and applied accordingly for 

employees who have driving duties within their job role. 

 

3.5 If an employee is allegedly in breach of any of the above, the Council will consider 

this a breach of the Code of Conduct and internal investigations may commence 

which may require contact with the Police.  This is regardless of whether the breach 

was as a result of a drug and/or alcohol dependency.   

 

Page 75



10 | P a g e   N A M E  O F  S &  E L C P  C O U N C I L   
C o d e  o f  C o n d u c t  

M a r c h  2 0 2 2  
  V e r s i o n  1  

 

3.6 If an employee has an alcohol dependency or drug dependency problem this will be 

considered as a treatable illness and practical support will be offered as far as 

possible with intervention from Occupational Health.  Should this be the case, the 

employee must contact their Service Manager or HR (PSPS) for support and 

appropriate measures and intervention will take place.   

 

3.7 Further support is also available through our Employee Assistance Programme 

(EAP) counselling and support service and from a variety of national support 

services including https://adfam.org.uk/help-for-families/useful-organisations 

 

3.8 If an employee is on medication to support an illness or condition, which may have 

negative side effects, they must inform their people manager/Service Manager.  A 

risk assessment will be completed, and a temporary reasonable adjustment may 

need to be considered should this have a bearing on the role the employee 

undertakes.   

 

4 Anti-Corruption and Anti-Fraud 
 

4.1 Any suspicion of fraud or corruption by an employee will be dealt with seriously and 

any alleged wrongdoing will be dealt with, firstly, in accordance with the Council’s 

Anti-Corruption and Fraud Policy and may include criminal action, where 

appropriate.  

 

4.2 If an employee is suspected of committing fraudulent activity or corruption, the 

Assistant Director and the Section 151 Officer must be informed as a matter of 

urgency in accordance with the Council’s Disciplinary Policy and Anti-Fraud 

procedure. 

 

4.3 If an employee suspects fraudulent activity or corruption, they must report it 

immediately to their People Manager, Assistant Director or HR at PSPS via 

HR@pspsl.co.uk   

 

5. Bullying and Harassment at Work  
 

5.1 Employees should respect colleagues, Elected Members, and the public at all times.  

 

5.2 All employees are responsible for ensuring that there is no tolerance for bullying or 

harassment of any employee at work and any such conduct by an employee will be 

investigated as potential gross misconduct in accordance with the Council’s 

Disciplinary Policy. 

 

5.3 Under The Criminal Justice and Public Order Act 1994 and the Harassment Act 1997, 

it is a criminal offence to harass another person.   

 

Page 76

https://adfam.org.uk/help-for-families/useful-organisations
mailto:HR@pspsl.co.uk


11 | P a g e   N A M E  O F  S &  E L C P  C O U N C I L   
C o d e  o f  C o n d u c t  

M a r c h  2 0 2 2  
  V e r s i o n  1  

 

5.4 Please refer to the Council’s Disciplinary Policy and Dignity at Work Policy for 

further information. 

 

 

6. Canvassing for an appointment 
6.1 Employees should not directly or indirectly seek the support of any Councillor for an 

appointment, promotion or pay adjustment, whether this is for themselves or 

another person. 

 

7. Close Circuit TV (CCTV) in Council’s workplaces and properties 

7.1 CCTV and camera footage is in operation throughout certain Council premises and 

equipment to ensure the well-being and safety of Council employees, members of 

the public, contractors, consultants, agency workers and customers.  

 

7.2 Cameras are located in a number of Council buildings, Council depots, and on the 

Council’s refuse vehicles.   

 

7.3 The Council will not use CCTV for monitoring the work of employees or finding out 

whether or not they are complying with internal policies, procedures, and Code of 

Conduct.   However, the use of CCTV footage may be considered by decision makers 

during formal investigations if it is necessary and proportionate to the allegation of 

misconduct being investigated.   

 

7.4 The Council follows the Code of Practice from the Information Commissioner’s 

Office (ICO) in respect of the use of CCTV which can be found on the ICO’s website 

https://ico.org.uk/media/1542/cctv-code-of-practice.pdf  

 

7.5 Further details about CCTV and cameras on Council sites and equipment are 

included in the Council’s Data Protection Policy and the Council’s Privacy Notice 

which are available in the Corporate Directory on First4HR 

 

7.6 Any query about the use of CCTV at work may be obtained from the Council’s Data 

Protection Officer or HR at PSPS via HR@pspsl.co.uk  

 

8. Compliance with Council Policies and Procedures  

8.1 Employees are expected to be aware of, and comply with, all relevant legislation, 

including but not limited to: 

o Equality Act 2010; 

o Health & Safety at Work Act 1974; 

Page 77

https://ico.org.uk/media/1542/cctv-code-of-practice.pdf
mailto:HR@pspsl.co.uk


12 | P a g e   N A M E  O F  S &  E L C P  C O U N C I L   
C o d e  o f  C o n d u c t  

M a r c h  2 0 2 2  
  V e r s i o n  1  

 

o General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) 

o Data Protection Act 2018; 

o Freedom of Information Act 2000. 

 

8.2 In addition, employees are expected to comply with all Council policies and 

procedures relating to their employment.   

 

8.3 If an employee is a member of a professional institute or association, they are also 

obliged to comply with any professional standards of practice associated with that 

organisation. 

 

9. Conduct at Work  

Employees, Managers and Senior Leadership 

Employees  

9.1 All employees are expected to work within the scope of their contract of 

employment, undertaking the specific duties and responsibilities of their role, and 

carrying out the reasonable instructions of their people manager.  

 

9.2 The way an employee behaves during work and outside of work may be considered 

unacceptable behaviour and cause damage to other colleagues, the public and the 

reputation of the Council.  Any such unacceptable behaviour may impact the 

mutual trust and confidence of the employment relationship. 

 

9.3 Examples of unacceptable behaviours by an employee whether at work or outside 

the work hours are (please note: this list of examples is not exhaustive and an 

omission of a specific example of unacceptable behaviour in this list will not mean 

that action under the Council’s Disciplinary Policy will not be taken: 

 

o Use of rude and offensive language 

o Ignoring colleagues and refusal to interact with colleagues  

o Making vexatious allegations against colleagues 

o Slamming doors or throwing items at colleagues or around the workplace 

o Failing to cooperate with workplace investigations 

 

9.4 All employees of the Council  will :  

 

o maintain conduct of the highest standard such that public confidence in 

their integrity and the Council’s integrity is sustained; 

Page 78



13 | P a g e   N A M E  O F  S &  E L C P  C O U N C I L   
C o d e  o f  C o n d u c t  

M a r c h  2 0 2 2  
  V e r s i o n  1  

 

o be fair and honest in all activities at work; 

o incorporate and promote equality and diversity in the work of the Council; 

o treat all customers, clients, associated persons and colleagues with courtesy, 

dignity, and respect; 

o ask for clarification on any aspects of the Code when there is uncertainty. 

 

Managers and Senior Leadership 

 

In addition to the above, People Managers and Senior Leadership will : 

o role model the required standards of behaviour; 

o reinforce the required standards of behaviour through appropriate 

communications with their teams; 

o explain the provisions of the Code to promote understanding; 

o coach, support and provide feedback to employees on their performance in 

relation to the required standards of conduct; 

o take appropriate action at the earliest opportunity to deal with non-

compliance with the standards of the Code 

 

10. Conduct outside of Work  

10.1 There is, by law, a respect of private life and protection of the personal data of all 

employees, but employees should avoid doing anything outside of their working 

hours that might adversely affect the reputation of the Council, bring the Council 

into disrepute, or affect the employee’s ability to carry out their work duties during 

work hours. 

 

10.2 Should such misconduct by an employee occur, the Council reserves the right to 

implement formal disciplinary action in accordance with the Council’s Disciplinary 

Policy. 

 

11. Confidentiality 

11.1 Many employees are in a position to obtain information in the normal course of 

their employment which is highly confidential, politically, and commercially 

sensitive, or is personal information protected by data protection regulations. 

 

11.2 Employees may not disclose confidential information, whether verbally, in writing 

or electronically. Employees must not use any information for a personal reason or 

benefit, nor should they pass it on to others who might use it in such a way.  This 

Page 79



14 | P a g e   N A M E  O F  S &  E L C P  C O U N C I L   
C o d e  o f  C o n d u c t  

M a r c h  2 0 2 2  
  V e r s i o n  1  

 

includes information about the work of the Council, its employees or members and 

the public.  

 

11.3 Employees must make themselves aware of the requirements of Data Protection 

Act and Freedom of Information Act 2000 and obtain advice from the Council’s 

designated Data Protection Officer, where applicable. 

 

11.4 Employees are responsible for the security of information in their possessions and 

must ensure that it remains secure at all times. Appropriate security measures 

should be taken by employees when they leave their desk or when working from 

home or from another location to prevent any data breaches. 

 

11.5 When an employee leaves the employment of the Council, they must still respect 

the confidentiality of official information that has been made available to them in 

the course of their duties and not use this information for private, commercial, and 

political gain. 

 

11.6 Inappropriate disclosure of information or a breach of these rules in any other way 

will render employees liable to disciplinary action and could lead to criminal 

prosecution. 

 

12. Conflict of Interests 

12.1 An employee of the Council should not put themselves in a position where a conflict 

will arise between the employee’s public duty and the employee’s private interests 

 

12.2 An employee who is employed in a role involved in the determination of regulatory 

matters e.g., Planning, Licensing, Housing, must take no part, either directly or 

indirectly, in considering any application made by the employee concerned,  work 

colleagues, a relative, friend, close associate, neighbour or where the employee 

may have any interest in any such matter, whether business or personal.  

 

13. Contracts 

13.1 Under the law, Council employees have a specific responsibility to declare any 

interest, which could be to their personal financial advantage, in contracts being 

negotiated or considered by the Council; breaches of law are punishable by fine.  

This is also applicable to contract negotiations which may be to the personal and/or 

financial benefit of a friend or relative of the Council employee. 

 

Page 80



15 | P a g e   N A M E  O F  S &  E L C P  C O U N C I L   
C o d e  o f  C o n d u c t  

M a r c h  2 0 2 2  
  V e r s i o n  1  

 

13.2 If an employee becomes aware of any such contract, they must give the Council 

written notice of the fact and inform their Service Manager, without delay.  This 

also applies if the advantage is to the employee’s friend or family member rather 

than themselves. 

 

13.3 Employees may not accept any fee or reward offered because of their position, 

other than their proper salary/wage and the internal procurement process must be 

implemented and followed at all times when negotiating contract suppliers. 

 

14. Criminal Charges and Convictions 

14.1 If an employee is facing criminal charges or investigation, they must tell their People 

Manager/Service Manager as soon as possible.    

 

14.2 If an employee is subsequently charged or cautioned with regard to any crime, 

whether on or off duty, this must be reported without delay to their Service/People 

Manager.  The only exception would be minor driving offences for speeding but only 

where driving is not integral to the employee’s role or if the employee is not required 

to drive in order to undertake the full duties of their role; including driving to business 

meetings, site visits etc. Employees are required to declare driving offences (including 

speeding) if they occur in their own vehicles whilst being used for work purposes.  

 

14.3 Where criminal charges or a criminal investigation has been initiated against an 

employee, the Council will assess the impact (if any) this may have on the 

employee’s ability to fulfil the duties of their role.   

 

14.4 Failure to disclose criminal charges or police investigation by a Council employee 

will result in an investigation in accordance with the Council’s Disciplinary Policy.   

 

14.5 The Council reserves the right to initiate the formal stage Disciplinary Policy or 

Performance Improvement Policy following appropriate internal investigations. 

 

15. Repayment of Training fees. 

 

15.1 Any loans, training debt or other payments needing to be made to the Council prior 

to leaving will be deducted from an employee’s final pay.   However, if the debt is 

larger than the amount being paid in the final salary, a repayment agreement will 

need to be made with the Council prior to last day of employment, on the 

outstanding monies will be paid back. 

Page 81



16 | P a g e   N A M E  O F  S &  E L C P  C O U N C I L   
C o d e  o f  C o n d u c t  

M a r c h  2 0 2 2  
  V e r s i o n  1  

 

 

16. Declaration of Financial and other interests 

 

16.1 An employee is required by S117 of the Local Government Act 1972 to declare any 

financial interest, whether direct or indirect, in any existing or proposed contract. 

The declaration should be made, in writing, to your Head of Service/Assistant 

Director/Deputy Chief Executive who will inform the Council’s Section 151 Officer of 

the contents of the declaration. 

 

16.2 An employee should also declare other relevant interests such as ownership of or 

interests in any land, property, or business other than an employee’s private 

dwelling i.e., business, or other residential properties. The nature of the interest 

should also be declared i.e., rental properties.  

 

16.3 An employee may also be required to declare other interests depending on an 

employee job role. For example, if an employee work in Planning, an employee may 

be required to declare any interests in any planning applications such as close 

family members etc. or if an employee work in Housing, an employee may need to 

declare any relationships with housing benefit claimants whether they be close 

personal or business relationships such as landlord/tenant.  

 

16.4 Any such declaration should be made to HR at PSPS and will be recorded on a 

central Declaration of Interests Register.  

 

16.5 This information will be held until HR at PSPS are notified that the interest no longer 

exists. 

 

16.6 Failure to declare an interest by an employee to the Council may result in an 

investigation in accordance with the Council’s Disciplinary Policy. 

 

17.  Financial Incentives, Gifts and Hospitality 
 

17.1 Section 117 of the Local Government Act 1972 provides that it is an offence for an 

employee to accept any fee or reward other than the proper remuneration for the 

role in the course of their duties.  

 

17.2 An employee of the Council  is personally responsible for all decisions connected 

with the acceptance or offer of gifts or hospitality and for avoiding risk of damage 

to public confidence in local government. 

 

Page 82



17 | P a g e   N A M E  O F  S &  E L C P  C O U N C I L   
C o d e  o f  C o n d u c t  

M a r c h  2 0 2 2  
  V e r s i o n  1  

 

17.3 The receipt and detail of gifts and hospitality should always be reported to the 

people manager or HR@PSPSl.co.uk so that a record can be kept in the Declaration 

of Interests, Gifts and Hospitality Register.  

 

17.4 An employee should also ensure that no direct or indirect personal gain is obtained 

through the purchasing of items for the council. For example, if an employee has a 

personal loyalty card to collect points an employee should not use this whilst 

making purchases on behalf of the council.  

 

17.5 An employee may also be a member of a cashback type arrangement online either 

for an employee’s own benefit or an organisation with which an employee has a 

connection. An employee should not gain from the use of such arrangements whilst 

purchasing on behalf of the council. If any arrangements are in place which may 

benefit the council i.e., donation of points to a recognised Charity this may be 

acceptable. 

 

18.  Gifts 
18.1 it is a serious criminal offence for employee to receive or give in a corrupt manner 

any gift, loan, fee, reward, or advantage from or to another person to do or not to 

do anything or to favour or disfavour.  

 

18.2 If an allegation is made, an employee should be able to prove that any such rewards 

have not been corruptly obtained. If an employee is at all unsure about any offer of 

a gift an employee should clarify this with the Monitoring Officer. 

 

18.3 An employee should not accept significant personal gifts from contractors, outside 

suppliers or members of the public, although the Council will allow employees to 

keep insignificant items of token value such as pens, calendars, and diaries.  

 

18.4  In addition, the following may assist employees as it is not just sufficient to make 

declarations where gifts etc are received. There should be serious thought given to 

whether anything more than a token gesture should be accepted e.g., pens, diaries, 

boxes of chocolates.  

 

18.5 Where accepting anything else is not appropriate but it would cause offence to not 

accept, the item could be accepted and given to a registered recognised Charity. 

 

18.6 Any gifts relating to a regulatory function should be declined by an employee as this 

could be viewed as seeking to influence the outcome of a regulatory decision.  

 

18.7 Any prizes won by employees in the course of their work i.e., through competitions 

at events should be carefully considered and advice should be sought if in doubt.  

 

Page 83

mailto:HR@PSPSl.co.uk


18 | P a g e   N A M E  O F  S &  E L C P  C O U N C I L   
C o d e  o f  C o n d u c t  

M a r c h  2 0 2 2  
  V e r s i o n  1  

 

19.  Hospitality 
19.1 There are no hard and fast rules about the acceptance or refusal of hospitality or 

tokens of goodwill. For example, working lunches may be an appropriate way of 

doing business provided they are approved either by the Assistant Director or by a 

Head of Service and provided no extravagant costs are  involved. In the same way it 

may be reasonable for an employee to represent the Council at a social function or 

sporting event organised by outside persons or bodies.  

 

19.2 Employees of the Council attending such functions or events as part of an official 

Council delegation (e.g., official opening of sports/art facilities) are exempt from the 

above registration requirement, providing their attendance has been approved by 

the relevant Director or Head of Service. 

 

19.3 When hospitality has to be declined, those making the offer should be courteously 

but firmly informed of the procedures and standards operated by the Council and 

told why hospitality cannot be accepted. 

 

19.4 When receiving authorised hospitality an employee should be particularly sensitive 

as to its timing in relation to decisions which the Council may be taking affecting 

those providing the hospitality. 

 

19.5 Acceptance by employees of hospitality through attendance at relevant 

conferences and courses is acceptable where it is clear the hospitality is corporate 

rather than personal and where the employee is satisfied that any purchasing 

decisions will not be compromised.  

 

19.6 Where visits to inspect equipment, supplies or services are required, employees 

should ensure that the Council meets the cost of such visits to avoid jeopardising 

the integrity of subsequent purchasing decisions. 

 

20.  Dress Code 
20.1 Employees should be suitably and appropriately dressed for their work duties and 

responsibilities ensuring they maintain a good level of cleanliness, personal hygiene 

and well-groomed in appearance.   

 

20.2 Employees must be appropriately dressed for the tasks of their work, ensuring they 

wear appropriate safety clothing and equipment, personal protective equipment 

(PPE) where required by Health & Safety policy, regulations, and instructions from 

their manager/Service Manager. 

 

20.3 There is an expectation that employees will be dressed professionally.  Sportswear, 

including swim wear, denim or training footwear will not be acceptable whilst on 

duty for the Council unless appropriate for the role.   

 

Page 84



19 | P a g e   N A M E  O F  S &  E L C P  C O U N C I L   
C o d e  o f  C o n d u c t  

M a r c h  2 0 2 2  
  V e r s i o n  1  

 

20.4 Service Managers may apply discretion to the dress code where job roles dictate 

the need to adapt the uniform, i.e., for attendance on site visits. 

 

20.5 Employees should be mindful when wearing their Council uniform outside of work 

hours in the public domain and the perception of the general public.  

 

20.6 Employees must act in a way that will not bring the Council or themselves into 

disrepute.  Hi-vis jackets and other PPE uniform must be removed when employees 

are in their personal time (outside of working hours) in public places.   

 

21. Equal Opportunities, Diversity, and Inclusion  
21.1 Employees must not discriminate against others and must comply with the Equality 

Act 2010.  In turn, the Council should ensure compliance with this Act.  Further 

information including the expectations and standards of behaviour are detailed 

within the Council’s Equal Opportunities and Diversity Policy. 

  

21.2 In this regard employees must: be made aware of their obligations under the 

Equality Act 2010 with other relevant equality law and ensure there are no barriers 

for all employees to succeed at work irrespective of the employee’s race, colour, 

gender, marital status, sexuality, religion, disability, or age. 

 

21.3 Employees must  

• undertake any training on policies agreed by the Council relating to equality 

issues;  

• not take discriminatory action or decisions or encourage or put pressure on fellow 

employees to take discriminatory action or decisions;  

• report any concerns about discriminatory conduct to their line manager or other 

appropriate employee.  

 

22. Intellectual Property, Inventions and Patents  
22.1 Intellectual property is a legal term that refers to the rights and obligations received 

and granted, including copyright.   

 

22.2 Ownership of intellectual property is determined by considering the circumstance in 

which it was conceived and developed.  

 

22.3 The Council owns the copyright in materials made by or under their directions. This 

includes inventions, computer coding, drawings, and original creative writings. 

Whether an employee or contractor, copyright in material produced in the course 

of work belongs to the employing Council, unless otherwise explicitly provided for 

in an employee’s contract of employment.   

 

Page 85



20 | P a g e   N A M E  O F  S &  E L C P  C O U N C I L   
C o d e  o f  C o n d u c t  

M a r c h  2 0 2 2  
  V e r s i o n  1  

 

22.4 Inventions and Patents made before 1 June 1978 are the property of the employer 

if made in the course of that employer’s employment.  However, the Patents Act 

1977 states that after the 1 June 1978 inventions are only the property of the 

employer if: 

 

• They have been made in the course of the employee’s normal duties; 

 

• They have been made in the course of duties specifically assigned to the employee 

and where invention might reasonably be expected, or; 

 

• It was made in the course of the employee’s duties and at the time the employee 

had (because of the nature of their duties and particular responsibilities arising 

from them) a special obligation to further the interests of the employer. 

 

23.  Management of Information - Information Disclosure 
23.1 Employees should only give information to the Press if they are specifically asked to 

do so by Senior Management.   

 

23.2 Employees should inform their Assistant Director and Service Manager and the 

Manager for Communications if they receive any requests for information from the 

press/media. 

 

24.  Management of Information - Information Security 
24.1 Employees must not misuse their position by seeking information which they do not 

need to know to enable them to carry out their duties.  To assist this, employees 

who are users of the Council’s information systems must keep their equipment and 

logging in arrangements secure to ensure no unauthorised access.    

 

24.2 Employees should refer to the ICT policy for further guidance where necessary. 

 

25.  Making a Purchase 
25.1 Employees are free to buy surplus Council goods, which may be offered for sale to 

the public, unless the employee has been officially involved with their sale, 

obtained special knowledge about their condition by virtue of their position, or 

intend buying them to resell rather than for personal use. 

 

26. Making Information Public  
26.1 Having stressed the need for the Council to maintain confidentiality where 

appropriate, the Council does want employees to operate openly and to let the 

public know what the Council are doing. 

 

26.2 All meetings of Full Council and some committees are open to the public and only 

rarely does the Council conduct business in private as allowed by law.  The Council 

Page 86



21 | P a g e   N A M E  O F  S &  E L C P  C O U N C I L   
C o d e  o f  C o n d u c t  

M a r c h  2 0 2 2  
  V e r s i o n  1  

 

try to ensure that information becomes public knowledge at the earliest stage, both 

so that the public is kept informed, and to reduce the likelihood of it being misused 

by individuals ‘in the know’.  We rely on the honesty of all our employees in this 

matter. 

 

26.3 The Press are, of course, one of the main channels through which we can keep the 

public informed.  They are entitled to attend most Council meetings.  Beyond that, 

we provide further information through briefings or press releases. 

 

27.  Media  
 

27.1 Employees should be conscious of the sensitivity of some requests for information 

from the media. In responding to these requests, only the Chief Executive, 

Directors, Senior Managers, and the Communications Team should speak directly 

with the media.  Other members of staff may deal with them providing they have 

permission to do so from their Director or Senior Manager 

 

28. Official Conduct at External Events 
28.1 At all times, when representing the Council at external events, employees will 

conduct themselves professionally.  This should not subject the Council to any 

claims of an employee’s behaviour bringing the Council into disrepute or causing 

damage to the Council’s reputation.  

 

28.2 Even whilst not on duty at work, employees of the Council are expected to conduct 

themselves in a manner to avoid damaging the Council’s reputation 

  

29.  Other Employment and Out of Work Activities  
29.1 Employees should be aware that their contract prevents them from taking outside 

employment which conflicts with the Council interests. This encompasses 

employment both within, and outside the boundaries of the Council area of 

responsibility. 

 

29.2 Employees are required to obtain written consent from their Service Manager 

before taking up any outside employment. The written consent will be recorded in 

the personal documents on the employee’s record on First4HR. It should also be 

formally recorded in the Register of Interests held by HR.  If the request to take 

outside employment is from a manager, the consent must be obtained from an 

Assistant Director or another appropriate Senior Manager. 

 

29.3 In all cases Managers must ensure employees remain compliant with the working 

time regulations.  Advice can be provided by the PSPS HR Team via HR@pspsl.co.uk 

. 

 

Page 87

mailto:HR@pspsl.co.uk


22 | P a g e   N A M E  O F  S &  E L C P  C O U N C I L   
C o d e  o f  C o n d u c t  

M a r c h  2 0 2 2  
  V e r s i o n  1  

 

29.4 Employees must not engage in private work in Council work time, on council 

property, in Council uniform or using council equipment.  

 

29.5 Employees must also ensure that they clearly communicate that any private work 

that has been authorised by the Council is not being undertaken in association with 

the Council. 

 

30. Personal Standards of Conduct  
30.1 The basic principle is stated in Part 2 paragraph 2, Key National Provisions of the 

National Joint Council for Local Government Services, National Agreement on Pay 

and Conditions of Service. 

 

 

31.  Personal Interests 
31.1 Employees must register any personal interest they or their family members have 

which may conflict with the Council interests, by providing written notification to 

their people manager who will then forward to HR at PSPS via HR@pspsl.co.uk.  

 

31.2 Such interests include, but may not be limited to employment by, substantial 

shareholding in, or membership of any company or body, including any voluntary 

organisation, which has or may enter into a contractual relationship with the 

Council, or which is involved in campaigning or lobbying in respect of any Council 

activity 

 

31.3 At no time should an employee allow the impression to be created to another 

person or group of people that they are, or may be, using their position to promote 

a private or personal interest. 

 

31.4 A personal interest of an employee may include interests which may impact on the  

duties of the employee of the Council, including any hobbies or other interests that 

may impact the output of work e.g., something that mainly occurs during the night 

if the employee is due to work the next day or an interest which may cause absence 

from work such as particularly dangerous sports. 

 

31.5 Membership of a secret society by an employee of the Council must be disclosed in 

confidence to the employee’s Service Manager/ Assistant Director or Monitoring 

Officer and advice from HR at PSPS should be sought in this situation. 

 

32.  Planning Applications 
32.1 If an employee is submitting a planning application, they must ensure that they 

correctly complete the page on the application, ‘declaring the employee’s interests 

or relationships with any member of the Council.   

 

Page 88

mailto:HR@pspsl.co.uk


23 | P a g e   N A M E  O F  S &  E L C P  C O U N C I L   
C o d e  o f  C o n d u c t  

M a r c h  2 0 2 2  
  V e r s i o n  1  

 

32.2 This also relates to persons that may be related to the employee or to an elected 

member.   

 

32.3 Planning applications submitted by, or on behalf of, a Council employee, or by their 

spouse/partner or parent if they are living with them may be determined by the 

Planning Committee in the interests of transparency when considered alongside the 

Councils Scheme of Delegation which may include consideration by the Council’s 

Monitoring Officer. 

 

32.4 Where Council officers, for example, an Environmental Health Officer, may have an 

interest in the application (such as through consultation attached to the 

application) – personal interest must be declared, and the steps outlined under 

personal interests must be followed. 

 

33.  Politically Restricted Posts  
33.1 Section 1 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 provides for certain posts 

in Local Government employment to be deemed “Politically Restricted”.   These 

posts are available for viewing on the Council’s intranet. 

 

33.2 This means that holders of posts so designated are barred from holding elected 

office in the European Parliament, The House of Commons or Local Government 

except Parish and Town Councils.  Post holders are also disqualified from : 

 

• holding office in a political party; 

• canvassing of elections; 

• speaking or writing publicly on matters of party-political controversy. 

 

 

34.  Political Neutrality 
34.1 Employees serve their Council as a whole.  It therefore follows they must serve all 

Members of the Council and not just those of the politically controlling group and 

must ensure that the individual rights of all Members are respected. For shared 

employees and employees working on joint projects, this requirement includes a 

duty to all the Members of all Councils. 

 

34.2 Employees may be required to advise political groups represented in the Council on 

matters related to the Council’s business. They must do so in ways that do not 

compromise their political neutrality and should make themselves equally available 

to any and all political groupings. 

 

34.3 By law, enforcement of the political neutrality of specific posts results in the 

position being considered “politically restricted”. Further details of political 

restriction, and a list of the positions subject to such, are available on the Council’s 

Intranet. 

 

Page 89



24 | P a g e   N A M E  O F  S &  E L C P  C O U N C I L   
C o d e  o f  C o n d u c t  

M a r c h  2 0 2 2  
  V e r s i o n  1  

 

35.  Preferential Treatment 
35.1 Employees may not purchase, for their private use, goods or services offered on 

preferential terms by a Council supplier or contractor if these terms are offered 

because of their own dealings with that company as an employee of the Council. 

 

36. Public Concern and Whistle Blowing  
 

36.1 The Council does not tolerate any form of malpractice. As an employee of the 

Council, an employee has important part to play in reporting any concerns and a 

employee will be expected to co-operate with investigations. 

 

36.2 The Council recognises that it may be difficult for an employee to report legitimate 

public concerns though fear of victimisation or reprisal. In such circumstances, an 

employee should follow the Council’s Whistle Blowing Policy and procedure. 

 

37. Relationships at Work  
 

37.1 Where personal relationships arise, which could cause conflict under certain 

circumstances, the Council may need to consider the impact and implications.   

 

37.2 If a personal relationship at work arises, which could cause concern for conflict of 

interest or accusation of bias, employees are required to notify their Service 

Manager (or their Assistant Director or above) to declare this. 

 

37.3 Employees are encouraged to seek advice from HR (PSPS) should they have any 

concerns regarding a personal relationship at work.   

 

38.  Safeguarding  
 

38.1 The Council has a statutory duty to safeguard and promote the safety and welfare 

of children and to develop procedures to protect vulnerable ‘adults at risk’.  

 

38.2 Council employees must:  

 

o have read the Safeguarding policy. 

o attend Safeguarding training; 

o not begin any unsupervised activity at work involving access to children or 

‘adults at risk’ before receiving satisfactory clearance from Disclosure & 

Barring Service (DBS) 

o report inappropriate behaviour or bad practice through the correct channels; please 

refer to the Council’s Safeguarding policy for further information. 

Page 90



25 | P a g e   N A M E  O F  S &  E L C P  C O U N C I L   
C o d e  o f  C o n d u c t  

M a r c h  2 0 2 2  
  V e r s i o n  1  

 

 

39.  Security 
 

39.1 Employees must wear the Council’s ID badge at all times on duty. 

 

39.2 Employees of the Council must follow the local rules for admission of visitors to 

Council premises at all times to ensure safety and well-being of Council employees 

and the public. 

 

40.  Smoking at Work   
 

40.1 Smoking is not allowed in any Council buildings, depots, or vehicles.   

 

40.2  The Council will not permit employees to smoke at any time whilst they are at work 

unless during a work break period which must be taken in a Council designated area 

for smoking at work.   

 

40.3 Employees must not smoke in any other place than the designated smoking area 

provided by the Council. 

 

41.  Social Media and Online Activity  
 

41.1 The Council recognises that many employees make use of social media in a personal 

and professional capacity.  

 

41.2 Employees must be aware that they can damage the organisation if they are 

recognised as being one of our employees. 

 

41.3 Any communications that employees make through social media must not bring the 

organisation into disrepute, for example by:  

 

• criticising or arguing with customers, colleagues, or Members; 

• making defamatory comments about individuals or other organisations or groups; 

or 

• posting images that are inappropriate or links to inappropriate content; 

• breach confidentiality, for example by revealing confidential information owned by 

the Council; 

• giving away confidential information about an individual (such as a colleague or 

customer contact) or organisation or 

• do anything that could be considered discriminatory against, or bullying or 

harassment of, any individual, for example by:  

Page 91



26 | P a g e   N A M E  O F  S &  E L C P  C O U N C I L   
C o d e  o f  C o n d u c t  

M a r c h  2 0 2 2  
  V e r s i o n  1  

 

• making offensive or derogatory comments relating to sex, gender reassignment, 

race (including nationality), disability, sexual orientation, religion or belief or age; 

• using social media to bully another individual (such as an employee); or 

• posting images that are discriminatory or offensive [or links to such content]. 

 

42.  Sponsorship of Community or Individual Activities 
 

42.1 When the Council through sponsorship, grant aid, financial or other means, is giving 

support in the community, and employees are giving advice, they should ensure 

that the advice is impartial and that there is no conflict of interest involved.  

 

42.2 When the Council wishes to sponsor an event or service neither an employee nor 

their partner, any relative or personal friends of the employee must benefit from 

the sponsorship in a direct way without there being full disclosure to the 

appropriate manager and HR at PSPS via HR@pspsl.co.uk  which should be recorded 

on the Register of Interests. 

 

43.  Tenders 
 

43.1 Employees who are privy to confidential information on tenders or costs for either 

internal or external contractors should not disclose that information to any 

unauthorised party or organisation. 

 

43.2 Orders and contracts must be awarded on merit, by fair competition against other 

tenders, and no special favour should be shown to businesses run by, for instance, 

friends, partners, or relatives in the tendering process.  

 

44.  Use of Council Property and Resources  
 

44.1 An employee should use Council property, facilities, and equipment for Council 

purposes only. 

 

44.2 An employee should not use council vehicles or other resources including IT 

equipment for personal use.  

 

44.3 If an employee needs to use Council property, facilities, and equipment in an 

emergency situation, the  employee should request permission from their people 

manager to use the Council’s resources and the employee must ensure time taken 

in work time is recorded and given back by the employee at a time and date agreed 

with the manager. 

 

44.4 When using the Councils communication systems, an employee should have regard 

to the Council’s ICT policies, procedures and protocols and have particular regard to 

Page 92

mailto:HR@pspsl.co.uk


27 | P a g e   N A M E  O F  S &  E L C P  C O U N C I L   
C o d e  o f  C o n d u c t  

M a r c h  2 0 2 2  
  V e r s i o n  1  

 

data protection. This includes all written forms of communication including emails. 

Please see the Council’s Data Protection and IT Policies for further details. 

 

44.5 For lawful reasons the Council monitors email traffic, internet, and computer usage. 

In addition, use of Council’s mobile phones and IT equipment may also log an 

employee’s location.  

 

44.6 An employee’s activity, including mobile data, may be flagged for review if it 

appears excessive in terms of time spent accessing content on the internet which is 

not related to work and/or an employee are accessing inappropriate material 

and/or the Council may review these records where legitimate and lawful concerns 

about the conduct of an employee are being investigated. 

 

45.  Use of Mobile Phones 
 

45.1 The use of mobile phones and devices is not prohibited whilst driving council 

vehicles, using machinery, or carrying out other tasks where health and safety of 

the employee, colleagues and the public may be put at risk of harm by a lack of 

concentration of the employee concerned. If an employee is driving their own 

vehicle on council business these rules also apply. 

 

45.2 The use of personal mobile phones in other Council workplaces should be kept to 

an absolute minimum. Calls and alerts, whether taken or not are disruptive to 

others and do not present a professional image.   

 

45.3 Calls by employees on personal mobiles should only be made or taken on breaks or 

in urgent situations and mobile phones should not be kept visibly when working in 

customer facing roles. This includes the use of personal devices to undertake non-

work-related activity, such as use of social media or internet browsing. 

 

45.4 Managers may implement local protocols  regarding the use of personal devices by 

employees within Council services to ensure the particular needs of their service 

are met. 

 

46. Use of Computer Equipment 
46.1 To ensure the security of data and systems, employees should not copy 

programmes or use unauthorised software on Council computers, tablets, or smart 

phones.   

 

46.2 Prior to any employee being granted computer access, they must complete the 

Information Security Policy training.  Access will not be granted until this training 

has been completed. 

 

Page 93



28 | P a g e   N A M E  O F  S &  E L C P  C O U N C I L   
C o d e  o f  C o n d u c t  

M a r c h  2 0 2 2  
  V e r s i o n  1  

 

46.3 User identification and passwords must not be disclosed to anyone.  Computer use 

and security is covered in full in the Council’s IT Policy and associated 

documentation. 

 

46.4 Employees are not permitted to use their personal email accounts unless during 

their designated lunch/rest breaks.  Personal e-mail use at work should be kept to a 

minimum and under no circumstances should any e-mails be sent or forwarded on 

which could be considered offensive, defamatory, or threatening.   

 

46.5 Where technology has been provided to employees for home working or remote 

working, the equipment must only be used for work purposes and no illegal copying 

or loading of programmes will be tolerated, onto equipment loaned to an 

employee, without prior consent of IT (PSPS). 

 

46.6 Personal use of the Internet including social media (e.g., Facebook, Twitter, 

Instagram) is only allowed during designated break periods (outside of core hours 

or lunch hour).  This includes Council and personal devices.  This should, however, 

not be abused and must not be accessed for inappropriate reasons. 

 

46.7 Where work mobile phones and office phones have been provided, these should be 

used solely for work purposes only.  However, in the event of an emergency, this is 

permitted. 

 

47.   Whistleblowing  
 Please refer to section 36 of the Code. 

 

48.  Working with Elected Members 
 

48.1 An employee should not place themself in a position where close familiarity with a 

member prejudices an employee’s work.  

 

48.2 An employee should have regard to the Member/Officer Protocol and close 

familiarity should be avoided.  

 

48.3 An employee should declare any relationship with a Councillor where the 

relationship could cause or be perceived to cause a conflict of interest. This 

declaration should be made to People Services. 

  

49.  Working with Members of the Public  
 

49.1 The Council provides a range of services to the residents of and visitors to the 

Council’s area of responsibility. Members of the public receiving these services are 

our customers and in accordance with the Council’s strategic vision, objectives and 

Page 94



29 | P a g e   N A M E  O F  S &  E L C P  C O U N C I L   
C o d e  o f  C o n d u c t  

M a r c h  2 0 2 2  
  V e r s i o n  1  

 

Values, employees of the Council are required to maintain professional at all times 

towards the public.  

  

49.2 Employees are required to provide the customers with the best standard of service 

ensuring that their needs are met with dignity, equality, and fairness.   

 

49.3 Employees of the Council are to: 

o remain professional at all times; 

o communicate politely, truthfully and with integrity; 

o listen, understand, and provide the appropriate service, guidance, support, 

and/or advice as necessary; 

o provide their full name and department when speaking or writing to elected 

members, clients, and customers; 

o wear their identity badge at all times; 

o ensure they provide accurate and timely information whilst respecting 

confidentiality; 

o avoid doing anything that would make a member of the public question 

their motives and integrity as a Council employee or may bring the Council 

into disrepute 

 

49.4 These principles must be followed throughout all aspects of an employee’s role 

whether it be face-to-face, verbally, or in writing (letters, emails etc). 

 

49.5 When liaising with colleagues during the course of their duties, employees must 

also ensure they adhered to the same standards of behaviour and etiquette.   

 

49.6 Employees should treat a fellow colleague how they would like to be treated 

themselves, with respect and professionalism.   

  

  

Page 95



30 | P a g e   N A M E  O F  S &  E L C P  C O U N C I L   
C o d e  o f  C o n d u c t  

M a r c h  2 0 2 2  
  V e r s i o n  1  

 

Acceptance of the Code of Conduct  

 

Employees of the Council are required to confirm their understanding and acceptance of 

the Code of Conduct. This acceptance of the Code by the employee must be completed 

before the end of their second week of employment with the Council.   

The employee will be able to accept the Code by accessing the Corporate Directory on 

First4HR to confirm their acceptance of the Code. 

Alternatively, an employee is able to accept the Code by signing the document below and 

then scanning and return this page of the Code only to HR (HR@pspsl.co.uk) for 

retention on the employee’s personal documents in First4HR.   

 

I confirm that I have read the Council’s Code of Conduct and I deciare that I fully 

understand the standards of conduct that I have to follow to as an employee of the 

Council: 

 

Name of employee  

Department of 

employee 

 

Job title of employee  

Date of start of 

employee 

 

Signature of employee 

 

 

Date the Code signed by 

employee 

 

 

Any queries about the Code of Conduct should be discussed first with your people manager 

who will be able to contact the HR team at PSPS to assist with any questions or concerns 

about acceptance of the Code. 

  

Page 96

mailto:HR@pspsl.co.uk


1 | P a g e   P r o b a t i o n  P o l i c y  A p r i l  2 0 2 2  
 V e r s i o n  1  

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Probation Policy 
Council from SELCP Logo here 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Policy Title 
 

Probation Policy  

Policy Author HR Team - PSPS 

Policy Issue date  April 2022 

Policy Review date  January 2024, or earlier if required due to 
one of the specific reasons as set out in 
the HR Policy Governance Framework 

Policy Consultation  Trade Unions recognised by the Council 
Council Reader Panel 
 

Policy Sign-off Check with James Gilbert – Assistant 
Director Corporate  
who will sign off policy in each client 
Council of the SELCP  

 

 

 

 

 
Page 97



2 | P a g e   P r o b a t i o n  P o l i c y  A p r i l  2 0 2 2  
 V e r s i o n  1  

 
 

Table of Contents 
1. Responsibilities ................................................................................................................... 4 

1.1 Colleague Responsibilities ........................................................................................... 4 

1.2 People Manager Responsibilities ................................................................................ 4 

2. Principles............................................................................................................................. 5 

3. Probation Process ............................................................................................................... 6 

3.1 The Probationary Reviews........................................................................................... 6 

4. Objective Setting & Induction ............................................................................................ 6 

5. First Probation Review – Two Months ............................................................................... 7 

6. Mid-Probation Review – Four Months ............................................................................... 7 

7. Final Probation Review – Six Months ................................................................................. 7 

8. Probationary Period Outcomes .......................................................................................... 8 

9. Probation Hearing and Termination of Employment ......................................................... 8 

10. Appeal Process ................................................................................................................ 9 

11. The Appeal Hearing ....................................................................................................... 10 

12. Following the Appeal Hearing ....................................................................................... 10 

4.1 This is the subheading – Heading 2 .............................. Error! Bookmark not defined. 

Glossary of Terms ....................................................................... Error! Bookmark not defined. 

 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

Page 98



3 | P a g e   P r o b a t i o n  P o l i c y  A p r i l  2 0 2 2  
 V e r s i o n  1  

Probation Policy 
 

 

 

Introduction 

The probationary period is intended to allow the People Manager to objectively assess 

whether or not the employee is suitable for the role. It is also an opportunity for the 

colleague joining to assess whether or not the role is suitable for them. 

The probationary period is important to ensure that the colleague: 

• Understands and fulfils the requirements of their role. 

• Makes a valued contribution. 

• Achieves the required standards promptly. 

This policy sets out the process for dealing with probationary periods. 

 
 

 

Scope 

The Probation Policy aims to support new colleagues joining the council, except those with 

confirmed continuous local government service. Those joining the council will undertake a 

6-month probationary period, irrespective of working hours. It includes temporary and 

fixed-term contracts of six months or more. Where a contract of employment is shorter 

than the length of the probationary period, then then probationary period will be for the 

length of time the individual is employed.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 99



4 | P a g e   P r o b a t i o n  P o l i c y  A p r i l  2 0 2 2  
 V e r s i o n  1  

1. Responsibilities  
 

1.1 Colleague Responsibilities  
 

It is the responsibility of all colleagues to: 

• Ensure that they are clear on what is expected of them during any probationary 

period, for example, the required job outputs or standards of performance. 

• To complete the required corporate induction training and read/accept key policy 

documents (within the first 2 weeks), which are recorded on First4HR. 

• Ensure that they document timely evidence for their objectives during the 

probationary period on the First4HR system. 

• Ensure their People Manager is notified of any support or training which they require 

to perform their duties effectively. 

 

1.2 People Manager Responsibilities  

It is the responsibility of all People Managers to: 

• Monitor a colleague’s performance and progress during the probationary period and 

record this through the First4HR system at the appropriate intervals. 

• Ensure that the colleague has time to complete their induction & probationary 

corporate training and policy acceptance on F4HR. 

• Ensure that the colleague is properly informed at the start of their employment 

about what is expected of them during the probationary period. For example, the 

required job outputs or standards of performance. This includes setting the 

colleagues probation objectives on the F4HR system. 

• Plan regular 1:1 meetings and provide regular feedback to colleagues about their 

performance and progress. They should also discuss and document any concerns as 

soon as they arise. 

• Ensure that the colleague receives the support and training required to perform their 

role effectively. 

• Identify and appoint a colleague from within the team to act as an informal 

buddy/mentor, to provide support to the probationary colleague. 

• Seek support from the HR or L&D Team where needed. 

 

 

 

Page 100



5 | P a g e   P r o b a t i o n  P o l i c y  A p r i l  2 0 2 2  
 V e r s i o n  1  

2. Principles 

2.1 During the probationary period, People Managers will provide training, support and 

tools to help new colleagues to learn and develop in their roles to the required 

standard. 

 

2.2 People Managers will monitor performance and conduct and will meet regularly on a 

1:1 basis with the colleague to provide feedback and guidance (at least every 4-6 

weeks). 

 

2.3 The council has a standard probationary period of six months. People Managers are 

able to extend the standard probationary period by a maximum of three months 

where a colleague has partially met the required standard for whatever reason. 

 

2.4 All new colleagues to the Council are subject to a probationary period except those 

joining the Council with confirmed continuous local government service. 

 

2.5 Existing members of staff who are promoted, re-graded or transferred within the 

Council or another Authority with continuous service will not normally be subject to 

a formal probationary period unless their initial probationary period is not yet 

completed. In this case, the probationary period will be carried over to the new 

contract and the appointment will not be confirmed until the original period has 

been successfully completed. 

 

2.6 If, during the probationary period, it is suspected or established that an individual 

does not have the qualifications, experience or knowledge that they claimed to have 

at the time of recruitment, the matter will be discussed with the individual to 

establish the facts. HR support and advice should be taken. If this situation arises 

where the employee is an existing colleague who has been internally transferred, 

promoted into a different role or is not subject to a probationary period due to 

continuous service then the matter will be dealt with under the PSPS Disciplinary 

Policy 

 

2.7 (BBC Council Policy Only) Once colleagues have successfully completed the 

probation period they will be incremented to the standard pay point as outlined in 

the Pay Policy. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 101



6 | P a g e   P r o b a t i o n  P o l i c y  A p r i l  2 0 2 2  
 V e r s i o n  1  

 

3. Probation Process 
 

3.1 The Probationary Reviews 
 

Review Time Period Purpose 

Induction & Objective 
Setting 

Week 1 and 2 

People Managers will set objectives for their new 
colleagues and the new colleague will begin to 
undertake the corporate induction, training and 
policy acceptance. 

First Probation 
Review 

2 months 
The first formal probation review will be held by the 
People Manager to undertake an initial review and 
progress against objectives. 

Mid-Probation Review 4 months 
The formal mid-probation review to have a more in-
depth discussion and, if necessary, notification of 
probation extension. 

Final Probation 
Review 

6 months 
The final formal review and, if successful, 
confirmation in post.  

 

3.2 Throughout the probationary period, People Managers will monitor: 

• The colleague’s performance including the quality of their work, progress with 

training, and building relationships 

• Conduct 

• Timekeeping 

• Sickness absence and overall attendance 

• Demonstration of the council’s values and behaviours 

 

3.3 Regular 1:1 meetings should take place throughout the probation review period. 

People Managers should not wait until the probation review meetings to deal with 

any concerns or issues. 1-1 meeting notes should be documented by digital means. 

 

3.4 Supporting colleagues with under-performance at an early stage helps ensure that 

expectations are met within the required timeframe. 

 

 

4. Objective Setting & Induction 
 

4.1 People Managers will invite the new colleague to a welcome meeting during the first 

week. During this meeting the People Manager will set clear SMART objectives and 

Page 102



7 | P a g e   P r o b a t i o n  P o l i c y  A p r i l  2 0 2 2  
 V e r s i o n  1  

targets to assist the new colleague in reaching the performance levels expected 

within the role during the first 6 months. 

 

5. First Probation Review – Two Months 
 

5.1 The First Probation Review should take place after two months and it is the first 

opportunity to undertake and initial review of the progression towards the set 

objectives and a discussion of the colleague’s performance in the role. 

 

5.2 A minimum of one 1:1 meeting should have taken place prior to this meeting. The 

People Manager can discuss any initial concerns they have, or that the colleague has, 

at this early stage to support progression towards the objectives and expected 

standards of performance.  

 

6. Mid-Probation Review – Four Months 
 

6.1 The Mid Probation Review should take place at four months and is an opportunity 

for the colleagues and People Manager to have a more in-depth discussion and 

review the objectives. 

 

6.2 Consideration should be given to the relevance and progress of the current 

objectives and changes agreed if required. Regular 1:1 meetings should have taken 

place throughout the 4-month period. 

 

6.3 During the Mid Probation Review People Managers will ensure that they: 

• Provide feedback from team leaders, colleagues or other managers who work 

alongside the colleague. 

• Asses the colleague’s performance, capability and suitability for the role. 

• Discuss any concerns about the individual’s work performance or conduct. 

• Amend or update objectives where necessary. 

• Discuss extending the colleagues probation period if necessary (HR advice should 

be sought).   

 

7. Final Probation Review – Six Months 
 

7.1 The Probation Review meeting is an opportunity to look back and review individual 

performance and effectiveness during the probation period. 

 

Page 103



8 | P a g e   P r o b a t i o n  P o l i c y  A p r i l  2 0 2 2  
 V e r s i o n  1  

7.2 Colleagues will evidence that their objectives have been met and this will be used by 

People Managers to facilitate the discussions during the meeting. 

 

7.3 During the Probation Review People Managers will ensure that they: 

 

• Provide feedback from team leaders, colleagues or other managers who work 

alongside the colleague. 

• Asses the colleague’s performance, capability and suitability for the role. 

• Discuss any concerns about the individuals work performance or conduct. 

• Inform the individual of the outcome of the Probation Review. 

 

7.4 Where an employee has been successful during probation period, the People 

Manager will set new Annual Appraisal/PDR objectives. These should be 

proportionate and achievable by the next Annual Appraisal/PDR review period 

(April) i.e. if the probation is successfully completed in October, 50% of the usual 

amount of objectives should be set to be achieved within the six months until the 

next Annual Appraisal/PDR review period in April. 

 

8. Probationary Period Outcomes 
 

8.1 There are three possible outcomes from the Final Probation Review Meeting: 

 

• The individual has met the expectations during the probation period, and their 

appointment is confirmed. 

• The individual has partially met the expectations during the probation period 

leading to an extension of the probationary period up to a maximum of 3 

months, with agreed objectives. 

• The individual has not met the expectations during the probation period and will 

be invited to a Probation Hearing Meeting to consider the possible termination of 

employment. 

 

 

 

9. Probation Hearing and Termination of Employment 
 

9.1 Where an individual has not met the expectations during the probation period, then 

the individual will be invited to a Probation Hearing with their People Manager to 

consider the possible termination of employment. 

 

Page 104



9 | P a g e   P r o b a t i o n  P o l i c y  A p r i l  2 0 2 2  
 V e r s i o n  1  

9.2 At the Probation Hearing the colleague has the right to be supported at the meeting 

by either a Trade Union Official or a workplace colleague. 
 

9.3 During the Probation Hearing the People Manager will consider the individuals 

performance, capability and suitability for the role and will discuss with the 

individual where the expectations have not been met. 

 

9.4 People Managers should consider if the individual has partially met the expectations 

and if an extension to the Probation Period would be suitable. 

 

9.5 Where the outcome is Termination of Employment the employee will be informed as 

soon as is reasonably practicable and notified in writing. 

 

9.6 The confirmation of Termination of employment letter will include the following 

information: 

• The reasons for the termination of employment. 

• The date on which the employment will terminate. 

• The right to appeal. 

 

9.7 If the dismissal is ‘with notice’, the notice period will be as stated in the employee’s 

contract of employment. 

 

10. Appeal Process 
 

10.1 An employee has the right to appeal against the outcome of the Probation Hearing. 

 

10.2 An appeal can be submitted by opening an ‘Appeal – Other’ case which is available 

on the First4HR Employee Relations area. The employee will need to state their 

grounds of appeal.  

 

10.3 The Appeal should be submitted within 10 working days from receipt of the decision 

letter confirming the outcome. 

 

10.4 The appeal procedure will normally be carried out as soon as practicable thereafter. 

 

10.5 An appeal will be heard by an Appeal Panel that has not previously been involved in 

the matter, comprising: 

• Usually, a more senior manager who will act as the Chair and decision maker 

about the Appeal; 

• A representative from HR to provide advice and guidance to the Chair. 

 

Page 105



10 | P a g e   P r o b a t i o n  P o l i c y  A p r i l  2 0 2 2  
 V e r s i o n  1  

10.6 The purpose of the Appeal Hearing is not to reinvestigate the case but to establish 

the grounds for appeal and ensure: 

 

• The original decision was reached in a procedurally correct way. 

• The action taken was reasonable. 

•  Ensure consideration of any new relevant evidence or mitigating circumstances 

that may not have been previously disclosed. 
 

10.7 The Appeal Panel will consider the findings from the Probation Review Meeting. 

 

10.8 The Chair of the Appeal Panel will write to the employee notifying them of the time 

and date of the Appeal Hearing. 

 

10.9 The Chair of the Appeal Panel will send, without undue delay, copies of any written 

submissions and documentary evidence to all parties prior to the meeting. 

 

11. The Appeal Hearing 
 

11.1 The purpose of the Appeal Hearing is for the Appeal Panel to: listen to the 

employee’s concerns and determine whether the outcome of Probation Hearing was 

procedurally correct and to decide whether the outcome of the Probation Hearing 

was appropriate to the facts of the case. 

 

11.2 The Appeal Hearing should proceed in a formal, polite and respectful manner. The 

employee will have the right to be accompanied by a Trade Union Representative or 

workplace colleague. 

 

11.3 Members of the Appeal Panel may put questions to the employee. The employee 

should present their final submission to the Appeal Panel. 

 

11.4 The Appeal Panel will consider its decision in private. The Chair will notify the 

outcome to the employee on behalf of the Panel, as soon as possible after the 

Appeal Hearing. 

 

12. Following the Appeal Hearing 
 

12.1 Notification of the outcome of the Appeal Hearing will be sent by recorded delivery 

to the employee’s home address. A certificate of recorded delivery will constitute 

evidence of receipt. 

 

Page 106



11 | P a g e   P r o b a t i o n  P o l i c y  A p r i l  2 0 2 2  
 V e r s i o n  1  

12.2 The decision of the Appeal Panel will also be conveyed to employee’s People 

Manager. 

 

12.3 Where an appeal against an outcome is successful and the decision is not to 

terminate the employment, then reference to the action concerned will be removed 

from the employee's file and the employee will be notified accordingly in writing by 

the Chair of the Appeal Panel. 
 

12.4 Where an appeal against an outcome is not successful, there will be no change in the 

level of action previously decided upon at the conclusion of the Probation Hearing. 

 

12.5 The person who appealed will be notified accordingly in writing by the Chair of the 

Appeal Panel. 

 

 
 
 

 

Page 107



This page is intentionally left blank



1 | P a g e   F l e x i b l e  W o r k i n g  P o l i c y  &  
P r o c e d u r e   

M a r c h  2 0 2 2  
V e r s i o n  1  

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Policy Title 
 

Probation Policy  

Policy Author HR Team - PSPS 

Policy Issue date  April 2022 

Policy Review date  January 2024, or earlier if required due to 
one of the specific reasons as set out in the 
HR Policy Governance Framework 

Policy Consultation  Trade Unions recognised by the Council 
Council Reader Panel 
 

Policy Sign-off Check with James Gilbert – Assistant 
Director Corporate  
who will sign off policy in each client 
Council of the SELCP  

 

 

 

 

Flexible Working 

Policy & 

Procedure   

Council from SELCP Logo here 

Page 109



2 | P a g e   F l e x i b l e  W o r k i n g  P o l i c y  &  
P r o c e d u r e   

M a r c h  2 0 2 2  
V e r s i o n  1  

 

Table of Contents 

 
1. What is Flexible Working?  ……………………………………………………………… 3 
2. Process Monitoring  …………………………………………………………………………… 3 
3. Responsibilities under this Policy ………………………………………………………… 3 
4. Formal Requests for Flexible Working …………………………………………………. 4 
5. Trial Period …………………………………………………………………………………………. 5 
6. The Right to be Accompanied …………………………………………………………….. 5 
7. Notification of Outcome …………………………………………………………………….. 5 
8. Criteria for Agreeing a Flexible Working Application  ……………………….. 6 
9. Refusal of a Flexible Working Application …………………………………………… 6 
10. Review of Flexible Working Arrangements  ……………………………………. 6 
11. Working at Home  ………………………………………………………………………….. 7 
12. Health & Safety Risk Assessment……………………………………………………….. 7 
13. General Data Protection Regulation and Data Protection Act  ……….... 8 
14. Property and Liability Insurance ……………………………………………………….  9 
15. Interaction with other Policies ………………………………………………  10 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Introduction 

Page 110



3 | P a g e   F l e x i b l e  W o r k i n g  P o l i c y  &  
P r o c e d u r e   

M a r c h  2 0 2 2  
V e r s i o n  1  

 

 
The Council are keen to promote and support employees in achieving a positive work-life 
balance, ensuring sufficient rest and time away from their regular working environments. 
 
Under the provisions of The Flexible Working Regulations 2014 all employees, who have 26 
weeks of continuous service with the organisation, have the right to make a statutory 
formal request for flexible working. 
 
This provision provides a legal framework for such request, and as such has provided formal 

timescales that must be complied with. 

Scope 

The Council has chosen to give the right to request flexible working to all employees from 

day one and not to apply the statutory minimum 26 week qualifying period as per the 

regulation.   

The employee can make an application at any time so long as they have not made another 

application to work flexibly under this ‘Flexible Working Policy’ during the last 12 months of 

employment  

The People Manager has the responsibility to consider such requests in a ‘reasonable 

manner’ and make a response to the formal request within a timescale of 3 months, unless 

otherwise agreed. 

The ‘Flexible Working Policy’ provides a framework for consistent and fair practice on the 

issues to be taken into account when implementing and managing ‘Flexible Working’ 

requests and ensuring adherence to statutory legislation and guidance. 

Where an employee requires a reasonable adjustment in the form of a change to their work 

pattern due to a disability – these requests should be supported through People Managers, 

HR Team and where applicable occupational health provisions. 

Key Points 

This policy applies to all ‘eligible’, employees regardless of whether they are fixed-term, 

permanent, full or part-time. 

The decision to agree to a ‘Flexible Working’ request is dependent on a number of factors 

including, but not limited to: 

➢ the requirements of the role; 

➢ the facilities in place to support the particular employee; 

➢ the service being delivered by the employee’s service area; 

➢ the organisation as a whole; 

➢ the welfare of the employee 
 

Page 111



4 | P a g e   F l e x i b l e  W o r k i n g  P o l i c y  &  
P r o c e d u r e   

M a r c h  2 0 2 2  
V e r s i o n  1  

 

The decision to agree a ‘Flexible Working’ request will need to be mutually agreed by the 
employee and their People Manager and be supported by clear objectives and key 
performance indicators. 
 
 

1. What is Flexible Working? 

1.1 Flexible working is a way of working that suits an employee’s needs. 

1.2 Some employees may require a formal agreement to make a permanent change to their 

working arrangements  

1.3 All employees have the legal right to request ‘Flexible Working’. This is known as ‘making 

a statutory application’. 

1.4 There are many options that employees may request including but not limited to the 

following: 

➢ Part-time hours; 

➢ Compressed hours; 

➢ Job share; 

➢ Term time working; 

➢ Flexible start and finish times; 

➢ Working from home. 
 

2. Process Monitoring 

The Council is committed to monitoring the outcome of all Formal Requests for Flexible 

Working to help inform the future development of practice and support equality and 

diversity monitoring. 

 

3. Responsibilities under this Policy 

Employee’s Responsibility 

3.1 Employees should comply with this policy ensuring any requests made as per policy 

guidance and any necessary documentation is supplied. 

3.2 Employees should be flexible, open and constructive when discussing and agreeing 

‘Flexible Working’ requests with their People Manager, whilst remaining focused on the 

needs of service. 

Management Responsibility 

Page 112



5 | P a g e   F l e x i b l e  W o r k i n g  P o l i c y  &  
P r o c e d u r e   

M a r c h  2 0 2 2  
V e r s i o n  1  

 

3.3 People Managers should ensure that they comply with this procedure and apply it 

effectively, fairly and consistently within their area of responsibility. 

3.4 People Managers should where appropriate, seek advice and/or guidance from the HR 

Department. 

3.5 People Managers should ensure that they agree appropriate arrangements for any 

employee who makes a flexible working request. 

3.6 People Managers should be flexible, open and constructive in discussing and agreeing 

flexible working arrangements, whilst remaining focused on the needs of the service, 

determining with the employee their flexible working needs how this will be achieved. 

3.7 People Managers and Senior Managers need to ensure sufficient consideration is given 

in line with this policy prior to the approval of any ‘Flexible Working’ arrangements. 

3.8 People Managers should discuss and consult with Heads of Department before agreeing 

any ‘Flexible Working’ request. 

 

4. Formal Requests for Flexible Working 

4.1 Before making an application employees need to be aware that: 

➢ A formal request for ‘Flexible Working’ is a request to make a permanent change 

to the terms and conditions of employment. 

4.2 Such changes may have financial implications, it is the employee’s responsibility to fully 

understand the nature and impact of their request upon their personal financial, pension or 

personal impacts i.e. work permit or requirements, in order that they make an informed 

decision before making a formal request for ‘Flexible Working’. 

4.3 Employees should complete a ‘Flexible Working Application’ which is available on the 

First4HR Payroll Services Portal. 

4.4 Consideration to the request will be given by the employee’s People Manager who will 

arrange a meeting with the employee to discuss the application within 28 calendar days of 

the request being submitted. 

4.6 The People Manager will consider formal requests for ‘Flexible Working’ upon each 

request’s merit and assess each request based on the needs of both the business and the 

employee. 

4.7 An agreement to one employee’s formal request (either within the same area or in a 

different area of the company) will not set a precedent or create a right for another 

employee to be granted the same or a similar change to their working pattern. 

Page 113



6 | P a g e   F l e x i b l e  W o r k i n g  P o l i c y  &  
P r o c e d u r e   

M a r c h  2 0 2 2  
V e r s i o n  1  

 

4.8 It shall be the responsibility of both the People Manager and the employee to consider, 

assess and evaluate the potential business implications of implementing formal flexible 

working arrangements, for instance, but not limited to, the potential impact on costs, 

supervision, staff, services and ability to meet objectives. 

4.9 It shall be the responsibility of both the People Manager and the employee to 

proactively manage the flexible working relationships and regularly reviewing existing 

flexible working arrangements (at least annually) to ensure that these continue to be 

effective in meeting the needs of both the Council and the employee. 

 

5. Trial Period 

5.1 A trial period would normally be expected to be for 3 months, unless otherwise agreed. 

5.2 It is expected that there should be regular reviews during the trial period to assess 

whether the needs of both the business and the employee are being met, or whether any 

further modifications need to be made to the arrangements. 

5.4 Following the trial period, a final decision will be made as to whether the request can be 

accommodated or not. Notification of the outcome of the ‘Flexible Working Request’ will be 

made in writing and will bring the application process to a close. 

5.5 Working beyond the date of the agreed trial period will be deemed to have been an 

acceptance of the formal flexible working request. 

 

6. The Right to be Accompanied 

6.1 The new provisions to request ‘Flexible Working’ for all under The Children and Families 

Act (2014) have removed the automatic right to be accompanied at meetings as part of the 

application process. 

6.2 This does not prevent an employee seeking the support and advice of their Trade Union 

(TU) representatives as they plan and prepare their application. 

 

7. Notification of Outcome 

7.1 The People Manager will notify the employee of the outcome of the ‘Flexible Working 

Request’ within 14 days of the meeting. 

7.2 The People Manager will inform the HR Department of the outcome through the 

First4HR portal. 

7.3 HR will confirm the outcome in writing and any agreed arrangements within 28 days 

following the approval or rejection of the request 

Page 114



7 | P a g e   F l e x i b l e  W o r k i n g  P o l i c y  &  
P r o c e d u r e   

M a r c h  2 0 2 2  
V e r s i o n  1  

 

7.4 There is no statutory right to appeal the outcome of a ‘Flexible Working Request’ should 

an employee wish to raise a concern with regard to the way in which their Flexible Working 

application was handled or the outcome then the employee should do this through the 

‘Grievance Policy’. 

 

8. Criteria for Agreeing a Flexible Working Application 

8.1 People Managers will consider any applications in order of submission. 

8.2 Each application will be treated individually according to the ‘Flexible Working’ request 

sought by the employee, taking into account the wider business requirements and service 

delivery. 

8.3 People Managers should discuss any application for ‘Flexible Working’ with a member of 

the HR Team prior to meeting with the employee. 

9. Refusal of a Flexible Working Application 

9.1 Applications can only be refused or revoked on the following grounds; 

➢ The burden of additional costs; 

➢ A detrimental effect on the ability to meet customer demand; 

➢ An inability to re-organise work among existing employees; 

➢ An inability to recruit additional employees; 

➢ A detrimental impact on quality; 

➢ A detrimental impact on performance; 

➢ Insufficient work during the periods the employee proposes to work; 

➢ Planned structural changes; 

➢ Under-performance against service standards/objectives. 
 

9.2 The Council will consider the application for ‘Flexible Working’ withdrawn if during the 

course of the process, the employee: 

➢ Fails to complete the required application process, or adhere to the specific 
timescales; 

➢ Fails to attend, without reasonable cause, a discussion meeting more than once; 

➢ Unreasonably refuses to provide their People Manager with information they 
need to assess whether the contract variation can be agreed to. 

 
 

10. Review of Flexible Working Arrangements 
 
10.1 A review will be undertaken if any ‘Flexible Working’ arrangement is deemed to be 
unsuccessful. 
 

Page 115



8 | P a g e   F l e x i b l e  W o r k i n g  P o l i c y  &  
P r o c e d u r e   

M a r c h  2 0 2 2  
V e r s i o n  1  

 

10.2 If issues arise every effort will be made to resolve these. However, in some cases, it 
may be necessary to revoke the ‘Flexible Working’ arrangement. 
 
10.3 If the ‘Flexible Working’ arrangement is revoked, then the employee will revert back to 
their previous working arrangement. 
 
10.4 People Managers will only revoke flexible working arrangement based on the reasons 
provided above at 9.1 and after consulting with the employee. 
 
 
11. Working at Home 
 
11.1 If the flexible working application includes the request to work from home there are a 
number of issues that must be discussed and agreed as part of agreeing the change. 
 
11.2 Employees who work from home will be provided with the necessary equipment to 
work in this way, such as a laptop, mobile phone or handheld device. 
 
11.3 Employees should use Council equipment whilst working from home and will not be 
eligible to claim expenses for use of personal equipment such as home phone lines. 
 

11.4 Employees are responsible for any home internet broadband costs and increased 

energy or heating costs whilst working from home. 

11.5 Any Flexible Working application where it includes an employee working from 

home/remotely will only be agreed where the employee can guarantee attendance at any 

Council location. Having been notified the requirement to be at the workplace this would be 

expected within the usual commute time to the work location plus 1hr should the need 

arise. 

11.6 Employees working at home should not be distracted from their work, such as through 

having to look after or care for a child or relative. 

11.7 Employees should ensure all work materials, documents, IT equipment are restricted. 

11.8 There may be occasions when the provisions of this policy are superseded by other 

policies, such as the ‘Adverse Weather Policy’ or ‘Business Continuity Policy’. Where 

alternative short-term arrangements may be necessary for the employee and employer. 

11.9 Employees who have a working from home arrangement will continue to have a 

contractual base of location. 

 

12. Health & Safety Risk Assessment 

Page 116



9 | P a g e   F l e x i b l e  W o r k i n g  P o l i c y  &  
P r o c e d u r e   

M a r c h  2 0 2 2  
V e r s i o n  1  

 

12.1 To comply with all relevant Health and Safety legislation appropriate risk assessments 

must be undertaken for each member of staff who is working from home. 

12.2 Employees who work from home as part of a ‘Flexible Working’ arrangement must 

complete the following e-learning self-assessment which are available on the e-learning 

portal: 

➢ Homeworking Safety Risk Assessment 

➢ Lone Worker Risk Assessment 
 

12.3 Due consideration to lone working arrangements should be explored fully between the 

People Manager and employee to ensure safe working arrangements are in place. 

12.4 When working from home the employee has a responsibility to ensure they have an 

appropriate workspace with adequate security, storage and screening from activities and 

noise in the rest of the home. 

12.5 There must also be adequate ventilation and lighting. 

 

13. Data protection and retention of employee records 

13.1 The Council will maintain records, in accordance with its data protection policy and 

data protection law.  

Inappropriate access or disclosure of employee data constitutes a data breach and should 

be reported to the Council’s data protection officer immediately. 

 

14. Property and Liability Insurance 

14.1 Computers and other items of equipment provided by the Council as part of a flexible 

working application will be covered by the Council‘s insurance policy. 

14.2 Employees who work from home are required to contact their own insurance company 

to inform them that they will be working at home. Employees may also need to inform their 

mortgage providers of any working from home arrangements. 

14.3 Although covered by the Council’s Employer’s Liability Policy, employees working at or from 

home are advised to ensure their home contents policy has public liability cover. 

15. Interaction with other Policies 

15.1 Employees who work flexibly should ensure that they have read and understood the following 

ICT policies: 

➢ ICT Employee Access policy 

➢ Remote Working Policy 

Page 117



10 | P a g e   F l e x i b l e  W o r k i n g  P o l i c y  &  
P r o c e d u r e   

M a r c h  2 0 2 2  
V e r s i o n  1  

 

➢ Incident Management Procedure. 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

Glossary of Terms  
 

   

Policy Author  
 

Date Created 29 March 2022 
 

Review Date  
29 March 2024 

Policy Sign-off  
 

Signed by: 
(name/date) 

 
 
 

 

The Councils  
 
 

Boston Borough Council and East Lindsey 
District Council  

Policy Authorisation  

Page 118



 

REPORT TO: Performance Development Panel 

 

DATE: Tuesday 12 July 2022 

 

SUBJECT: 

 

PURPOSE:  

Debt Management Policy 

 

To consider the Debt Management Policy. 

KEY DECISION: N  

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: Councillor Peter Coupland, Portfolio Holder for Finance, 

Commercialisation & Partnerships 

REPORT OF: 

REPORT AUTHOR: 

Samantha Knowles, Assistant Director - Finance 

Sharon Hammond, Head of Revenues and Benefits, PSPS 

WARD(S) AFFECTED: All 

EXEMPT REPORT? N 

 

 

SUMMARY 

Efficient and well administered debt management is crucial to the Council.  The Debt 

Management Policy was originally agreed in 2017, and it is therefore timely for this to be 

brought back before Members for review.    

 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

1. Recommend that Cabinet approve the continuation of the refreshed Debt Management 

Policy. 

2. Recommend that Cabinet approve the delegation of future review and changes to the 

Section 151 Officer, in conjunction with the Portfolio Holder for Finance, 

Commercialisation & Partnerships.  

 

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS Page 119

Agenda Item 11.



The continuation of the Debt Management Policy will ensure that South Holland District 

Councils demonstrate a clear and transparent position in respect of its approach to the 

management of debt. 

Delegation for reviewing and updating the policy will enable a responsive and efficient approach 

to policy maintenance. 

 

OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

Do nothing – this option was rejected as it is timely for the policy to be formally reviewed and its 

continuation re-approved. 

 

1. BACKGROUND 

 

1.1 A review of policy and procedures was undertaken in 2017, resulting in the approval and 

implementation of the current Debt Management Policy. 

 

1.2 The policy covers the legislative framework, and the local approach, under which debt is 

administered and managed by Public Sector Partnership Services Ltd, on behalf of SHDC, 

relating to Council Tax, Business Rates, Sundry Debt and Housing Benefit Overpayments. 

 

1.3 The recommended policy, as shown at Appendix A, has been updated to take account of all 

current legislation. 

 

2. DEBT MANAGEMENT POLICY 
 

2.1 The proposed policy is shown in Appendix A, and, in recognising SHDC duty to ensure 

efficient and well administered debt management, it sets out the principles that apply for 

the recovery and enforcement of debt. 

 

2.2 The policy has been reviewed and remains largely unchanged since the original policy was 

approved and implemented in 2017.  The changes that have been made to the policy 

through this review are summarised below: - 

 

i) Cosmetic reformatting, minor rewording, and the introduction of version control.  

 

The introduction of version control responds to an earlier audit recommendation. 

 

ii) Addition of The Debt Respite Scheme (Breathing Space Moratorium and Mental Health 

Crisis Moratorium) Regulations 2020. 

 

More commonly known as ‘breathing space regulations’, this provides for someone in 

problem debt a legal protection from their creditors. Breathing space can only be 

started by a referral to the Insolvency Service from a debt advice provider who is 

authorised by the Financial Conduct Authority (FCA) to offer debt counselling.  

This legislation was implemented in May 2021 and requires local authorities as creditors 

to comply with the provisions to pause enforcement action and contact for up to 60 Page 120



days.  There are stronger protections for people receiving mental health crisis 

treatment, lasting as long as the treatment plus 30 days.  
 

Since its implementation, 57 people have entered breathing space with a council related 

debt totalling £117,778.  At the end of May 2022 there are currently 6 people in 

breathing space, with SHDC debt totalling £14,265. 

 

PSPS Revenues and Benefits provide a single point of contact / co-ordination role for 

breathing space on behalf of all other council departments. 

 

iii) Transfer of Attachment of Earnings Order as a final sanction for Housing Benefit 

Overpayments, to Deduction from Earnings as a possible action. 

 

This reflects the wider use of deductions from earnings as an initial action for the 

recovery of Housing Benefit Overpayment purposes.  

 

iv) Inclusion of further wording that covers a review of recovery action being taken to 

determine whether it is still appropriate after identification of vulnerability, with 

appropriate use of discretion in every such case. 

This inclusion helps to clarify that we will have regard to the recovery action that is 

currently being taken for a vulnerable debtor and ensures, importantly, the use of 

discretion in decisions about that action. 

v) Inclusion of a Policy Management and Review statement for reviews and revisions to 

be delegated to the S151 Officer and Portfolio Holder for Finance, Commercialisation & 

Partnerships. 

This inclusion will ensure a responsive and efficient approach to the maintenance of the 

Debt Management Policy. 

 

3. CONCLUSION 

3.1 The proposed policy has been reviewed and updated to reflect current legislation and 

approach.  It is recommended that the policy is approved to demonstrate a clear and 

transparent position in relation to debt management.  

 

4. EXPECTED BENEFITS TO THE PARTNERSHIP 

4.1 Not applicable 
 
 
5.    IMPLICATIONS 

5.1  SOUTH AND EAST LINCOLNSHIRE COUNCILS PARTNERSHIP 

5.1.1  None 

5.2  CORPORATE PRIORITIES 

5.2.1  None Page 121



5.3  STAFFING 

5.3.1 None. 

5.4  CONSTITUTIONAL AND LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

5.4.1 Recovery processes are governed by statutory provisions, and operational delivery will be in 

accordance with all such provisions. 

5.5  DATA PROTECTION 

5.5.1  None 

5.6  FINANCIAL 

5.6.1 There are no direct financial implications as a result of this policy, however efficient and 
well managed debt is critical to the council’s overall finance position. 

 
5.7  RISK MANAGEMENT 

5.7.1 This policy provides the legislative provisions and approach for the efficient management of 

debt.  At the same time however it should be recognised that by the nature, volume and 

value of annual revenue to the council there will always be uncollectable amounts which 

will be recommended for write off once avenues to recover are exhausted. 

5.8  STAKEHOLDER / CONSULTATION / TIMESCALES 

5.8.1 This policy has been reviewed by officers, Section 151 Officer, and consultation with the 

Portfolio Holder for Finance, Commercialisation and Partnerships.   

Report to PDP 12 July 2022. 

5.9  REPUTATION 

5.9.1 None 

5.10  CONTRACTS 

5.10.1 None 

5.11  CRIME AND DISORDER 

5.11.1 None 

5.12 EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY/ HUMAN RIGHTS/ SAFEGUARDING 

5.12.1 The proposed amendments to the policy do not give rise to any equality, diversity, or 
human rights implications.   The policy seeks to ensure transparency, and equality in the 
Councils approach to debt management, so that people receive fair outcomes in the 
standard of service they receive from the Council.   

5.12.2 The policy recognises the responsibility for ensuring that the vulnerable and socially 
excluded are protected.  In cases of identified vulnerability, the policy has been adjusted to 
include a review of the recovery action being taken and whether it remains appropriate 
based on the individual circumstances of the case at that time.  

5.13  HEALTH AND WELL BEING 

5.13.1 None 
Page 122



5.14  CLIMATE CHANGE AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 

5.14.1 None 

5.15  LINKS TO 12 MISSIONS IN THE LEVELLING UP WHITE PAPER  

15.1 None 

 

6. ACRONYMS 

6.1 None 

APPENDICES 

Appendices are listed below and attached to the back of the report: - 

APPENDIX A Debt Management Policy 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

No background papers as defined in Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 were used 

in the production of this report.   

 

CHRONOLOGICAL HISTORY OF THIS REPORT 

A report on this item has not been previously considered by a Council body.   

 

REPORT APPROVAL  

Report author: Sharon Hammond 

Sharon.Hammond@pspsl.co.uk 

Signed off by: Assistant Director - Finance 

Sknowles@sholland.gov.uk 

Approved for publication: Portfolio Holder for Finance, Commercialisation & 

Partnerships 

 

 

 

Page 123



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Debt Management Policy 
 

 

 

Document Title Debt Management Policy 

Version 1.1 

Policy Owner Head of Revenues and Benefits 

Policy Issue Date July 2022 

Review Period Every two years 

Date of Next Review July 2024 

Committee Considered Cabinet 

Page 125



2 
 

Document Control 

Version Control 

Issue 

No. 

Author Status Issue Date Reason for Issue 

Final 

V1.0 

 Final 25/07/2017 New Policy adopted 

V1.1 Head of Revenues and 

Benefits 

 04/2022 Policy review  

 

 

 

 

Approval Control 

Issue No. Approval Authority 

 

Approval Date Due for Review 

Final 

V1.0 

Cabinet 25/07/2017  

V1.1 Cabinet 19/07/2022 July 2024 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 126



3 
 

Contents 
1. Introduction .................................................................................................................................... 4 

2. Legislation ....................................................................................................................................... 4 

3. Policy Aims ...................................................................................................................................... 5 

4. Policy Objectives ............................................................................................................................. 5 

5. Communication ............................................................................................................................... 6 

6. Recovery of money due .................................................................................................................. 6 

7. Our Approach to Enforcement of Debt ........................................................................................... 8 

8. Multiple Debts................................................................................................................................. 9 

9. Advice and Assistance ..................................................................................................................... 9 

10. Vulnerability .................................................................................................................................. 9 

11. Complaints .................................................................................................................................. 10 

12. Equality Statement ...................................................................................................................... 10 

13. Policy Management and Review ................................................................................................. 10 

 

  

Page 127



4 
 

1. Introduction  

South Holland District Council has a duty to ensure cost effective billing, collection and 
recovery of all sums due to the Council. 
 
This policy covers debt recovery activities in respect of: -  
 

• Council Tax  

• Business Rates (Non-Domestic Rates)  

• Overpaid Housing Benefit  

• Sundry Debts   
 
Efficient and well administered debt management is crucial to the council. A consistent and 
fair approach to debt management will be taken to ensure the council’s interests are 
protected whilst residents who are struggling financially are supported to pay through the 
provision of appropriate advice and early intervention.  
 
Whilst the majority of income due to the council is collected in a routine manner, unpaid 
charges and debts arise for a variety of reasons. This policy sets out the principles that will 
apply in the recovery and enforcement of debts.  
 
 

2. Legislation  

We will act in accordance with relevant legislation and policy including: -  
 
Council Tax Council Tax Local Government Finance Act 1992  

Local Government Finance Act 2012  
The Council Tax (Administration and Enforcement) Regulations 
1992 (as amended)  
South Holland District Council, Council Tax Support Scheme  

 
Business Rates NNDR Local Government Finance Act 1988  

Local Government Finance Act 2012  
The Non-Domestic Rating (Collection & Enforcement) (Local 
Lists) Regulations 1989 (as amended)  

 
Housing Benefit 
Overpayments 

Housing Benefit Overpayments Housing Benefit Regulations 2006  
Housing Benefit (Pension Credit) Regulations  
Council Tax Benefit Regulations 2006 (up to 31.03.13)  
 

Sundry Debt The Late Payment of Commercial Debts Regulations 2002 
The Late Payment of Commercial Debts Regulations 2013 
The Late Payment of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998 
Sundry debts are collected within the relevant framework up to 
the point that legal action is required, and the debt may be 
passed to legal representative for further recovery action 

Page 128



5 
 

All Debts The Debt Respite Scheme (Breathing Space Moratorium and 
Mental Health Crisis Moratorium) Regulations 2020 

 
South Holland District Council appoints Enforcement Agents to recover Council Tax and 
Non-Domestic Rate arrears when a debt reaches a certain point in the recovery process.  
These arrangements are governed by: -  
 

• The Tribunal Courts and Enforcement Act 2007  

• The Taking Control of Goods Regulations 2013 and  

• The Taking Control of Goods (Fees) Regulations 2014. 
 
 

3. Policy Aims 

It is essential that the council undertakes the administration and recovery of all debt in an 
efficient and effective manner.  We have a legal duty to ensure cost effective billing, 
collection and recovery of all sums due to the authority. 
 
As such, we will: - 
 

• Ensure a professional, consistent and timely approach to recovery action. 

• Take enforcement action against deliberate non-payers or late payers. 

• Take positive action to prevent arrears occurring, for example by maximising income 
and providing a range of payment methods. 

• Promote a co-ordinated approach towards sharing debtor information and managing 
multiple debts owed to the council. 

• Ensure that debts are managed in accordance with legislative provisions and best 
practice. 

 
 
This policy will: - 
 

• Be a guide to all officers involved in the recovery of monies. 

• Set out clear strategy 

• Demonstrate commitment to the delivery of quality services to our customers 

• Provide revenue to the council and help reduce the loss from eventual debt write 
off. 

• Fulfil the Councils statutory obligations to collect Council Tax, Business Rates and 
excess Housing and Council Tax Benefit/Support. 

 
 

4. Policy Objectives 

To ensure that all income due to the council is collected, with minimum avoidance and in 
the interest of residents and businesses in the district. 
 
To achieve our objectives, we will ensure the following principles are adhered to: -  
 

Page 129



6 
 

• Consider that customers have a responsibility to pay.  

• Aim to identify those who can pay but won’t or who deliberately delay payment, so 
that recovery action can be taken accordingly.  

• Actively encourage customers to engage at every stage of the collection and 
recovery process.  

• Aim to help individuals to maximise their income.  

• Acknowledge the need to provide a service that is effective but when necessary, 
sensitive to individual’s needs.  

• Ensure that payment arrangements reflect the level of debt owed as well as the 
ability to pay.  

• Expect ‘priority’ debts to be given priority over other debt owed.  

• Acknowledge the role of recognised advice agencies and encourage contact with 
such agencies where appropriate.  

 

5. Communication  

We will provide our customers with clear and prompt information about the amounts they 
are being asked to pay. Our correspondence and information will show: -  
 

• What the bill or invoice is for  

• The total amount due  

• The date by which payment is due  

• How and where to make payments  

• Contact details for enquiries  

• Correspondence clearly written, without the use of jargon where possible  

• Any penalty charges applicable for late payment  
 
We will advise Debtors promptly about the existence of their debt and, where appropriate, 
they will be advised of their right to appeal in line with legislation. 

We will deal with all debtors in a courteous, yet firm and fair manner. 

Appropriate support such as the use of the Language Line facility is available as an aid to 
improving verbal communications with those customers for whom English is not their first 
language. 
 
 

6. Recovery of money due 

Whilst there are set processes and steps to follow in the collection and recovery of monies 
owed to the council, each case is treated individually to take into account various factors 
such as the circumstances of the debtor. 
 
We will levy and seek to recover any and all costs/fees that are legitimately due from the 
debtor.  Only in exceptional circumstances will consideration be given to costs/fees being 
waived. 

Page 130



7 
 

 
Any requests for cancelling or writing off debts will be dealt with in accordance with the 
Council’s delegation arrangements. 
 
All debtors will be advised of the consequences of non-payment and the courses of action 
that could result from non-payment.  This includes: - 
 

 
Council Tax (including excess Council Tax Support) 

Possible Action  Final Sanction  

Summons  
Magistrates Court hearing  
Liability Order  
Payment Arrangement  
Attachment of Benefit  
Attachment of Earnings  
Attachment of Members Allowances 

Enforcement Agent Action 
Bankruptcy / Insolvency 
Charging Order  
Committal to Prison 

 
National Non-Domestic Rates (Business Rates) 

Possible Action  Final Sanction  

Summons  
Magistrates Court hearing  
Liability Order 
Payment Arrangement  

Enforcement Agent Action 
Bankruptcy / Insolvency 
Charging Order  
Committal to Prison 

 
Housing Benefit Overpayments 

Possible Action  Final Sanction  

Direct deductions from on-going benefit 
entitlement  
Payment Arrangement 
Deduction from Earnings 

County Court Judgement  
Charging Order  
Removal of goods through County Court 
Enforcement Agent  
Debt Collection Agency 

 
Sundry Debt 

Possible Action  Final Sanction  

Payment Arrangement  
Cessation of service  
 

County Court Judgement  
Attachment of Earnings Order  
Charging Order  
Removal of goods through County Court 
Enforcement Agent  
Debt collection Agency  
Bankruptcy / Insolvency 

Some enforcement actions will incur additional costs, which are payable by the debtor. In all 
appropriate cases, we will seek to recover from the debtor any reasonable costs incurred in 
the recovery of unpaid money.  
 

Page 131



8 
 

Where liability is continuous, (for example Council Tax) any arrangement made will normally 
require payments to be over and above the on-going monthly liability. Future instalments 
must be paid when due as a condition of the arrangement.  
 
Where a debtor is not able to repay the debt completely, either immediately or within a 
reasonable timescale, then each case will be treated individually in respect of an 
arrangement for repayment over a specific period of time. In such circumstances, a review 
of the person’s income and expenditure will be made to help establish that the proposed 
level of repayment is appropriate given the debtors financial circumstances.  
 
Where a payment arrangement is made, failure to make regular payments in a timely 
manner will result in further recovery action and reasonable costs will be added to the debt.  
 
 

7. Our Approach to Enforcement of Debt 

We will follow the principles outlined below: - 
 

Our action will be proportionate 

We will consider the balance to be struck between the potential loss of income and the cost 
of collecting the debt. 
 

Our action will be consistent 

We will take a similar approach in similar circumstances to achieve similar ends. This relates 
to: - 
 

• The advice we provide. 

• The use of legislative powers. 

• The recovery procedures used. 
 

We recognise that consistency does not mean simple uniformity in its treatment of debt. 
Consideration will be given to the individual’s personal circumstances and will take account 
of factors such as: - 
 

• The social circumstances of the debtor. 

• The debtor’s payment history. 

• The debtor’s ability to pay. 
 

Our action will be transparent 

We recognise it is important to maintain public confidence. We will help people to 
understand what is expected of them and what they should expect from us. 
It also means explaining clearly the reasons and justification for taking recovery/ 
enforcement action. 
If action is required, we will: 

• clearly explain the reasons why, 

• clearly state the time scales  

Page 132



9 
 

• Ensure the distinction is made between advice being provided and actual legal 
requirements. 

 
We will advise debtors of the consequences of non-payment and the courses of action that 
could result from non-payment.  
 
 

8. Multiple Debts  

Where we know that a person has more than one debt, we will: -  
 

• Identify and have consideration to the action being taken against the debtor and 

• Establish which debt should have the greatest priority for repayment,  

• Ensure that repayments plans are realistic in light of other debts owed. 
 
We will consider: - 

• The amount involved. 

• The length of time that the debt has been outstanding. 

• Whether there is a court order in place to enforce the debt. 

 

9. Advice and Assistance  

We welcome the involvement of welfare and advice agencies in connection with debts due 
to the Council and recognise the benefits that such agencies can offer both to the debtor 
and to the Council in prioritising repayments to creditors and maximising income for the 
debtor. 
We will encourage debtors to obtain specialist advice and help where it is apparent they are 
in severe financial difficulty. This will include signposting to local and national free debt and 
money advice agencies such as Citizens Advice, Money Advice Service and National 
Debtline.   
 
Where the potential for a statutory benefit or discount exists in relation to a particular debt, 
efforts will be made to make the debtor aware of such opportunities and they will be 
encouraged to apply for these.  
 
Debtors will be advised of the importance of paying priority debts before non-priority debts.  

 

10. Vulnerability 

We recognise that the Council, our staff, contractors and agents each have a role in ensuring 
that the vulnerable and socially excluded are protected. 

We will support individuals to seek appropriate advice and guidance where we recognise 
possible vulnerability. 
 

Page 133



10 
 

Where we identify individual(s) as vulnerable, we will review the recovery action being 
taken to determine whether it is still the appropriate, based on their circumstances. The 
appropriate use of discretion is essential in every such case.   
 
 

11. Complaints 

We aim to provide high service standards.  
However. if someone is not satisfied with the service provided, they have the right to make 
a complaint in line with our complaint procedure which can be found on our website at 
www.sholland.gov.uk, or from our Customer Services team on 01775 761161. 
 

12. Equality Statement 

South Holland District Council is committed to equality and fairness.  Equality is about 
ensuring people are treated fairly and given fair chances.  It is also about ensuring that 
people receive fair outcomes in the standard of service they receive from the Council.  This 
includes everyone, regardless of their race, gender, age, religion or belief, sexual orientation 
and/or disability. 

 

13. Policy Management and Review 

This policy will be reviewed at least every two years to ensure it remains fit for purpose.  

Approval for reviews and revisions is delegated to Section 151 Officer and Portfolio Holder 

for Finance, Commercialisation and Partnerships. 

 

A copy of this document in another language, large print or braille please can be obtained 
from Customer Services on 01775 761161. 

 

Page 134



 

 
 

REPORT TO: POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL   

DATE: 12TH JULY 2022 

SUBJECT: 

 

PURPOSE:  

SUSTAINABLE PRODUCTS POLICY  

 

TO RECOMMEND ADOPTION OF THE SUSTAINABLE PRODUCTS 

POLICY  

KEY DECISION: NO 

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: CLLR G PORTER  

REPORT OF: 

REPORT AUTHOR: 

CLIMATE CHANGE AND ENVIRONMENT OFFICER 

HEATHER PRESCOTT 

WARD(S) AFFECTED: N/A  

EXEMPT REPORT? NO 

 

SUMMARY 

The production of single use products and the resultant waste from their usage and disposal is 

one of the greatest environmental concerns we face globally today. A Sustainable Products 

Policy has therefore been developed to outline the necessary actions required to ensure a 

sustainable approach to waste management is taken and our procurement practices are 

carefully considered as we work towards a more circular economy. The Sustainable Products 

Policy sets out the partnerships commitment to discontinuing the procurement of single use 

products as far as possible and finding the best alternative solutions where single use products 

cannot be eradicated completely.  

 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

1. That Scrutiny members provide comment on the draft Sustainable Products Policy.  

2. That Scrutiny Panel recommends adoption of the Sustainable Products Policy to Cabinet 

in line with the Council’s commitments to resource and waste management.   

 

Page 135

Agenda Item 12.



REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 

South Holland District Council is committed to ensuring a sustainable approach to resource 

management and adoption of this policy is listed as a corporate priority in the South East 

Lincolnshire Council’s Partnership Annual Delivery Plan. The Sustainable Products Policy will 

assist us in establishing practices for a more sustainable procurement future, thereby 

supporting us in meeting our net zero targets, in line with the Climate Change Strategy, and 

reducing the environmental impact of our waste.  

 

OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

Policy Development Panel could decide not to recommend adoption of the Sustainable Products 

Policy however, local authorities have a legal obligation to produce plans and policies to adapt 

to and mitigate climate change in line with the provisions of the Climate Change Act 2008. This 

policy will assist the Council in achieving our net zero targets in line with the Climate Change 

Strategy, alongside other co-benefits.  

 

1. BACKGROUND 

 

1.1 All single use products have an environmental impact and are typically intended to be used 

just once or for a very short period of time before being disposed of. The manufacture of 

single use products requires a large amount of energy and resources and largely includes 

the use of fossil fuels in their production processes. The extraction, production and 

refinement processes used all cause huge quantities of Greenhouse Gases to be emitted, 

meaning that their production is contributing to Climate Change, and they are often sent to 

landfill or take many years to decompose, causing air and water pollution. 

 

1.2 Single Use Plastics (SUPs), also known as disposable plastics are one of the biggest 

contributors to this environmental problem, contributing to Greenhouse Gas emissions at 

every stage of their lifecycle. At current levels Greenhouse Gas emissions from the plastic 

lifecycle threaten our global commitment to the Paris Agreement. SUPs do not biodegrade 

but break down in the natural environment into tiny particles known as microplastics which 

pollute soils and watercourses, contaminating the food web and causing a hazard to 

humans and wildlife.  

 

2. REPORT 

 

2.1 This policy has been developed as a partnership document to ensure the widest influence 

possible across the sub-region, in line with the strategic aims of the South and East 

Lincolnshire Council’s Partnership and the corporate priorities of the three Councils, seeking 

to ensure a sustainable approach to resource and waste management. It is a commitment 

in the Annual Delivery Plan to bring forward this policy. Coastal regions such as Lincolnshire 

are particularly vulnerable to the effects of inappropriate waste disposal, and it is therefore 

vital that we address the impact of our procurement practices and lead by example.  

 

2.2 The Sustainable Products Policy sets out the partnerships commitment to discontinuing the 

procurement of single use products as far as possible and finding the best alternative Page 136



solutions where single use products cannot be eradicated completely. To achieve this, we 

must embed the Sustainable Products Policy in the Procurement Framework of the 

partnership authorities, to ensure an aligned approach to our procurement and waste 

management commitments and establish a culture of reuse and recycling across the 

partnership.  

 

2.3 A comprehensive audit on the use of single use products will be carried out and will include 

the identification and potential financial implications of alternative products used both in 

offices and in Council services and operations.  

 

2.4 Schemes such as the Terracycle scheme for soft-plastics or Refill water stations which could 

be implemented in Council owned buildings should be investigated, to ensure that we 

provide the infrastructure and resources required promote and support sustainable 

resource management at every stage.  

 

2.5 Working towards a circular economy (the principle of remanufacture, reuse, repair, recycle) 

will see us keeping resources in use for as long as possible and allow us to prolong their 

lifespan where we can, and we must therefore ensure that the Councils’ Procurement 

Strategy incorporates the principles of sustainability and circular economy in line with this 

policy. 

 

2.6 The waste hierarchy (as shown on pg. 5 of the Sustainable Products Policy) provides a guide 

for considering procurement options and promotes the values of a circular economy. The 

hierarchy lists prevention as the most preferred option as it eliminates waste and emissions 

by reducing the procurement of products that aren’t crucial to our services or operations.  

 

2.7 The second most preferred option is reuse, which has a significant impact both on 

greenhouse gas emissions and pollution. It provides the means to prevent waste from 

entering landfill by making use of discarded products and limiting the need for new natural 

resources to be consumed by manufacturing new items.  

 

2.8 If we have assessed that procurement of a new product is necessary, then the next best 

option would be recycling. We should therefore purchase products which can be recycled 

wherever possible. Recycling also reduces the need to harvest new natural resources, 

reduces our carbon emissions, prevents pollution, and can also create financial savings.  

Ensuring that recycling facilities are well labelled, easy to access, and that staff and 

customers are informed of their location and understand how to use them will be an 

important step to enable increased uptake of recycling across the partnership. 

 

2.9 Where recycling is not possible it is vital to consider whether the product can be recovered 

in any other way, and we must be conscious of how items are disposed of at the end of 

their lives. Where single-use items can’t be avoided we must make sustainable choices and 

promote responsible and appropriate disposal.     

 

2.10 As a community leader we must also look beyond our own operational waste management 

and support community led schemes which promote recycling and reduction of single use 

products wherever possible, to ensure that a wider cultural change can be established 

Page 137



across the sub-region.  

 

3. CONCLUSION 

 

3.1 If we are to meet our net zero targets, it will be vital that we find ways to reduce our carbon 
emissions and look for more sustainable options for the management of our waste. The 
Sustainable Products Policy highlights the damaging environmental impacts resulting from 
our consumption and disposal of single use products; and sets out the partnerships 
commitment to discontinuing the procurement of these items as far as possible, sourcing 
the best alternative solutions where single use products cannot be eradicated completely.  

 
3.2 The Sustainable Products Policy has been developed to outline the necessary actions 

required to ensure a sustainable approach to waste management such as the importance of 
completing a comprehensive audit on the use of single use products. Ensuring that the 
Councils’ Procurement Strategy incorporates the principles of sustainability and circular 
economy in line with this policy will be crucial to its success as will use of the Waste 
Hierarchy as a procurement guide.  

 

EXPECTED BENEFITS TO THE PARTNERSHIP 

The Sustainable Products Policy has been developed as a cross-partnership policy aiming to assist 

us in meeting our net zero targets and the aspirations of our Climate Change Strategy, providing 

reputational benefits through our accountability as a community leader. Improving our waste and 

resource management also provides environmental and health benefits resulting from reduced 

pollution levels.   

 
IMPLICATIONS 

SOUTH AND EAST LINCOLNSHIRE COUNCILS PARTNERSHIP 

Our ambition seeks to align activity and action across the three sovereign councils to deliver 
environmental benefits across the subregion, and shared learning for the benefit of the 
Partnership. 
 
CORPORATE PRIORITIES 

This policy has been developed as a partnership document in line with the strategic aims of the 

South and East Lincolnshire Council’s Partnership and the corporate priorities of the three Councils. 

Adoption of this Policy is listed as a corporate priority in the South East Lincolnshire Council’s 

Partnership Annual Delivery Plan.   

STAFFING 

None.  

CONSTITUTIONAL AND LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

Local authorities have a legal obligation to produce plans and policies to adapt to and mitigate 

climate change in line with the provisions of the Climate Change Act 2008 and failure to do so 

could result in a legal challenge being made. 

DATA PROTECTION Page 138



None.  

FINANCIAL 

External funding opportunities will be sought wherever possible whilst ensuring that future 
expenditure within existing Council budgets seeks to include carbon savings and waste 
management as part of the procurement and delivery of services. The completion of an audit will 
confirm whether any increase in expenditure will be required to achieve the aims of this policy 
however it is often the case that financial savings can be made through reduced waste disposal 
costs and bulk purchasing.   
 
RISK MANAGEMENT 

None. 

STAKEHOLDER / CONSULTATION / TIMESCALES 

Consultation with Key Officers and portfolio holder have been undertaken. 

REPUTATION 

Adoption of the Sustainable Products Policy shows our commitment to meeting both our net zero 

targets and environmental aims, enhancing our reputation as a community leader and setting a 

positive example for others to follow. 

CONTRACTS 

None.  

CRIME AND DISORDER 

None.  

EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY/ HUMAN RIGHTS/ SAFEGUARDING 

None. 

HEALTH AND WELL BEING 

The Sustainable Products Policy aims to deliver positive outcomes for the natural environment and 

the health and wellbeing of our communities. Plastic products in particular release chemicals 

during their degradation which have a negative impact on plant and animal habitats and once 

released the resultant gas emissions can be toxic, having adverse effects on both the environment 

and human health.  

CLIMATE CHANGE AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 

Commitment to our net zero targets will be crucial, alongside the work of all other authorities, 

businesses and individuals in the global battle to reduce our carbon emissions and limit climate 

change to temperature increases of well below 2% in line with the Paris Agreement. Failure to do 

so would be catastrophic to the environment with extreme weather events expected to become 

more frequent and severe.  

At current levels, greenhouse gas emissions from the plastic lifecycle threaten our global 

commitment to the Paris Agreement. This Policy is therefore vital to ensure that we effectively 

manage our waste and reduce its impact. It is a global problem of which we can only make a small 

Page 139



contribution, but we must seek to reduce our operational footprint as far as possible and manage 

our waste in a considered and environmentally conscientious manner.  

 

LINKS TO 12 MISSIONS IN THE LEVELLING UP WHITE PAPER  

MISSIONS 
This paper contributes to the follow Missions outlined in the Government’s Levelling Up White 

paper. 

Health The Sustainable Products Policy seeks to reduce pollution and 
contamination of the food web thereby reducing hazards to health across 
the sub-region  

Wellbeing The Sustainable Products Policy supports a more sustainable future for our 
operations which will lead to improved wellbeing for staff and ultimately 
residents.   

Local Leadership The Sustainable Products Policy highlights our commitment to meeting 
both our net zero targets and environmental aims, enhancing our 
reputation as a community leader and setting a positive example for others 
to follow. 

 

ACRONYMS 

None. 

APPENDICES 

Appendices are listed below and attached to the back of the report: - 

APPENDIX A Sustainable Products Policy 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

Background papers used in the production of this report are listed below: - 

Document title Where the document can be viewed 

Annual Delivery Plan  

Climate Change Strategy  https://www.sholland.gov.uk/media/20590/Climate-Change-

Strategy-Spring-

2022/pdf/Climate_Change_Strategy_Spring_2022.pdf?m=6378

68355183700000  

 

CHRONOLOGICAL HISTORY OF THIS REPORT 

A report on this item has not been previously considered by a Council body. 

 

 

 Page 140

https://www.sholland.gov.uk/media/20590/Climate-Change-Strategy-Spring-2022/pdf/Climate_Change_Strategy_Spring_2022.pdf?m=637868355183700000
https://www.sholland.gov.uk/media/20590/Climate-Change-Strategy-Spring-2022/pdf/Climate_Change_Strategy_Spring_2022.pdf?m=637868355183700000
https://www.sholland.gov.uk/media/20590/Climate-Change-Strategy-Spring-2022/pdf/Climate_Change_Strategy_Spring_2022.pdf?m=637868355183700000
https://www.sholland.gov.uk/media/20590/Climate-Change-Strategy-Spring-2022/pdf/Climate_Change_Strategy_Spring_2022.pdf?m=637868355183700000


REPORT APPROVAL  

Report author: Heather Prescott  

Climate Change and Environment Officer 

Signed off by: Christian Allen 

Assistant Director Regulatory 

Approved for publication: Cllr Gary Porter  

 

Page 141



This page is intentionally left blank



��
��

��
���

��
��
��
����
����

���
���

�������
�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������

��
��
����

����
���
���
��
��

�
�
�
�

Sustainable Products Policy
SOUTH & EAST LINCOLNSHIRE COUNCILS PARTNERSHIP

P
age 143



2 SUSTAINABLE PRODUCTS POLICY

Background
The production of single use products and the resultant waste 
from their usage and disposal is one of the greatest environmental 
concerns we face globally today. All single use products have an 
environmental impact and are typically intended to be used just once 
or for a very short period of time before being disposed of, either by 
being thrown away or recycled. Single use products include items 
such as paper towels, cardboard drinks cups and toilet rolls.  

As an example, over 43,000 envelopes and 100,000 Hand Towels 
were purchased during FY21/22 at Boston Borough Council alone.

Single Use Plastics (SUPs), also known as disposable plastics are one 
of the biggest contributors to this environmental problem. They are 
products made wholly, or partly, of plastic and they include items 
such as plastic bags, packaging, drinks bottles, disposable gloves, wet 
wipes and windowed postal envelopes.

*consumption figures to follow

Ph
ot

o 
by

 Ja
sm

in
 S

es
sle

r o
n 

U
ns

pl
as

h

P
age 144



3 SUSTAINABLE PRODUCTS POLICY

Our Commitment 
The Sustainable Products Policy sets out the South & East 
Lincolnshire Councils Partnership commitment to discontinuing the 
procurement of single use products as far as possible and finding 
the best alternative solutions where single use products cannot be 
eradicated completely. 

This policy has been developed as a partnership document to 
ensure the widest influence possible across the sub region, in line 
with the strategic aims of the South and East Lincolnshire Council’s 
Partnership and the corporate priorities of the three Councils, seeking 
to ensure a sustainable approach to resource management. 

This commitment will be realised by embedding the Sustainable 
Products Policy in the procurement framework, establishing a culture 
of reuse/recycling, and switching to plastic-free alternatives where 
usage cannot be discontinued, ensuring that products are disposed of 
responsibly and appropriately by being recycled or composted. 

A comprehensive audit of single use products will be undertaken and 
will include the identification and potential financial implications of 
alternative products used both in offices and in Council services and 
operations. 

P
age 145



4 SUSTAINABLE PRODUCTS POLICY

The problem
The manufacture of single use products requires a large amount of 
energy and resources and largely includes the use of fossil fuels in 
their production processes. 

The extraction, production and refinement processes used all cause 
huge quantities of Greenhouse Gases to be emitted, meaning that 
their production is contributing to Climate Change, and they are 
often sent to landfill or take many years to decompose, causing 
air and water pollution. However, the focus tends to fall on SUPs 
because when these items are not adequately captured and 
managed at their end of life, they represent a serious threat to our 
ecosystems. They do not biodegrade but break down in the natural 
environment into tiny particles known as microplastics which 
pollute soils and watercourses, contaminating the food web and 
causing a hazard to wildlife. 

SUPs are also often difficult to recycle with current figures showing 
just 29 percent is currently recycled with that projected to increase 
to just 37 percent by 2030. 

Coastal regions such as Lincolnshire are particularly vulnerable to 
the effects of inappropriate waste disposal and the amount of litter 
on our beaches has almost doubled in the last 15 years posing a 
threat to humans and wildlife alike.¹ It is therefore crucial that we 
address this issue without delay.  

¹https://www.lincstrust.org.uk/plastics. Ph
ot

o 
by

 P
ex

el
s.c

om
P

age 146



5 SUSTAINABLE PRODUCTS POLICY

The Solution
To tackle the problems surrounding single use waste 
we must first assess whether products are necessary 
in the first place and minimise the amount we use where 
possible. 

Where single-use items can’t be avoided we must 
make sustainable choices and promote responsible and 
appropriate disposal. Working towards a circular economy 
(the principle of remanufacture, reuse, repair, recycle) will 
see us keeping resources in use for as long as possible and 
allow us to prolong their lifespan where we can. 

The waste hierarchy shown should therefore be used as a 
guide when procuring goods and services.

���������������

����
���������

�����
���������

����������

��������������������

��������

��
����������

	�������

P
age 147



6 SUSTAINABLE PRODUCTS POLICY

We will:
• Embed the Sustainable Products Policy in the procurement 

framework of the three Councils. 

• Discontinue procurement of single use products and switch to 
plastic-free alternatives where usage cannot be discontinued.

• Establish a culture of reuse/recycling and find the best 
alternative solutions where single use products cannot be 
eradicated completely, ensuring that those products are 
recycled or composted.

• Work with contractors and suppliers to find the most 
sustainable options available.

• Buy in bulk to reduce packaging.  

• Encourage and promote conscious and conscientious 
consumption across the partnership.

• Support community led schemes which promote recycling and 
reduction of single use waste. 

• Establish best practice and lead by example.

Next Steps:
• Undertake a full audit on the use of single use products. 

This will include the identification and potential financial 
implications of alternative products used both in offices and in 
Council services and operations. 

• Ensure the Councils’ Procurement Strategy incorporates the 
principles of sustainability and circular economy in line with 
this policy. 

• Ensure that recycling facilities are well labelled, easy to access, 
and that staff and customers are informed of their location and 
understand how to use them.

• Investigate schemes such as the Terracycle scheme for soft-
plastics or Refill water stations which could be implemented in 
Council owned buildings 

P
age 148



7 SUSTAINABLE PRODUCTS POLICY

P
age 149



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

 

REPORT TO: Policy Development Panel /Cabinet 

DATE: 12th July 2022 (Policy Development Panel) 

13th September 2022 (Cabinet) 

SUBJECT: 

 

PURPOSE:  

South Holland District Council Draft Derelict and Untidy Sites Policy 

 

Policy Development Panel to consider the Draft South Holland 

District Council Derelict and Untidy Sites Policy  

KEY DECISION:  N/A 

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: Cllr Rodney Grocock - Portfolio Holder – Assets & Planning 

REPORT OF: 

REPORT AUTHOR: 

Richard Hodgson – Assistant Director – Strategic Projects 

Marc Whelan – Strategic and Operational Property Manager 

WARD(S) AFFECTED: All 

EXEMPT REPORT? N/A 

 

SUMMARY 

This report contains, in Appendix 1, a draft Derelict & Untidy Sites Policy, the first of its kind for 

South Holland District Council for consideration by the Policy Development Panel (PDP). 

The draft policy covers the background to the issues derelict and untidy sites can cause in local 

communities and what steps the Council has and can continue to take when notified of a site. It 

also provides useful guidance for local residents, ward councillors and businesses, who report 

sites, about process for doing so together with officer contact details.  

The draft policy also provides examples of legislative powers available to officers and how 

addressing issues relating to sites becoming derelict or untidy, through a range of means, can 

help support a range of Corporate Plan objectives. 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

For Policy Development Panel (PDP) to consider and provide feedback on the draft policy in 

advance of the draft policy being considered by Cabinet. 

 

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 
Page 151

Agenda Item 13.



Feedback on the Policy by Panel forms part of the governance process for the development and 

ultimately adoption of a new policy.    

 

OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

1. Do nothing – the Council could decide not to adopt a policy and manage issues on a site 

by site basis based on good practice. Whilst it will continue to do this, having a wide 

ranging policy with actions set out will provide a clear and concise reference point for 

officers, ward councillors, residents and business owners when seeking to address 

matters relating to derelict and untidy sites – A do nothing option is therefore not 

recommended 

 

2. To adopt an enforcement only based policy rather than a policy document that covers 

wider issues. A more comprehensive policy setting out a wide range of matters in 

addition to enforcement was considered by officers as a good way of setting out, in a 

single document, a broad range of options for dealing with derelict and untidy sites. This 

includes process for reviewing assets, monitoring sites, liaison with landowners and also 

how officers could approach the acquisition of certain assets if there is a viable business 

case to do so. For the reasons above and set out in this is this report this option is also 

not recommended 

 

 

1. BACKGROUND 

 

1.1 South Holland as a District, like elsewhere throughout the country, has sites and buildings 

that are either derelict, untidy or have the potential to rapidly become derelict. Officers 

have been working with Members in particular Councillors Redgate and Booth to develop a 

policy covering a wide range of matters. This is now ready to be taken through the formal 

Council decision making process once considered by the Policy Development Panel.   

 

1.2 By comparison to pre-pandemic times (specifically in September 2017 when Council 

received a full report on untidy sites) there are now less sites that are classified as derelict 

or untidy. However, that can change on a regular basis. Those that continue to fall to be 

defined as such, tend to be those where it has been difficult for council officers to engage 

with owners or where market failure has impacted on the ability to bring forward for 

redevelopment/ refurbishment notwithstanding in some cases planning consent for 

alternative use has been granted. 

 

1.3 This policy is the first of its kind for South Holland District Council. It sets out what 

measures are open to it to seek to deal with predominantly commercial sites where the 

actions or inactions of landowners lead to sites becoming derelict or untidy. The policy also 

covers areas for potential intervention by the Council. These range from engagement with 

landowners and local residents/ businesses where advice and support is available, right 

through to enforcement and considerations for potential acquisition, through negotiation 

or other means where powers are available to do so.  

 Page 152



1.4 The Council acquiring sites which are derelict or persistently untidy and requiring 

intervention in whatever form is likely to be the last resort when all other options have 

failed unless there is a sound reason to do so linked to Corporate Plan objectives. 

 

1.5 On adoption, this policy will sit alongside the Empty Homes Policy which was updated in 

2020 and the recently adopted Graffiti & Street Art Management Policy.  The Council will 

then have three policy documents covering a wide range of site and building matters linked 

to a number of Corporate Plan priorities in particular, “Your Home” and ”Your Place”. 
 

2. REPORT 

 

2.1 This report is intended to introduce the draft policy, in Appendix 1, to members of the 

Policy Development Panel for consideration and feedback in advance of progressing the 

policy through the Council’s formal decision-making process as set out in the Council’s 

Constitution. In this case the final decision will be made by Cabinet.  

 

3. CONCLUSION 

 

3.1 The outcome of this Panel review will be for officers to consider feedback and how this may 

be incorporated into / addressed in the draft policy.  

4. EXPECTED BENEFITS TO THE PARTNERSHIP 

4.1 This is the first of its kind policy for any of the 3 Council partners, Boston Borough, East 
Lindsey and South Holland District Councils. Once adopted by South Holland it could then 
be used as a basis for a new policy covering derelict and untidy sites across the Boston and 
East Lindsey council areas, subject to approvals through both councils. There may be 
opportunities to have a composite policy and standard approach across all three councils 
together with opportunities to look at how actions may be jointly resourced. 

 

5. IMPLICATIONS 

5.1  SOUTH AND EAST LINCOLNSHIRE COUNCILS PARTNERSHIP 

5.1.1 The planned adoption of a new policy which could form the basis of a policy document that 

can be adapted and used across the partnership and potentially wider outside of the 

partnership. Nationally there is a dearth of such policies, most tending to concentrate on 

enforcement.   

5.2 CORPORATE PRIORITIES 

5.2.1 The implementation of the policy crosses across all four Corporate Plan priorities, Your 

Home, Your Place, Your Opportunity, Your Council. These are covered specifically in Section 

4 of the draft policy – “Corporate Plan Context”. 

5.3 STAFFING 

5.3.1 No direct staffing implications through adopting the draft policy however if numbers of 

sites were to significantly increase then resourcing would need to be reviewed. With the 

current number of sites information is being managed and actions followed up utilising 

existing staffing resource. Page 153



Panel should note that whether we have an adopted policy or not there will be a need for 

officers to address issues arising from sites that become derelict or are persistently untidy. 

5.4 CONSTITUTIONAL AND LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

5.4.1 The approval of a policy will be taken through the council’s governance process before 

adoption. There are a variety of references in the policy to legislation. The policy will be 

regularly updated when legislation referenced in the policy changes or new legislation 

pertinent to it comes into force.  

5.5 DATA PROTECTION 

5.5.1 Officers are aware of how data is to be managed and this will be reviewed on a regular 

basis with the Council’s Data Protection Officer (DPO). 

5.6 FINANCIAL 

5.6.1 No financial implications associated with the policy other than if there were a significant 
number of new sites coming forward policy priorities and resourcing of these would have to 
be reviewed. This would indeed be the case, with or without this new policy, as many of the 
activities set out in it are already undertaken by officers.  

 
When enforcement action is taken and where permissible, costs associated with addressing 
the issue of dereliction and untidiness will be sought to be recovered from owners. 
Whether the Council adopts this policy or not enforcement work would continue with the 
principle of associated cost recovery, where permissible. 

 
5.7 RISK MANAGEMENT 

5.7.1 None 

5.8 STAKEHOLDER / CONSULTATION / TIMESCALES 

5.8.1 The draft policy has already been considered by the S&ELCP Senior Leadership Team, 

Leader and Deputy Leaders of South Holland District Council and the Portfolio Holder for 

Assets and Planning. Councillors Redgate and Councillor Booth had oversight and 

contributed to the drafting of the policy 

5.9 REPUTATION 

5.9.1 No reputational issues from the report itself but the policy itself will represent a step 

forward in helping deal with derelict and untidy sites by setting out clearly how the Council 

can and will deal with sites and buildings that fall under this definition.  Consequently, this 

can only be a positive thing for the reputation of the Council.  

5.10 CONTRACTS 

5.10 None 

5.11 CRIME AND DISORDER 

5.11.1 No specific issues from this report but the policy covers matters that have the potential to 

link to crime and disorder with derelict and untidy sites having the potential to encourage 

anti-social behaviour, rough sleeping, trespass, vandalism and other related matters.  

5.12 EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY/ HUMAN RIGHTS/ SAFEGUARDING 
Page 154



5.12.1 No specific issues from the report itself but the policy covers a wide range of measures to 

address site dereliction which can lead to a wide range of impacts. Having derelict sites can 

lead to a range of crime and disorder which could have links to safeguarding.   

5.13 HEALTH AND WELL BEING 

5.13.1 The policy sets out lots of examples of how reducing the numbers of sites that fall into 

dereliction or have the potential to do so can have a positive impact on the Health and 

Wellbeing of local communities.  

5.14 CLIMATE CHANGE AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 

5.14.1 The policy references matters where untidy sites have the potential to attract vermin and 

present difficulties in controlling invasive species. Helping with the redevelopment or 

repurposing of these sites can only be a positive thing. In some cases there will be the 

potential to improve energy ratings particularly where a future redevelopment and letting 

takes place as minimum EPC levels would need to be met. 

5.15 LINKS TO 12 MISSIONS IN THE LEVELLING UP WHITE PAPER  

(Use this section to highlight any links to the 12 missions contained in the Levelling Up White Paper 

set out below.  Delete any which are not applicable.  If none, insert the word ‘none’.)  

MISSIONS 
This paper contributes to the follow Missions outlined in the Government’s Levelling Up White 

paper. 

Health By 2030, the gap in Healthy Life Expectancy (HLE) between local areas 
where it is highest and lowest will have narrowed, and by 2035 HLE will 
rise by 5 years. 

Wellbeing By 2030, well-being will have improved in every area of the UK, with the 
gap between top performing and other areas closing. 

Pride in Place By 2030, pride in place, such as people’s satisfaction with their town centre 
and engagement in local culture and community, will have risen in every 
area of the UK, with the gap between the top performing and other areas 
closing. 

Housing By 2030, renters will have a secure path to ownership with the number of 
first-time buyers increasing in all areas; and the government’s ambition is 
for the number of non-decent rented homes to have fallen by 50%, with 
the biggest improvements in the lowest performing areas. 

Crime By 2030, homicide, serious violence, and neighbourhood crime will have 
fallen, focused on the worst-affected areas. 

 

6. ACRONYMS 

6.1 Panel – means Policy Development Panel 

EPC – means Energy Performance Certificate 

S&ELCP – means South and East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership 

APPENDICES 

Appendices are listed below and attached to the back of the report: - 

Page 155



APPENDIX A Draft Derelict and Untidy Sites Policy (with its own 2 

Appendices) 

 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

None 

 

 

CHRONOLOGICAL HISTORY OF THIS REPORT 

 A report on this item has not been previously considered by a Council body.  

 

REPORT APPROVAL  

Report author: Marc Whelan – Strategic & Operational Property 

Manager 

Signed off by: Richard Hodgson – Assistant Director – Strategic 

Projects 

Approved for publication: Name of Councillor (if required) 

Not Required  

 

Page 156



 

1 
 

 

 

South Holland District Council  

Derelict and Untidy Sites Policy 

Working Draft 

 

 

  

June 2022  

Page 157



 

2 
 

Content 
 

1) Introduction 

2) Background & Definition 

3) Community Impacts 

4) Corporate Plan Context 

5) History of Pride in South Holland programme 

6) Process for Reporting Derelict and Untidy Sites 

7) Information Management 

8) Options for Addressing Dereliction 

9) 3 Step Intervention Options 

10) Commitments 

 

Appendices 

1) Appendix 1 Reporting Process 
2) Appendix 2 Enforcement Toolkit   

 

 

 

 

 

Page 158



 

3 
 

 

 

Disclaimer 

This report is provided for information, and it does not purport to be complete. While care has been taken to 
ensure the content in the report is accurate, we cannot guarantee it is without flaw of any kind. There may be 
errors and omissions, or it may not be wholly appropriate for your particular purpose. In addition, the publication 
is a snapshot in time based on historic information which is liable to change. South Holland District Council 
accepts no responsibility and disclaims all liability for any error, loss or other consequence which may arise from 
you relying on any information contained in this report. 

Note for Readers – The pictures included for assets within the district, some of these have been previously referred to as untidy 
sites but may no longer be the case. 

South Holland District Council 

Corporate Plan - A Place of Prosperity, Wellbeing and Opportunity for All 

We will… 

➢ Work together with partners, businesses, and local communities to re-establish the Pride 

in South Holland programme to improve the quality of public spaces to be cleaner, 

greener, and safer. 

 

➢ Support Spalding and Holbeach to be attractive places that people want to visit, live, and 

work while supporting all other towns and villages in the district to meet the needs of 

their communities. 

The Water Tower Spalding During refurbishment  The Water Tower Spalding after refurbishment  

 

Page 159



 

4 
 

Introduction 

This policy is the first of its kind for South 
Holland District Council. It sets out what 
measures are open to it to seek to deal with 
derelict commercial sites where the actions or 
inactions of landowners lead to sites becoming 
derelict or untidy. It covers areas for potential 
intervention by the Council ranging from 
engagement with landowners and local 
residents/ businesses where advice and 
support is available right through to 
enforcement and considerations for potential 
acquisition, through negotiation or other 
means where powers are available to do so. 
The Council acquiring sites which are derelict 
or persistently untidy and requiring 
intervention in whatever form, is likely to be 
the last resort when all other options have 
failed unless there is a sound reason to do so 
linked to corporate plan objectives.  

The monitoring of untidy sites, the maintaining 
of accurate timely information in particular the 
steps taken for dealing with complaints and 
how the council approaches engagement with 
landowners are key elements of this policy and 
the work officers do.  The policy is based on an 
appropriate and proportional approach 
including a range of powers the Council can use 
to seek to address areas of local concern 
including where buildings are assessed as 
Dangerous Structures. The Local Government 
Act 1972 provides Councils with a range of 
powers and broad objectives and therefore 
officers will consider a wide range of matters 
when seeking to address the local issues raised 
by derelict and untidy sites. 

This Policy seeks to be a key reference 
document detailing what action can and will be 
taken to reduce the impact of such sites on the 
surrounding communities.  Buildings are much 
more problematic to tackle when they are 
empty and falling into disrepair. This is further 
exacerbated when owners are remote, there 
are site related disputes and other matters 
such as protracted probate impacting on the 
ability and preparedness for these to be 
properly maintained and brought back into 
use. Vacant derelict land and buildings can 

easily become a nuisance encouraging 
vandalism and a hazard or danger to those 
around them. Councils have a range of 
enforcement powers they can draw on when 
sites have become an eyesore or that may pose 
a risk of danger to the public. These powers 
and other measures are covered in more detail 
in later sections. 

It should be noted as context to this policy that 
since the start of the Covid pandemic the 
numbers of assets across the district falling 
under this definition has reduced (from 
approximately ten sites in 2018 to less than 
five today).  

There has also been an improvement in market 
conditions for residential schemes in particular 
alongside investor confidence to make some of 
the schemes that have been in the pipeline for 
which planning consent has previously been 
granted, now coming forward.  

Notable successes have been seen in Holbeach 
with the former Chequers hotel re-opening as 
a mixed use scheme with bar and residential 
uses and in Donnington, the repurposing of the 
Red Cow public house site for residential use, 
well underway. In both cases the District 
Council has worked closely with the new 
owners across a range of areas to help support 
delivery.  Another, the former New Bridge Inn 
at Glenside South West, Pinchbeck has now 
been demolished and redeveloped for new 
homes.   

Whilst the small number of sites falling under 
this classification reduced, those that are, 
continue to create concerns for officers and 
officers therefore remain vigilant and ask the 
public to continue to report sites of concern in 
a variety of ways as set out in this policy.    

Useful points of contact are set out in the 
policy and how the Council receive, record, and 
then deal with reports of derelict and untidy 
sites are also covered.  

 

Page 160



 

5 
 

Through the life of this policy, officers will work 
closely to see where there are opportunities to 
better align the policy objectives, processes, 
and resource allocations for dealing with 
matters such as bringing back into use empty 
homes and the management and reduction in 
graffiti for which policies are in place. Officers 
will also look at where resources, available 
through the funding of the Pride Programme. 
may be utilised to address untidy sites. In these 
cases, the Council will always seek to recover 
the costs of taking such action from 
landowners, with a variety of remedies then in 
the event of non-payment, forced sale to 
recover debt being one of them. The Council 
do not fund the tidying up of sites and the 
making safe of buildings which are in 3rd party 
ownership without pursuing recovery of the 
costs of doing so. Legislation supports the 
recovery of such expenditure albeit it can be a 
long-drawn-out process requiring reference to 
the courts in the event of non-payment.  

The scope for wider collaboration and the 
sharing of resource and expertise now exists 

through the formation in 2021 of the South & 
East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership 
(S&ELCP), a partnership between South 
Holland, Boston Borough and East Lindsey 
District Council. Through the Council’s shared 
senior management arrangements there is the 
option to examine how resources can best be 
deployed across the 3 sovereign Councils to 
maximise opportunities to work closer 
together to help tackle untidy and derelict 
sites. 

It should be noted that the policy covers both 
policy and procedures. Where the procedures 
are to be updated such as the process for and 
frequency of site review set out in the later 
section (the 3 steps approach – pages 15/16) a 
change in procedure through the life of this 
policy would not require the matter to be 
referenced back to Cabinet for amendment. 
Where there are fundamental policy changes 
such as our approach to dealing with 
complaints or material legislative changes then 
changes to this policy would be likely to be 
referenced back to Cabinet for final approval.  

Background and Definition

The use of land and buildings as well as our 
communities develop and change over time. 
Commercial buildings may no longer be fit for 
purpose; businesses close and land and 
buildings change ownership or ownership 
becomes the subject of dispute. This can mean 
that land and buildings fall into disrepair and 
plans for the better utilisation are stalled or 
never come to fruition. This can cause issues 
for local communities and Councils who have a 
vested interest in maintaining pride in the 
place. There is no “one size fits all” approach to 
dealing with this and each site therefore has to 
be considered against a range of factors and 
options that may be open to best address this. 
The importance therefore of keeping accurate 
records and up to date information is 
paramount. It is often an incremental 
approach to addressing issues of dereliction 
and untidiness. 

Understanding as much of the context on why 
sites may be falling into disrepair and remain 

unused for protracted period or do not come 
forward for development is important. 
Matters such as the following will play a part. 
The better we understand these factors the 
better we may be able to address the causes 
of: - 

• How assets are held  
• Any site related encumbrances impacting 

on use such as neighbour disputes, access 
issues, cost effective utility provision, 
encroachments, and rights claims  

• current land values vs prices paid for assets   
• rental values 
• material costs & availability of labour 
• risk and profit margins likely to be needed 

to secure funding 
• availability of funding  
• planning context 

How assets are held can be a factor in for 
example asset book values, taxation 
implications and appetite of landowners to 

Page 161



 

6 
 

take risk or quite simply portfolio size. In large 
portfolios some assets are simply not priority 
for the landowner. It is difficult in some cases 
for those impacted by these sites to 
understand why businesses continue to hold 
assets that do not generate an income and 
over time have a cost impact through allowing 
to fall in disrepair where they have latent value 
to be achieved through disposal.  

Much may be explained by landowners finding 
they cannot realise the price they want for 
sites or are otherwise unable to sell redevelop 
or economically convert existing buildings. 
Problems obtaining development finance, 
escalating remediation costs and access to 
even small sums of funding to keep in repair 
can also have an impact. 

     

As a first step always try to engage with owners 
or their representatives however history has 
taught us that the ability to effectively engage 
with owners where enforcement action has 
had to be taken in the past or planning consent 
has been refused can pose a challenge. Where 
owners or their representatives are difficult to 
reach, which can often be the case with 
“offshore” registered companies, this can lead 
to additional complexity. We do have 
occurrences of this across the District.  

It is clear from looking at the current sites 
across South Holland that fall under our 
classification of derelict or untidy that there is 
no “one size fits all” reason why these remain 
problematic sites for owners and 
neighbourhoods. Working closely with 
landowners the public sector may be able to 
help address some of these matters to help 
unlock development or work with landowners 
with less of an appetite for risk or ability to 
secure funding to dispose of sites and let the 
wider market deliver solutions. In turn, this 
could lead to sites and buildings being better 
utilised and issues of dereliction being 
addressed through investment and creative 
thinking.  

Through the Government’s Levelling Up 
agenda opportunities to simplify the 
Compulsory Purchase process are being 
considered. Progress with reforms of 
legislation and practice will be monitored 
carefully and where necessary representations 
made. It is a myth that Councils can just go out 
and seek a Compulsory Purchase order when it 
chooses to secure a quick win when sites are 
causing persistent local issues.  

The fact that commercial land or property falls 
out of use and into a state of disrepair does not 
mean that all aspects of this policy will apply as 
each case will be assessed on its own merits.  

The Portfolio Holder for Assets & Planning will 
be the Member Champion for the 
implementation of this policy. Where assets 
are to be acquired the Council’s Constitution 
sets out the decision-making arrangements for 
doing so. 

Ordinarily assets that in a very poor condition 
because of disuse and neglect for over 1 year 
will be considered as priorities for 
action/intervention of some means. Clearly 
where there are dangers to the public there 

The Bridge Inn before refurbishment  The Bridge Inn site during development  

Page 162



 

7 
 

will be much greater priority. Officers are 
developing a matrix for where priorities lie in 
terms of dealing with derelict and untidy sites 
dependent on numbers. By comparison to the 
position referred to later in this document in 
comparison to the numbers of sites classed as 
derelict or untidy in 2017 when the Pride 
Programme started numbers are now much 
lower. This is testimony to the good work in 
particular the Communities team have done 
with support of the Pride team to address 
problem sites 

Sites tend not to rapidly fall into disrepair and 
become derelict when they are no longer are 
in use or occupied it is often external factors 
that play the biggest part. Vandalism and other 
anti-social behaviour can significantly quicken 
this process. The stripping of materials from 
unoccupied buildings is a good example of how 
vacant buildings can attract unnecessary 
attention once empty and rapidly deteriorate. 
This is covered in more detail in the section 
below.

Community Impact 

Vacant and derelict land and buildings, 
whatever size, can have a significant impact on 
our communities. They can blight an area 
resulting in social, economic, and 
environmental issues. 

Sites which become a nuisance to communities 
can attract vermin, fly tipping/litter, 
contamination, invasive species. These 
coupled with antisocial behaviour can create a 
significant amount of extra and unnecessary 
work for both public sector bodies and local 
communities.  

Sites and buildings falling into disrepair and 
providing a haven for anti-social behaviour will 
create an impression of under investment and 
negative perception of an area for residents, 
businesses, and potential inward investors. For 
those seeking to invest in a local area having 
these sites within the local community can be 
extremely off putting. Where these assets are 
of historic significance the potential emotional 
impacts are even greater. 

Diverting scarce resources from public and 
voluntary sector organisations to seek to 
address issues of dereliction is costly. None of 
the actions set out in this policy are without 
cost. There are areas where recovery of costs 

can be set against the owner however these 
tend to be for very specific items such as site 
clearance, making good boundary fences and 
making safe where there are dangerous 
structures. The full cost of officer time spent 
dealing with the wide range of issues that 
these sites bring is rarely factored in and only 
certain costs can be recovered where 
enforcement is needed.   

The Council can and does serve notice on 
owners of land or buildings that are in an 
unreasonably untidy condition particularly 
where it is considered as having an adverse 
effect on the amenity of the area and public 
safety.  

The extent and nature of the intervention will 
depend on the history of involvement, the 
level of positive engagement possible with the 
owners/ occupiers and the extent to which the 
site is derelict and raising local concerns.   

Councils have certain powers to intervene and 
acquire assets by way of forced sale or through 
Compulsory Purchase Orders, but these routes 
are fraught with difficulties and can be time 
consuming so should always favour 
engagement where possible.  These matters 
are covered in more detail later in the policy.

Page 163



 

8 
 

    

 

 

Corporate Plan Context - How Addressing Derelict and 
Untidy Sites can Support Delivery of the Corporate Plan 

South Holland District Council has adopted a Corporate Plan 2019-2023. The plan sets out 4 key 
priority areas focussed around improving outcomes for residents in terms of housing, health and 
wellbeing, employment and enhancing the place where you live and work. 

Having an effective, robust but also flexible approach to dealing with untidy and derelict sites can 
impact positively on each of these plan objectives. This policy therefore supports the priorities of the 
Council as set out in the Corporate Plan 2019-2023.  The Council as landlord of choice, for our council 
housing tenants, work to prevent, and mitigate homelessness, including continuing to work with 
partners across Lincolnshire to deliver countywide solutions to rough sleeping. Derelict buildings can 
become a magnet for rough sleeping, but they can also in certain circumstances be converted or 
following demolition of buildings be used for housing development.

South Holland is a district with a unique history and an exciting future.  We work together with 
partners, businesses, and local communities to ensure the Pride in South Holland programme to 
improve the quality of public spaces to be cleaner, greener, and safer. Derelict and untidy sites detract 
from the good work that is underway. In some instances, derelict sites have buildings that are either 
listed or of local historical interest. Through dereliction these assets can become at even greater risk 
and therefore require careful monitoring.  

Supporting our towns and villages to be attractive places that people want to visit, live and work is 
important to the Council and the partners we work closely with. Having untidy and derelict sites 
detracts from that sense of pride, encourages anti -social behaviour and can impact on a person’s 
wellbeing 

 

 

 

Your Home 

Your Place  

The Red Cow, Donnington front elevation before 

redevelopment  

The Red Cow, Donnington elevation during 

development  

Page 164



 

9 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Examples of South Holland’s rich history and Spalding town centre 

By ensuring that our Public Protection services continue to be effective we enable our communities 
to remain healthy and safe through our regulatory activities, including food safety, environmental 
protection, and licensing. The implementation of an effective derelict and untidy sites policy aligns 
with this work and offers another opportunity to help maintain the health and wellbeing of South 
Holland residents. 

Working with landowners through initiatives such as the “Open for Business” approach across all 
Council services can help promote and support the repurposing of derelict commercial sites where 
owners are willing and able to engage. This policy explores this workstream later. 

Ensuring that our staff have the skills needed to deal with untidy and derelict sites in a proactive way 
will be key to implementing this policy. In addition, through effective communication of the 
opportunities that are open to the Council to address the blight caused by derelict sites will be key in   
managing expectations. 

Continuing to strengthen our commercial approach and engagement with a range of external bodies 
in particular grant funders, developers and investors could provide opportunities for us to signpost or 
proactively support landowners who are prepared to engage to identify opportunities which they may 
not immediately be aware of. Officers can also help support owners addressing first the items that are 
causing sites to become untidy, in particular antisocial behaviour.  

Through widespread collaboration across Lincolnshire between the public, voluntary and private 
sectors options exist to help address matters leading to sites impacting on local communities through 
a multi-agency approach. By involving partners such as Health, DWP, Police alongside our own officers 
this can have a significant impact on helping to address impacts of these sites.   

 

 

Your Health & Wellbeing 

Your Opportunity 

Your Council

Page 165



 

10 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

South Holland’s Pride Programme  

At its meeting on, 20 September 2017, South 
Holland District Council considered a report 
setting out a series of recommendations 
relating to the funding of a “Pride in South 
Holland” programme. The programme of 
activities set out in that report were funded 
and have continued to be through the 
Council’s budget setting process approved 
annually by Council. 

The September 2017 report also referred to 
work having taken place since October 2014, in 
tandem with the above initiative namely the 
Council embarking on a programme of works 
aimed at tackling sites that were significantly 
and adversely impacting upon the character 
and appearance of their immediate and wider 
environment.   

The onus, from the outset, was to seek to 
promote a co-ordinated approach to positive 
intervention on those sites which were having 
a major detrimental effect upon the character, 
appearance, and well-being of the 
communities within which they were located. 
This has ranged from active engagement with 
owners, signposting to grant funding 
opportunities, providing access to key officers 
such as planning and building control 
colleagues through to targeted enforcement. 
In some cases, the Council has entered onto 
sites, carried out clean up works and charged 
the cost back to owners where it has had to do 
so. In the event owners fail to reimburse the 
Council the threat of forced sale to recover the 
costs incurred has been used. The Council has 
not had the need to follow this action through 

though but, it is certainly one where necessary 
it would have no qualms in doing so. 

An initial list of untidy and derelict sites and 
land was selected for the 2017 meeting by 
Members and comprised of eight sites. These 
were as follows: 

1. The Former Bull & Monkie Ph, Spalding 

2. The New Bridge Inn, Glenside South, West 
Pinchbeck 

3. The Red Cow, Donington 

4. The Bell Ph, Church Street, Pinchbeck 

5. 17 & 17a High Street, Holbeach (Former 
Chequers Hotel) 

6. The Former John Neal Farm Site, Bridge 
Road, Long Sutton 

7. The Former Butchers Shop, Bull Lane, Long 
Sutton 

8. The Former Royal Mail Sorting Office, 
Spalding 

The list of selected sites was not considered 
exhaustive, and Members were later invited, 
either through their own local knowledge or 
because of engagement with their Wards, to 
put forward other sites for consideration and 
future actions. Consequently, two further 
prominent sites were added to the list in 
January 2015.  

Page 166



 

11 
 

These were: 

• Chatterton Water Tower, Spalding 
• The Former Bridge Hotel, Sutton Bridge 

 
Considerable progress has been made since 
2014 with some notable successes include 
improvements to the Chatterton Tower in 
Spalding, the former Red Cow in Donnington 
and Chequers Hotel in Holbeach.  

In each case the owners or private investors 
have intervened and committed funding to 
improve or change use of. In the case of the 
Red Cow this is in the process of being 
converted into residential accommodation. 
The Chequers Hotel has recently reopened as a 
public house with part converted to residential 
accommodation. Chatterton Tower has been 
repaired and redecorated and offices brought 
back into use. 

Other sites have been more problematic to see 
progress such as the former Bull and Monkie 
and former Johnson Hospital site in central 
Spalding. Officers continue to seek dialogue to 
see these eventually brought back into use 
through proactive engagement with owners or 
their representatives, repurposed or merely 

kept secure and in a tidy condition whilst 
future use options and timeframes are 
determined. 

Dialogue between Members and Officers is 
frequent on derelict sites and will continue 
throughout the life of this policy where sites 
continue to be or become derelict. The policy 
is therefore founded on having an informative, 
meaningful, consistent, and flexible approach 
to seek to deal with derelict and untidy sites via 
a policy document as part of the Councils 
overall Policy Framework. Along with an 
enforcement toolkit this document provides a 
clear reference point for Officers, Members, 
owners, and South Holland residents about 
how the Council will seek to deal with derelict 
and untidy sites with a consistent approach set 
out in a single policy document.   

South Holland District Council in 2020 
refreshed its Empty Homes Policy which will sit 
alongside this new policy document and the 
recently approved Graffiti & Street Art 
Management Policy (add link) The Council now 
has three policy documents dealing with 
similar issues, empty homes land and property 
requiring some level of intervention.

 

Below The Bull and Monkie site near Ayscoughfee Hall in Spalding with the “Cleaned up by South Holland District Council” sign. This shows 
what can be achieved at least to an intermediate phase while control, management, and opportunities for future development, remains with 
the owner. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 167



 

12 
 

The Importance of Effective Information Management  

Maintaining a Register of derelict commercial properties:  

The number of empty derelict commercial 
properties varies over time  

Following the setting up a small officer/ 
member working group with a member 
representative from the Performance 
Monitoring Panel and Policy Development 
Panel (Councillor Redgate and Councillor 
Booth) the list of sites considered to fall under 
the definition of untidy/ derelict sites has been 
updated. 

Information is recorded on a standard 
information template and regularly updated by 
officers to record real time information on 
each individual site included on the register. 
Information to include at least  

• Site Address 
• Ownership Status 
• Site Description 
• Planning History 
• Complaints Received and Date 

Received 
• Record Of Actions Taken By Assets 

Team 
• What Legal Action Has Been Taken 

Under Legislation 

• Next Steps 

Officers will utilise data publicly held for 
example on planning portals, Companies 
House, and Land Registry where appropriate to 
ensure data held is up to date although the 
preference always will be to do so via direct 
engagement with landowners and/or their 
representatives. A detailed process for officers 
dealing with reports relating to derelict land 
and untidy sites can be seen in Appendix 1. 
Regard is always had when collating and 
recording information to Data Protection.  

Types of reports that officers and members can 
receive on these sites range from those 
relating to rough sleepers, drug/alcohol use; 
people entering buildings; dangerous 
structure; overgrown vegetation; litter; fire 
and rodent infestations to name a few.  

Key personnel across several Council 
departments are involved in receiving and 
acting on reports about derelict and untidy 
sites. These include Community Safety and 
Enforcement; Planning; Building Control; 
Environmental Protection; and Assets. 

 

Information Management - Shared Officers Database  

It is important to hold up to date, accurate and 
informative information, Having such data 
available will help officers not only have a 
sound and quick reference point such as who 
owns the asset, whether there has been recent 
engagement for example with planning 
colleagues, whether there are live or extant 
planning consents or sites are being marketed.  
This will also help measure the likelihood of the 
owner/ decision maker being traced and the 
likelihood of proactive engagement.  

The base principles are:  

 

• A single database will be used to record all 
contact in relation to a derelict building or 
a piece of disused and derelict land.  

• All reports received will be entered onto 
the database to ensure a co-ordinated 
response and to enable officers to update 
the complainants on progress with the 
case. 

• The information held can be used to alert 
and or task external partners such as 
Lincolnshire Police and Lincolnshire Fire 
and Rescue. 

• The database owner will be the Strategic 
and Operational Property Manager 
although designated officers across the 
Council will have shared author rights. 

Page 168



 

13 
 

Communication – Internal and External 

Internal communication will be assisted using 
a shared database with all contact being logged 
in a central location. This will allow all 
designated officers to access quickly ‘real time’ 
information along with the ability to provide an 
update to Ward members upon request. 

In relation to external communications the 
following will continue to be used: 

• The ‘Report It’ tool on the website enabling 
residents and a range of stakeholders to 

report problems relating to derelict 
buildings and unused land. The availability 
and effective use of this will be a regular 
feature of the Councils social media and 
forms a key part of the Council’s approach 
to digital engagement. 

• Publicising any legal enforcement action 
that has been taken (where this wouldn’t 
prejudice the outcome of a case) 

• Publicising owner responsibilities under 
legislation relating to Occupier Liability. 

 

Seeking to Address Impacts of Derelict and Untidy Sites

It is not unusual for Council officers and 
partner agencies to adopt a range of measures 
to seek to address the broad range of impacts 
derelict land and buildings can bring. Seeking 
to address the causes and impacts of sites 
falling into disrepair and then seeking to 
prevent this in the future, can take skill and 
perseverance. Where enforcement may be 
necessary in some cases, signposting to a range 
of services, grant sourcing and even 
introducing alternative investors/ developers 
may succeed elsewhere. 

Officers dealing with derelict land and 
buildings and those rapidly having the 
potential to become such should be well 
versed in what enforcement options are open 
to public bodies. Appendix 2 contains an 
Enforcement Toolkit. The toolkit details 
appropriate legislation that should be 
considered by the Council when presented 
with reports relating to the presence of or 
impacts derelict and untidy sites bring. In most 
cases enforcement action may not be 
necessary where owners are actively engaging 
with officers.  

Financial Considerations 

Whilst the primary objective is to address the 
matter of tidiness and/or dereliction there are 
added benefits of trying to get to the root of 

this with the objective in some way of seeing 
problematic sites and buildings being invested 
in and repurposed.  

The need to employ creative thinking, engage 
the right skills and expertise to see if there is a 
viable scheme to emerge and a willingness of 
the owners to engage has the potential to pay 
dividends of getting these assets out of 
dereliction and back into use. This is of course 
where the owners and other stakeholders 
should work together with the Council.  Where 
this isn’t achievable then there could be a case 
for the Council seeking to intervene and 
acquire the site through negotiation or other 
means if there was good reason to do so and 
this represents sound and effective use of 
scarce public funds.  

When investing public money in build projects 
officers are often looking for an acceptable 
return on their investment but that is not 
always the case.  The creation of jobs, the 
promotion of health and wellbeing and the 
drive to make town centres thriving places to 
live and work can all play a part sitting 
alongside the normal financial considerations 
when looking at options to acquire land and 
buildings. The Local Government Act 1972 
provides Councils with a range of powers those 
that relate to wellbeing which officers can have 

Page 169



 

14 
 

regard to when considering which strategy fits 
best with the issue they are seeking to resolve. 

Seeking to have as much relevant information 
available to officers will be key. It is important 
for officers to try and understand why these 
stalled sites are not be coming forward for 
development and whether there is anything 
officers can help with the address this. There is 
a lot of knowledge within the Council owners 
can explore if they are prepared to or in a 
position to engage.  

Signposting landowners where appropriate to 
Council officers who have planning, building 
control, heritage, asset, or funding specialisms 
can play dividends. Officers also have long and 
established links with organisations like 
Heritage England, Lincolnshire Highways, the 
Environment Agency, and the various local 
Drainage Boards. Owners should look to use 
these linkages to full effect.  

It is the expectation that owners keep their 
own sites tidy, take appropriate measures to 
keep sites and buildings on them secure, 
prevent anti-social behaviour, and address 
things like tree and litter management and 
remove graffiti.  

However, it is likely that some won’t come 
forward quickly for redevelopment by the 
private sector because of market conditions or 
simply owners do not have the expertise, want 
too much for the asset making it unattractive 
to developers/ investors or funding not readily 
available at rates that make redevelopment 
viable.  

Sometimes sites are blighted by previous uses 
requiring significant remediation or simply are 
not in the right location for higher value and 
then viable in the eyes of the private sector for 
redevelopment. It is possible but rarer to see 
sites stalled because of ownership dispute or 
boundary issues.  

The Council’s Strategic & Operational 
Property Manager working closely with a 
range of professionals across the Council will 
lead on a review of derelict and untidy sites 
where there may be good reason and merit in 

intervening. This review will take place on a 6 
monthly cycle.  

South Holland District Council does have a 
portfolio of its own assets. This includes assets 
held for operational purposes such as the 
South Holland Centre, the Priory Road 
headquarters and Ayschoughfee Hall and 
Gardens. In addition, there are Assets held for 
investment purposes known as General Fund 
assets as well as a Housing Revenue Account, 
approaching 4000 properties.  

Through a systematic asset challenge process, 
we can look at whether assets can be better 
utilised to either increase income or provide 
better facilities for residents on a regular basis.  

Area based review forms part of this asset 
challenge process and involves a consistent 
and systematic look at council owned assets at 
local level.  Factored into this can be the 
inclusion of other public and voluntary sector 
assets in the locality to ensure that 
opportunities are not missed. It is possible to 
include in this review those sites that we class 
as untidy or derelict.   

There may be opportunities for a derelict site 
with limited commercial development to be 
reprovisioned for open space, a new 
community facility or affordable housing. By 
linking these sites to a wider review of public 
sector assets we can look at opportunities to 
look at wider options for the sites causing us 
issues than just that site in isolation.  

The ability to look creatively at assets is why 
maintaining up to date information on these 
sites is important.  

The numbers and extent of review possible will 
need to be balanced with other Council 
priorities. 

Council officers also work closely with 
developers, contractors, and investors. Where 
we can secure agreement from landowners, 
we would be prepared to raise these sites with 
those parties.  

Page 170



 

15 
 

Whether alternative development or 
conversion is achieved will be a matter for the 
landowner, but the Council could and will in 
certain cases look to see whether it could 
intervene and help unblock a stalled site 
matter such as a boundary dispute or indeed 
acquire the site itself.  

Officers have enquired previously about 
acquiring specific assets across the District but 
either the level of engagement from the 
owners or their representatives has been low, 
the price owners have sought have been 
extortionate by comparison to market value or 
the options for the site to be brought back into 
effective use, cost prohibitive.  

The Council can acquire assets which do not 
require a return on investment for example as 

a community facility for residents to use. Key 
considerations when doing so will be how this 
supports the delivery of the Corporate Plan, 
can it be cost effectively achieved hence the 
prospect of a successful outcome factored in 
and whether this impacts on other Council 
priorities. To be expected to acquire an asset 
significantly above market value simply 
because the owner wants an inflated price will 
not find favour.  

It should be stressed that any review processes 
should not and will not stop the Council taking 
enforcement action where this is warranted and 
necessary to address the issues that are occurring 
on that site. The implementation of this policy is 
based on a range of options being open to the 
Council to seek to address the issue of derelict and 
untidy sites and a number of these will run in 
tandem.   

The Use of Compulsory Purchase Powers 

Whilst developing this policy officers have 
spoken to fellow officers across a range of 
departments and elected members. A 
recurring theme during these discussions has 
been that of Compulsory Purchase powers.  

The bar is set quite high in terms of making an 
order for compulsory purchase in terms of 
having in place planning approvals, decisions, 
and finances to not only acquire the asset but 
to develop out. Even with this there is no 
certainty that an order will be made.  

Compulsory purchase can be both expensive 
processes and very time consuming. 

Consequently, officers would much prefer to 
work with landowners to see whether 
collectively a solution can be found to securing 
reuse or redevelopment of a site which may 
involve the council or one of the partners it 
works with acquiring the asset through 
negotiation.  Set out below is a 3-step process 
officers will work to.  

The Council’s Strategic & Operational 
Property Manager working closely with a 
range of professionals across the Council will 
lead on the 3-step process.  

 

 

Survey

Signposting 
&Advisory

Prioritisation

Page 171



 

16 
 

Step 1: Survey of vacant and derelict sites                                                   and 
the production of a database highlighting priorities.  

This is a simple typically roadside inspection to 
understand the site. Matters for consideration 
include current/ previous use, the potential for 
future use (existing & alternative), any 
constraints to development, any enabling 
works which could be undertaken, 
encroachments apparent and neighbourhood 
context. Officers will make an assessment of 

what intervention may be needed now to 
prevent the asset falling into further disrepair. 
This information will be recorded on the 
database. Information previously collected on 
this case particularly around previous 
engagement with owners will be a good 
indicator of potential next steps  

 

Step 2: Identification of potential Quick Wins – Signposting and 
Advisory 

This step is very much a take stock and time to 
reflect including approaching owners to 
establish the extent of likely engagement. Here 
officers can signpost owners and investors, 
enabling access to planners, building control, 

land use, tree, business grant and other 
specialists, in addition where appropriate to 
those with heritage expertise as well as 
potential alternative investors/ developers 
active in the locality 

Step 3: Prioritisation of investment in sites with clear development 
opportunities.                                                

Officers will seek to identify through a 
systematic site assessment process where they 
may seek to intervene.  The level of 
intervention necessary will be assessed on a 
site-by-site basis. The Council may for example 
have its own assets in close proximity or it may 
have a specific requirement to be met for 
example to deliver a range of housing options 
in a specific area or sees opportunities to 

create open space for example through 
initiatives like land swap. This work may enable 
the sites to be sold on, a development 
constraint unblocked or a proposition to be 
recommended to Council for greater 
intervention. This could include the option to 
begin a process for acquisition by utilising 
compulsory purchase powers or other powers 
that may be open to the Council at that point. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 172



 

17 
 

Our Commitment 

We Will: Engage proactively with 
landowners of derelict and untidy sites 
where they are prepared to positively 
engage. 

We Will: Provide advice and guidance to 
landowners relating to derelict and untidy 
sites. 

We Will: Use our own resource and powers 
available to us to seek to address untidiness 
and dereliction including powers to enter onto 
sites and carry out works and acquire assets. 

We Will :  put in place systems and resource to  
maintain up  to date records relating to  
derelict and untidy sites. 

We Will : seek to recover all costs and 
expenditure that we incur that we are 
permitted by legislation to do in addressing 
matters of dereliction and untidiness 

We Will : maintain systems to make it easy for 
our residents to report incidences of 
dereliction and untidiness. 

We Will : in doing one or more of the above act 
proportionate to the issues that the Council 
and our residents are facing as a consequence 
of sites that fall to be covered by this policy 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 173



 

18 
 

Appendix 1 - Process for Dealing with Sites Notified to us As Derelict 
and Untidy 

A) Report received about a commercial derelict/disused building or a piece of 
disused/derelict land 

1. Details of report are entered onto database (E-CINs) 

If the property is already on database, details to be added to existing case.   

If property not on database – a case needs to be created with the following key details if 
known. 

a) Details of person that has made the report (complainant/customer) 

b) Building/Land name and address 

c) Pinpoint location on map 

d) Owner’s details and contact details to include address, telephone numbers and email 

2. Allocate most appropriate case lead. Where reports have been received into one department, 
that department will be the case lead. If several departments are involved, a discussion will 
need to take place to determine who the most appropriate case lead should be. 

B) Contact with complainant: 

1. Confirm contact details with complainant.  
a) Additional details to be taken.  
b) Factual Information:  

▪ What have they seen? 
▪ Types of behaviour or condition of building? Is it a dangerous structure? 
▪ Times and dates if possible or information around whether a problem in the 

evenings, morning etc  
▪ Any individuals identified or descriptions 

c) Impact information: 
▪ Note how this has made them feel, unsafe? etc 
▪ Have they had to change their usual routine to avoid the area? 
▪ Concerns for anyone’s safety? 
▪ Do they live near the building – are they likely to have ongoing complaints or have 

they simply visited the area? (Useful to know when considering enforcement 
action and using them as a witness) 

d) Ensure all details are logged on the case. 

C) Contact with owner: 

1. Contact to be made with owner within 5 working days of receiving report.  
2. If owner is not known, details can be found through: 

a) Land Registry Search 
b) Business Rates – email requesting the details of the owner along with the reason for the 

request to be sent to business.rates@pspsl.co.uk   

Page 174



 

19 
 

3. Contact to be made with the owner as soon as the Council are made aware that a commercial 
property is empty to ensure that the owner understands their legal responsibilities under the 
Occupiers Liability Act 1984, http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1984/3 to prevent problems 
arising. This does not necessarily need to be related to a complaint but forms part of early 
intervention/prevention.  

4. Contact also needs to detail the reports that have been received and what the council are 
requesting them to do with agreed timescales.  

5. Any contact made verbally with the owner must be followed up with a letter. 
6. Contact needs to remain with both complainant and owner until the matter is either resolved or 

no further action can be taken (for example, if there is insufficient evidence, not in the public 
interest – please see enforcement policy for further guidance). 

7. Any action taken or decision to not act must be documented on the case with reasons for this. 

D) Agency notification 

1. The following agencies need to be notified of the commercial derelict/disused building or a piece 
of disused/derelict land through E-CIN’s. This should be carried out when first notified or if 
additional complaints are received.  

a) Community Fire Safety Team - Lincolnshire (Lincolnshire) 
b) South Holland Police Team (Lincolnshire) 

E) Repeat reports: 

1. Where reports are consistently being received over a prolonged period of time about one location 
the Assets team’s involvement will be ramped up and the 3 step process followed 

2. The Delivery Unit will look at possibilities for acquisition as well providing general advice around 
next steps.  

3. Referral to be made via database – sending a task to lead officer within Assets (Strategic & 
Operational Property Manager) 

F) Enforcement: 

1. Where either the Council receives repeated reports or where the owners are not complying with 
requests made, consideration must be given to enforcement. The Enforcement Toolkit is detailed 
in Appendix 2. 

G) Member notifications 

1. If a Member is a complainant, they should be kept updated throughout the process. Ward 
Members that are not a complainant will be notified if there are ongoing complaints in relation to 
a site and there is an impact on their local community. 

H) Case resolution 

1. In cases where works have been carried out or no further action is required the case should be 
closed on the system and all relevant parties notified.  

 

Page 175



 

20 
 

Appendix 2 Enforcement Toolkit 

Legislation Section (with link) Lead Team Action Additional notes 

Anti-Social 
Behaviour, 
Crime and 
Policing Act 
2014 

  

Section 43 

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/12/section/43 

  

Community 
Safety and 
Enforcement  

  

Community Protection 
Notices can be issued by 
local authorities to 
require the owner to 
carry out works to a 
building or site 

 The following criteria must 
be met (and evidenced); 

(a) the conduct of the 
individual or body is 
having a detrimental 
effect, of a persistent or 
continuing nature, on 
the quality of life of 
those in the locality, and 
 

(b) the conduct is                
unreasonable. 

P
age 176

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/12/section/43


 

21 
 

 

Legislation Section (with link) Lead Team Action Additional notes 

Anti-Social 
Behaviour, 
Crime and 
Policing Act 
2014 

  

Section 47  

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/12/section/47 

  

Community 
Safety and 
Enforcement 

Where the owner issued 
with the Community 
Protection Notice fails to 
comply with its 
requirements the local 
authority can respond in 
three ways: 
Take remedial action 
under section 47 (2) 
where land is open to air 
or section 47 (3) for 
premises not open to air. 
To issue a fixed penalty 
notice for breach of a 
Notice 
Prosecute for breach of 
Notice.  The Magistrates 
Court has the power to 
make an order to force 
works to be carried out. 

The response will be on a 
case by case basis 
determined by risk to the 
community.  

P
age 177

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/12/section/47


 

22 
 

 

Legislation Section (with link) Lead Team Action Additional notes 

Building Act 
1984 

  

 

Section 77 

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1984/55/section/77 

 

Building Control Where a building is a 
danger from elements 
of the building having 
the potential to cause 
harm, an application to 
the magistrate’s court 
can be made to request 
the structure is made 
safe. 

This is not the same as a 
person gaining access to 
a building and being 
harmed. Costs can be 
recovered but may need 
to be approved by 
magistrate’s court. 

 

Legislation Section (with link) Lead Team Action Additional notes 

Building Act 
1984 

 

Section 78 

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1984/55/section/78 

 

Building Control Where a building is 
thought to be an 
immediate danger from 
elements of the building 
having the potential to 
cause harm (not gaining 
access to a building and 
being harmed), action 
can be taken by the 
local authority to 
remove the danger. 

 

This is not the same as a 
person gaining access to 
a building and being 
harmed. If practicable 
we should give the 
owner notice of our 
intention. Costs can be 
recovered but may need 
to be approved by 
magistrate’s court and 
evidence is required that 
Section 77 could not 
have been used. 

 

P
age 178

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1984/55/section/77
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1984/55/section/78


 

23 
 

Legislation Section (with link) Lead Team Action Additional notes 

Town and 
Country 
Planning Act 
1990 

 

Section 215 

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/8/section/215 

 

Planning 
Enforcement 

 

Where it appears to the 
Council that the amenity 
of any part of their area 
is being adversely 
affected by the 
condition of land 
(including buildings), it is 
able to serve a notice on 
the owner to take 
specified steps to 
remedy the situation 
within a given time 
period.   

 

P
age 179

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/8/section/215


 

24 
 

 

 

 

Legislation Section (with link) Lead Team Action Additional notes 

Planning 
(Listed 
Buildings and 
Conservation 
Areas) Act 
1990 

 

Section 54 

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/9/section/54 

 

Planning 
Enforcement (in 
conjunction 
with the 
Conservation 
Officer) 

 

Allows the Council to 
take action where a 
Listed Building has 
deteriorated to the 
extent where its 
preservation may be at 
risk.  This can include a 
Repairs Notice requiring 
the owner to undertake 
repairs, where the 
building is currently, 
wholly or partially 
occupied, or an Urgent 
Works Notice which 
requires the owner to 
undertake repairs to a 
property which is 
unoccupied and in a 
poor condition, which it 
considers is urgently 
necessary. 

 

P
age 180

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/9/section/54


 

25 
 

Legislation Section (with link) Lead Team Action Additional notes 

Local 
Government 
(Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 
1982 

 

 

Section 29 

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1982/30/section/29 

 

Housing The local authority may 
undertake works in 
connection with the 
building for the purpose 
of preventing 
unauthorised entry to 
it, or, as the case may 
be, for the purpose of 
preventing it becoming 
a danger to public 
health 

 

Before starting any 
works a local authority 
shall serve a notice that 
they propose to 
undertake works in 
connection with the 
building on each owner 
or occupier of the 
building. A local 
authority need not give 
any such notice where 
they consider that it is 
necessary to undertake 
works immediately in 
order to secure the 
building against 
unauthorised entry or to 
prevent it from 
becoming a danger to 
public health; or that it 
is not reasonably 
practicable to ascertain 
the name and address of 
an owner or to trace the 
whereabouts of an 
occupier who is absent 
from the building. 

P
age 181

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1982/30/section/29


 

26 
 

 

Legislation Section (with link) Lead Team Action Additional notes 

Prevention of 
Damage by 
Pests Act 1949. 

 

Section 4  

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/Geo6/12-13-
14/55/section/4 

 

Environmental 
Protection 

Allows the Local 
Authority to serve a 
notice on the 
owner/occupier to take 
the necessary steps for 
the destruction of rats 
and mice on their land 
or otherwise for keeping 
their land free from rats 
and mice, (including 
structural repairs or 
other specified works). 

 

Failure to comply with 
the Notice – The local 
authority can carry out 
works in default of the 
Notice and recover 
reasonable costs 
incurred. Non-
compliance is also an 
offence and liable on 
summary conviction to a 
fine not exceeding level 3 
on the standard scale.  

 

P
age 182

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/Geo6/12-13-14/55/section/4
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/Geo6/12-13-14/55/section/4


 

 

 

 

REPORT TO: Policy Development Panel 

DATE: 12 July 2022 

SUBJECT: 

PURPOSE:  

Policy Development Panel Work Programme 

To set out the Work Programme of the Policy Development Panel 

KEY DECISION: N/A 

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: Portfolio Holder Corporate and Communications 

REPORT OF: 

 

REPORT AUTHOR: 

John Medler - Interim Assistant Director Governance (Monitoring 

Officer)    

Andrea Tait - Democratic Services Officer 

WARD(S) AFFECTED: N/A 

EXEMPT REPORT? No  

 

SUMMARY 

This report sets out the Work Programme of the Policy Development Panel and allows the Panel 

to monitor its progress; and identify any additional items to be added to the Programme. 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

That the Panel gives consideration to the content of this report and identifies any issues for 

discussion. 

 

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 

To allow Members to feed into the Panel’s calendar of Work Programme items and the Work 

Programme on a regular basis, to ensure that they stay relevant and up to date. 

 

OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

Do nothing 

 

 Page 183

Agenda Item 14.



1.  BACKGROUND 

1.1 This report records the issues for consideration that have been identified by the Panel for 

inclusion on its Work Programme.   

2. REPORT 

2.1 Appendix A sets out the dates of future Panel meetings along with proposed items for 
 consideration. These items were either originally suggested by councillors or are being 
 referred to the Panel from officers or the Cabinet.  The appendix will be updated as new 
 items are identified. 
 
2.2 Appendix B sets out the task groups that have been identified by the Panel.  The table 
 shows: 
 

• The name of the task group 

• What it wants to achieve 

• Key dates 

• Membership of the task group 

• When the task group will be reporting back to the Panel 
 
3. CONCLUSION 
 
3.1 In presenting the information to the Panel, and by having the report as a standing item on 

the agenda, it will record the issues identified by the Panel and provide the opportunity for 
councillors to monitor the progress of its Work Programme  

 
4. EXPECTED BENEFITS TO THE PARTNERSHIP 

4.1 The calendar of Work Programme items and the Work Programme will provide Panel 
Members with up to date and relevant information.  Timelines for various calendar items 
and proposed task groups within the Work Programme are included within the appendices.  
The Panel will scrutinise policies that cover all three councils within the partnership, in 
addition to those that apply only to SHDC. 

 
5. IMPLICATIONS 

5.1 SOUTH AND EAST LINCOLNSHIRE COUNCIL’S PARTNERSHIP 

5.1.1 None 

5.2 CORPORATE PRIORITIES 

5.2.1 In identifying issues for inclusion on the Work Programme, Members consider the 

suitability of the subject, taking into account considerations such as whether the issue is 

strategic and significant and whether it is likely to lead to effective outcomes.   

5.3 STAFFING 

5.3.1 None 

5.4 CONSTITUTIONAL AND LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

5.4.1 None 

5.5 DATA PROTECTION Page 184



5.5.1 None 

5.6 FINANCIAL 

5.6.1 None 
 
5.7 RISK MANAGEMENT 

5.7.1 None 

5.8 STAKEHOLDER / CONSULTATION / TIMESCALES 

5.8.1 None 

5.9 REPUTATION 

5.9.1 None 

5.10 CONTRACTS 

5.10.1 None 

5.11 CRIME AND DISORDER 

5.11.1 None 

5.12 EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY/ HUMAN RIGHTS/ SAFEGUARDING 

5.12.1 None 

5.13 HEALTH AND WELL BEING 

5.13.1 None 

5.14  CLIMATE CHANGE AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 

5.14.1 None 

6. ACRONYMS 

6.1  None 

APPENDICES 

Appendices are listed below and attached to the back of the report: - 

APPENDIX A Work Programme Calendar 2022/23 

APPENDIX B Task Group Work Programme 2022/23 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

No background papers as defined in Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 were used 

in the production of this report 

 

CHRONOLOGICAL HISTORY OF THIS REPORT 

A report on this item has not been previously considered by a Council body Page 185



 

REPORT APPROVAL  

Report author: Andrea Tait, Democratic Services Officer, 

atait@sholland.gov.uk  

Signed off by: John Medler, Assistant Director – Governance and 

Monitoring Officer john.medler@e-lindsey.gov.uk  

Approved for publication: N/A 

 

 

Page 186

mailto:atait@sholland.gov.uk
mailto:john.medler@e-lindsey.gov.uk


APPENDIX A 
 

SHDC POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL   

 CALENDAR OF WORK PROGRAMME ITEMS 2022/23 
 

 

 
Date of Meeting 
  

 
                                    Agenda items 

 
12 July 2022 

 

• SHDC Policy Register & S&ELCP Policy Register Corey Gooch 
 

• Debt Management Policy Sharon Hammond 
 

• Sustainable Products Policy Sarah Baker 
 

• Untidy Sites Policy Document Handbook Richard Hodgson 
 

• HR Policies (Batch 2) James Gilbert 
 

 
4 Oct 2022 
 
 

 

• Draft S&ELCP Asset Management Strategy Policy Andy Fisher/ 
Marc Whelan  

 

• Graffiti and Street Art Management Policy Phil Perry  
 

• HR Policies (Batch 3) James Gilbert 
 

• ICT/Digital Strategy James Gilbert 
 

 
13 Dec 2022 

 

• HR Policies (Batch 4) James Gilbert 
 

 
26 Jan 2023 

 

• Joint PMP/PDP Budget Scrutiny 
 

 
28 Feb 2023 
 

 

 
pending 

 

• Planning Design Guide Update Phil Norman 
 

• Consideration of the FOI Policy. Review due Jan 2022, deferred to 
March 2022. Agreement of Chairman to defer up to 12 months due 
to policy review and alignment with the partnership. John Medler 

 

• Unreasonable Behaviour and Vexatious Policy. Review due Jan 
2022, deferred to March 2022. Agreement of Chairman to defer up 
to 12 months due to policy review and alignment with the 
partnership. John Medler 

 

• Planning Reform (if any information to report, update to be 
provided by the Planning and Building Control Manager) Phil 
Norman 

 

• Lincolnshire Discretionary Housing Assistance Policy deferred until 
further notice Stuart Horton 

 

• Safeguarding update (June 2023)  Emily Holmes 
 

 

Page 187



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX B 

POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL – WORK PROGRAMME 2022/2023 

 

Name of Task Group What the Task Group wants to 
achieve 

Date added to 
Work Programme 

Date Work 
Commenced     

Membership of 
Task Group 

Proposed date to 
report back to Panel 

South Holland Centre 
Task Group 

To review the historic operation of the 
SHC, examine the proposals, consider 
other activities, uses and operation 
that may be possible to help inform 
the task group in making 
recommendations to enable the 
Centre to serve the public and ensure 
a viable future. 
 

8 September 2021 28 September 2021 B Alcock (Chair) 
F Biggadike 
P Redgate 
S Walsh 
D Wilkinson 
A Woolf 
A Newton (Co-
Optee) 

The final report was 
presented to a Joint 
PMP/PDP meeting 
on 4 May 2022; and 
all recommendations 
approved at Cabinet 
on 7 June 2022. 

Street Art Wall Task 
Group 

Scope to be agreed at first meeting 
(20 January 2022) 

14 December 2021 20 January 2022 HJW Bingham 
R A Gibson 
J D McLean 
P A Redgate 
GTD Rudkin 

The final report was 
presented to the 
Panel on 23 March 
2022; approved at 
Cabinet on 26 April 
2022; and noted at 
Full Council on 11 May 
2022. To be reviewed 
by PDP 4 Oct 2022. 

Community 
Infrastructure Levy 
(CIL) Task Group 

Scope to be agreed at first meeting of 
the Task Group.   
Task Group to consider the facts on 
the CIL, and findings to be fed into 
Supplementary Planning Document 
(SPD) 
 
 

24 September 2019 
Reconsidered 
21/1/20 

To run at same 
time as Planning 
Design Task Group-
findings to be fed 
into SPD. 
Update (15/9/20)-
work to commence 
early 2021, once 

J Avery 
H Drury 
J D McLean  
A R Woolf 

 

P
age 189



 
 

direction has been 
clarified with 
regard to  
Government White 
Paper on Planning 
Reform 
 
 

 

 

 

 

PENDING TASK GROUPS 

Name of Task Group What the Task Group wants to 
achieve 

Date added to 
Work Programme 

Date Work 
Commenced     

Membership of 
Task Group 

Proposed date to 
report back to Panel 

Devolution Task Group Executive Manager Governance to set 
Terms of Reference once White Paper 
published 

23 June 2020 TBC TBC  

Data Protection/Data 
Retention Task Group 

To consider the implications of 
forthcoming changes to the Data 
Protection Policy as follows: 

• To develop the new policy in light 
of issues raised in the gap analysis 
and legislative changes and that a 
more detailed suggested scope 
would be circulated prior to the 
first Task Group meeting. 

 

3 October 2017 11 December 2017 H Drury 
M D McLean 
A R Woolf 
(Chairman) 
A Harrison  

To PDP 1 May 2018  
To Cabinet 29 May 
2018 

Planning Design To consider the draft Supplementary 
Planning Design document and how 

25 June 2019 28 January 2020 
 

J Astill (Chair) 
J L King 

Final Report to PDP 23 
June 2020. 

P
age 190



design issues raised (including those 
arising from the Performance 
Monitoring Panel’s Review of 
Implemented Planning Decisions tour) 
could be addressed within the 
document; and 
That the Task Group’s 
recommendations be incorporated 
into the draft Supplementary Planning 
Document, to be considered by the 
Policy Development Panel, with final 
agreement by the South East 
Lincolnshire Joint Strategic Planning 
Committee 
Scope agreed at first Task Group 
meeting 28 January 2020 
 

P A Redgate 
J L Reynolds  
S C Walsh 

Further work to be 
undertaken, with 
updated final report 
to a future meeting, 
early 2021, once 
direction has been 
clarified with regard 
to the Government 
White Paper on 
Planning Reform.  
UPDATE May 2022: 
Design Guidelines are 
being prepared by 
officers to 
supplement the Local 
Plan and members 
will be updated in due 
course. 

 

P
age 191



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2.a) Joint Performance Monitoring Panel and Policy Development Panel
	2.b) Policy Development Panel
	3. Actions
	8. Key Decision Plan
	9. SHDC Policy Register and the S&ELCP Policy Register
	SHDC Policy Register
	Partnership Policy Register - SHDC
	Partnership Policy Register


	10. Review of HR Policies (Batch 2)
	APPENDIX A - Managing Sick Absence Policy June 22 FINAL
	APPENDIX B - Code of Conduct SELCP June 22 FINAL
	APPENDIX C - Probation Policy June 22 FINAL
	APPENDIX D - Flexible Working Policy June 22 FINAL

	11. Debt Management Policy
	Appendix 1 for Debt Management Policy

	12. Sustainable Products Policy
	Sustainable Products Policy

	13. SHDC Draft Derelict and Untidy Sites Policy
	Appendix

	14. Policy Development Panel Work Programme
	Appendix A
	Appendix B


